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Resolute Mining 
Continuing to build  
shaReholdeR value

Resolute is building shaReholdeR value  

thRough its stRength as a successful developeR  

and opeRatoR of quality gold pRojects.  

its pRojects to date have yielded oveR 4.5 million 

ounces (140 tonnes) of gold. the company is 

actively pRogRessing its poRtfolio of pRojects 

to fuRtheR enhance shaReholdeR value. 
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highlights
a yeaR of
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Operations
Yielded in excess of 250,000 ounces of 
gold at a cash cost of a$634/ounce.

Mt Wright underground deposit at 
Ravenswood decline development well 
advanced and ore production commenced.

Financial
achieved an operating Profit 
after tax of a$170.2m.

Repaid finance facilities totalling 
a$26.6m leaving a balance of a$7.7m.

Corporate
Continued restructure and 
amortisation of hedge book .

sale of uranium and other investments 
yields close to a$200m.

Development
Re-development of the syama 
project in Mali underway.

Pit re-optimisation and mine 
life extension at golden Pride 
project in tanzania.

Exploration
Completed secondary earning 
phase of the Finkolo joint venture 
in Mali bringing interest to 60%. 

exploration activity expanded in 
tanzania through a series of new joint 
ventures and license applications 
that provide access to almost the 
entire nzega greenstone belt 
surrounding the golden Pride Mine.

drilling at Quartz vein hill 
near syama encouraging.

2007
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it has been a significant year for the 
company. We are in the midst of a 
major investment programme that is 
aimed at unlocking the value of our 
substantial underlying gold inventory. 

over the last year, we have spent 
around $80 million of a forecast 
total of around $215 million. When 
complete, this will have opened up 
for production ounces representing 
over half of our current resource 
base and lifted our gold production to 
around 500,000 ounces per annum. 

We should soon see the benefits of the 
early expenditure with the commencement 
of production from the Mt Wright 
underground mine at Ravenswood. the 
major part of the expenditure occurs over 
the next year at syama and the benefits of 
this will not emerge until later next year 
when production from the sulphide circuit 
is expected. 

gold production for the year was 255,942 
ounces at a cash cost of $634 per ounce.

our activities delivered a record 
profit after tax of $170.2 million. 
this can all be attributed to the 
sale of our uranium interests. 

it has been a difficult year in the gold 
sector with the gold price flat and 
operating costs increasing as a result 
of boom conditions in other sectors 
of the resource industry. in addition 
we faced mining and plant challenges 
at both sites. these have now been 
resolved and we look forward to a 
better result in the year ahead.

as in previous years the board elected not 
to pay a dividend, but rather to preserve 
cash for our growth opportunities. 

the syama re-development will 
deliver a long term production asset 
to the Company. the construction of 
the project is well advanced. despite 

oveR the last yeaR, we have spent aRound $80 

million of a foRecast total of aRound $215 

million. when complete, this will have opened 

up foR pRoduction ounces RepResenting 

oveR half of ouR cuRRent ResouRce base. 

Review
chief executive’s

01
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some changes in scope and capital 
cost increases since we committed 
to the project, we are still on track for 
commencement of production next year.

the open pit reserve is the basis for 
the syama re-development, however, 
it really is only the beginning for what 
is potentially exploitable. there is a 
considerable underground resource 
ready to be evaluated. in addition our 
successful drilling to the north of the 
pit in the Quartz vein hill area shows 
the potential for free milling material to 
supplement the sulphide ore is high. 

the development of the Mt Wright 
underground ore body at Ravenswood 
commenced in July 06. surface 
infrastructure is nearly complete, 
the decline is well advanced and ore 
production from the upper stopes has 
now commenced. this mine is now 
integrated into the Ravenswood operation 
and Mt Wright ore is being blended with 
the sarsfield open pit ore for feeding 
to the nolan’s treatment plant. With 
about 18 months of production left in 
the sarsfield pit, we are going to see a 
transition in this operation from a large 
scale, low grade, and high cost open pit 
to a smaller scale, higher grade, and 
lower cost underground operation.

at golden Pride higher costs caused us 
to revise our planned expansion. this 
saw us adopt a less capital intensive 
pit design. Mining of the cutback for 
this revised pit commenced earlier 
this year. the extra mine life and the 
tenure consolidation we are achieving 
around golden Pride now gives plenty of 
scope for further resource discovery. 

exploration expenditure for this year has 
been reduced as we seek to conserve 
funds for the development programme. 
We are however continuing activities in 
the areas around each of our key sites. 
gold assets have become very expensive 
to acquire and the earn in spends we have 
made over the last few years at nyakafuru 
and Finkolo, in particular, have provided 
low cost additions to our gold base.

over the next 12 months we deliver 
into a significant part of our hedge 
book which will see it reduced from 
it’s current low level to an insignificant 
level.there is no intention to increase 
our hedge position at this stage.

We are currently completing the funding 
for our development programme. the 
rights issue is an integral part of this. 
With a relatively ungeared balance 
sheet, we will look to debt to provide 
the balance of the funds required. 

the next year will be a very intensive  
and important time as we move forward 
to release the value in our extensive  
gold assets.

We have a very capable and experienced 
management team who have worked 
very hard to advance all aspects of our 
business. With the continued support 
of our shareholders and other groups 
we look forward to delivering on the 
opportunities we have in the year ahead.

Peter Sullivan 
Chief executive officer

the next yeaR will be a veRy intensive and 

impoRtant time as we move foRwaRd to Release 

the value in ouR extensive gold assets.
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ReseRves and ResouRCes stateMent
as at 30 June 2007

gold Reserves and Resources 
(includes stockpiles)

Project gold grade Project  
Contained 

Resolute group 
share 

Resolute group 
share 

tonnes g/t ounces % ounces

ReseRves

Reserves ( Proved) 

golden Pride (insitu) 6,800,000 2.2 481,000 100% 481,000

golden Pride (stockpiled) 100,000 2.1 7,000 100% 7,000

Ravenswood (insitu) 7,700,000 1.2 297,000 100% 297,000

Ravenswood (stockpiled) 200,000 1.2 8,000 100% 8,000

syama (insitu) 9,300,000 3.7 1,106,000 80% 884,800

Total Proved 24,100,000 2.5 1,899,000 1,677,800

Reserves (Probable)

golden Pride (insitu) 1,300,000 2.0 84,000 100% 84,000

golden Pride (stockpiled) 4,900,000 0.7 115,000 100% 115,000

Ravenswood (insitu) 500,000 1.2 19,000 100% 19,000

Ravenswood (stockpiled) 3,100,000 0.9 90,000 100% 90,000

syama (insitu) 5,500,000 3.5 619,000 80% 495,200

syama (stockpiled) 4,200,000 1.7 230,000 80% 184,000

Total (Probable) 19,500,000 1.8 1,157,000 987,200

Total Reserves 43,600,000 2.2 3,056,000 2,665,000

ResouRCes
Resources (Measured) 

golden Pride 9,000,000 1.4 405,000 100% 405,000

Ravenswood 10,500,000 1.2 405,000 100% 405,000

syama 11,300,000 2.9 1,054,000 80% 843,200

Total (Measured) 30,800,000 1.9 1,864,000 1,653,200

Resources (indicated)

golden Pride (includes stockpiles) 5,600,000 1.0 180,000 100% 180,000

nyakafuru Jv 7,700,000 2.2 545,000 66% 359,700

Ravenswood 12,200,000 1.9 745,000 100% 745,000

syama (includes stockpiles) 22,700,000 2.6 1,898,000 80% 1,518,400

etruscan Jv 5,000,000 2.5 402,000 60% 241,200

Total (Indicated) 53,200,000 2.2 3,770,000 3,044,300

Resources (inferred)

golden Pride 10,800,000 1.5 521,000 100% 521,000

nyakafuru Jv 11,700,000 1.4 527,000 53% 279,310

Ravenswood 9,800,000 2.4 756,000 100% 756,000

syama 5,800,000 2.6 485,000 80% 388,000

etruscan Jv 1,400,000 1.9 86,000 60% 51,600

akoase 13,300,000 1.2 513,000 90% 461,700

Total (Inferred) 52,800,000 1.7 2,888,000 2,457,610

Total Resources* 136,800,000 1.9 8,522,000 7,155,110

(*Reserves are separate to and not included within Resources)

the information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources and ore Reserves is based on information compiled by Mr dt Cairns, an 
employee of Mitico Pty ltd, and Mr th brown, a full time employee of the company, who are members of the australian institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy. Mr dt Cairns and Mr th brown have sufficient experience which is relevant to the styles of mineralisation and type of deposits 
under consideration and to the activity which they are undertaking to qualify as Competent Persons as identified in the december 2004 
edition of the “australasian Code for Reporting of exploration Results, Mineral Resources and ore Reserves”. Mr dt Cairns and Mr th brown 
have consented to the inclusion of the matters in this report based on their information in the form and context in which it appears.
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gRouP PRoduCtion suMMaRY

ore Mined ore Milled head grade Recovery  Mine  
Production  

Cash Cost  Cash Cost  

tonnes tonnes g/t % ounces a$/oz us$/oz

golden Pride 2,452,664 2,512,452 1.94 89 138,421 510 403

Ravenswood 5,044,734 4,627,123 1.00 79 117,521 781 617

TOTAL 7,497,398 7,139,575 1.33 84 255,942 634 501

gRouP PRoJeCt suMMaRY

Country Project area Commodity location 

km2

tanzania

golden Pride 350 gold africa

nyakafuru Jv 500 gold africa

Kahama Jv 350 gold africa

Canuck Jv 400 gold africa

bulanga 430 gold africa

igunga 570 gold africa

Matinje 460 gold africa

other tenure 210 gold africa

3,270

ghana

akoase 106 gold africa

Weststar/blue River 111 gold africa

nchiadi 80 gold africa

297

Mali

syama 200 gold africa

Finkolo 160 gold africa

n’gokoli 260 gold africa

620

Sub Total Africa 4,187

australia

Ravenswood 1,368 gold Queensland

bullabulling 3 gold Western australia

Sub Total Australia 1,371

Total Resolute Tenure 5,558
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Resolute’s established opeRations pRoduced 

a total of 255,942 ounces of gold at an 

aveRage cash cost of a$634 peR ounce. 

in the coming financial yeaR, Resolute’s 

mines at golden pRide in tanzania, 

Ravenswood in queensland and the newly 

Re-developed syama in mali aRe togetheR 

foRecast to pRoduce appRoximately 

330,000 ounces of gold at an aveRage 

cash cost of aRound a$560 peR ounce.

02

golden PRide

the golden Pride mine is located in 
tanzania, east africa, 750km north-
west of the port of dar es salaam 
and 200km south of lake victoria.

Resolute has a 100% interest in the 
project through its tanzanian subsidiary, 
Resolute (tanzania) limited.

Operations

during the 2007 financial year the 
operation produced 138,421 (2006: 
145,043) ounces of gold at a cash cost 
of us$403 (2006: us$312) per ounce.

Plant throughput decreased to 2.51 
(2006: 3.03) million tonnes at an average 
head grade of 1.94 g/t (2006: 1.59 g/t) 
and a recovery rate of 89% (2006: 94%)

gold production was adversely affected 
by throughput and recoveries. the main 
contributors were the poor delivery of 
ore from the open pit and the slow leach 
nature of the fresh ore. Cost per ounce 
has increased largely due to higher wear 
components in the crushing and grinding 
circuit and general increase in the cost 
of mining consumables and labour.

oveRview
opeRations
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the open pit mined 3.5 million cubic 
metres at a strip ratio of 2.9:1 with the 
majority of the waste mined from the 
central cutback which commenced mid 
year. this cutback exposed ore from 
the bottom central pit area towards 
the end of the financial year. all the 
ore for the year has been mined from 
the western pit area at depth. this 
competent ore had an adverse affect 
on equipment availability in the mining 
fleet and thus production rates. higher 
grades in line with expectations have 
been mined from the western pit area 
in the later quarters of the year.

the treatment plant throughput has 
been affected by the mining schedule 
and reduced blending options due 
to poor mechanical availability 
of the loading equipment.

the golden Pride mine has now 
produced around 1.4 million ounces of 
gold since commissioning in 1998.

Outlook

an amicable termination with the existing 
mining contractor has been negotiated 
and a new mining contractor commenced 
mining operations from 1 July 2007. 
the transition has been seamless with 
the new contractor taking over the 
existing equipment and workforce. new 
replacement mining equipment arrived 
on site during the september 2007 
quarter. Furthermore, the installation of 
two new pre-leach tanks is anticipated 
to be completed in september 2007. this 
will lift overall plant recoveries. Mining 
has commenced on the re-optimised 
pit design. higher grade ore in the first 
three quarters of the coming financial 
year is expected to lift the average grade 
of ore to be processed. towards the 
end of the year access to higher grade 
ore will be limited and the head grade 
is predicted to reduce significantly as 
the majority of the mill feed will be 
sourced from low grade stockpiles.

9

golden PRide - oRe ReseRves 
as at 30 June 2007

Category tonnes grade ounces

Proved 6,900,000 2.2 488,000

Probable 6,200,000 1.0 199,000

total 13,100,000 1.6 687,000

RavensWood
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 RavensWood

the Ravenswood gold mine is 
located approximately 95km south-
west of townsville and 65km east 
of Charters towers in north-east 
Queensland. Resolute has a 100% 
interest in the mine through its 
subsidiary Carpentaria gold Pty ltd.

the majority of ore for the Ravenswood 
operations was sourced from the 
sarsfield open pit and the low-grade 
screening plant with a minor contribution 
from the Mt Wright underground 
project. the ore is treated using 
conventional three stage crushing, 
ball-milling and carbon-in-pulp (CiP) 
processing at the rate of 5Mtpa.

Operations

during the 2007 financial year the 
operation produced 117,521 (2006: 
145,706) ounces of gold at a cash cost 
of a$781 (2006: a$617) per ounce.

the year was disappointing from both a 
gold production and cost point of view.  
a combination of factors contributed to 
this disappointing performance including:

lower than expected head grade from 
the area 5 zone of the sarsfield open pit. 

a significant number of power failures 
during the second quarter combined 
with poor agitation of the CiP tanks 
resulted in CiP tanks sanding up which 
significantly reduced throughput. 

lower than expected recoveries due 
to poor agitation of the CiP tanks.

a two week processing plant shutdown 
occurred during June to upgrade the 
CiP tank agitators and carry out other 
modifications designed to improve 
plant performance. this major 
shutdown had a significant effect on 
throughput for the final quarter. 

sarsfield open cut activities 
predominately focused on mining of  
the area 5 zone at the south of the pit.  
total material movement from the 
open cut was approximately 4.2 million 
cubic metres. the area 5, which 
delivered below expectation grade, 
was almost complete by June 2007.

a resource drilling programme focusing 
on below pit resources was completed. 
Pit designs will remain largely unchanged 
as any additional resources identified 
below the pit are likely to be treated 
as potential underground targets.

Waste dumping into the adjacent 
nolan’s void continued throughout 
the year, with in-pit tailings disposal 
into this void commencing in the 
first quarter of the 2007-8 financial 
year. the waste dump will form an 
engineered wall to prevent the ingress 
of tailings into the main sarsfield pit.

the Mt Wright underground project, 
located 11 kms from the Ravenswood 
treatment plant, developed on schedule 
with 3,126m of decline development and 
67,731 tonnes of ore mined. Production 
from the first underground stope 
commenced in June 2007, however 
development ore was blended at low 
ratios into the sarsfield ore stream 
from March 2007. Resource drilling 
from the decline has to date confirmed 
the upper Mt Wright ore resource, with 
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RavensWood - Mt WRight MineRal ResouRCe  
estiMate at 2.0g/t Cut-oFF 

Category tonnes grade ounces

indicated 4,200,000 3.5 482,000

inferred 5,600,000 3.2 572,000

Total 9,800,000 3.4 1,054,000

similar grades at higher than expected 
tonnages. as a result, production tonnage 
targets will be lifted above feasibility 
expectations in the 2007-8 financial year.

For the period the treatment plant 
processed 4.6 (2006: 5.1) million 
tonnes at an average head grade 
of 1.00g/t (2006: 1.06g/t) and a 
recovery rate of 79% (2006: 84%).

overall plant availability was 90.7%  
(2006: 96%) and was largely affected  
by the two week plant shutdown in  
June 2007.

the low-grade screening facility 
has performed well throughout the 
year treating 1.6 million tonnes to 
produce 0.6 million tonnes of product 
at an average grade of 1.11g/t.

the final lift of the existing tailings 
storage facility was commenced in June 
to provide adequate deposition areas 
during the life of the sarsfield pit.

Outlook

a major shutdown was carried out in June 
2007 and a number of changes made to 
improve the future performance of the 
treatment plant. this was successfully 
completed and the plant has ramped up  
to normal throughput rates. sarsfield 
open pit mining is moving to the Keel and 
bell areas with the poorer performing 
area 5 ore now completed. at the  
Mt Wright underground mine decline 
development continues and ore mining 
from the upper stopes is underway. the 
decline is projected to extend to the main 
ore zone by the end of 2008. Mt Wright  
ore is expected to provide approximately 
20% of the Ravenswood gold production 
in the coming year. an improvement in 
Ravenswood gold production and cost per 
ounce is expected due to the rectification 
work undertaken, and the positive impact 
that the introduction of Mt Wright ore  
will have on the average head grade of  
ore to be processed in the coming year.

RavensWood – saRsField oRe ReseRves  
(inCluding stoCKPiles)

as at 30 June 2007

Category tonnes grade ounces

Proved        7,900,000 1.2      305,000 

Probable      3,600,000 0.9       109,000 

Total      11,500,000 1.1    414,000 
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sYaMa

Project Background 

the syama gold Project is located in the 
south of Mali, West africa approximately 
30kms from the Côte d’ivoire border 
and 300km southeast of the capital 
bamako. Resolute has an 80% interest in 
the project through its equity in sociêtê 
des Mines de syama s.a. (soMisY). the 
Malian government holds a 20% interest 
in soMisY, 15% of which is free carried.

the syama gold mine was established by 
bhP ltd in 1990 as an oxide operation and 
in 1994 the decision was made to build a 
primary ore processing facility to treat 
the hard, refractory ore based on “whole 
of ore” roasting. it was operated by bhP 
until 1996 and by Randgold Resources ltd 
from 1996 to 2001. both operators were 
unable to achieve a sustainable operation 
based on “whole of ore” roasting, 
coupled with a low prevailing gold price, 
and Randgold placed the operation 
on care and maintenance in 2001.

Resolute acquired the project in april 
2004 after completing a positive pre-
feasibility study, and completed a 
Feasibility study in april 2005. this 
study shows positive returns based on 
a modified flow sheet that processes 
a sulphide concentrate through the 
roasting circuit. the single pit operation 
currently has a six to seven year mine 
life with potential to increase reserves by 
development of an underground operation 
or by the discovery of new resources.

12

Resolute is well placed to puRsue 

oppoRtunities by using a common sense 

appRoach fiRmly based on adding value foR 

shaReholdeRs. the bRoad appRoach is low 

Risk, cost-effective acquisition of ounces.

03 
oveRview
development



Project Activities 2006-07

the re-development project was initiated 
in June 2006 when Resolute entered 
into an agreement with gRd Minproc 
to provide engineering, procurement 
and construction management services 
(ePCM) for the syama Project. the initial 
phases of the detailed design were 
completed in Perth and procurement, 
final design etc were relocated to 
Johannesburg in september. outotec 
(australasia) Pty ltd, previously 
outokumpu, was selected for the design, 
supply and commissioning of the roaster.

the start to the project was conditional, 
with a budget of us$32 million 
approved, while financing options 
for the project were evaluated. 
negotiations with the state of Mali for 
an amendment to the establishment 
Convention were still in progress. on 
12 december the amendment (no3) 
was signed by his excellency diane 
hamed semega, the Minister of Mines, 
energy and Water and soMisY sa.

in response to the continuing price 
increases for labour, equipment 
and materials being experienced 
by the resources and construction 
sectors an update of the project’s 
capital and operating costs was 
completed in February 2007.

With amendment (no3) signed, the 
updated capital and operating cost 
review and the sale of Resolute’s non 
core uranium assets the board took 

the decision to commit fully to the re-
development of the project in early 2007.

on 1 april the President of Mali, 
amadou toumani touré, officiated 
at a “ground breaking” ceremony for 
the re-development of syama.

Construction Activities

since commencing on site in 
october 2006, construction has 
progressed as follows:

• the old bhP camp, village houses 
and the kitchen and messes having 
been refurbished and re-equipped

• the construction of an 84 man 
security camp has been completed

• a new national mess, close to the 
plant area, is under construction

• demolition of the steel and plate work 
over the primary crusher, removal 
of conveyor systems and secondary 
crusher in preparation for installation 
of refurbished secondary crusher 
and new tertiary & quaternary 
crushers for the 4-stage crushing 
plant. the primary and secondary 
crushers have been refurbished

• Modifications to the cyclone circuit 
and refurbishment of the mills in 
the milling area are in progress

• the existing flotation circuit has been 
dismantled and removed to make way 
for the new sulphide flotation circuit
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• design work for the refurbished 
roaster area is advanced, and all 
equipment has been purchased. 
outotec has recommended, and it 
has been agreed, to replace the shell 
of the roaster. Refractories to reline 
the roaster were allowed for in the 
capital estimate. the installation 
of a new shell within the existing 
structure allows for a better outcome 
for the project as syama will have a 
purpose built design, based on the 
revised flow sheet, processing around 
250,000tpa of sulphide concentrate 
rather than a modified shell design

• the carbon-in-leach (Cil) circuit 
is currently being refurbished 
and is scheduled for completion 
in the first quarter 2008

• the design of the Wet gas so2 gas 
scrubber is close to completion

• the tails dam is being lifted and 
segmented to allow separation 
of the float and Cil tailings

• design of additional pumping stations 
for the bagoë River pipeline is 
advanced and consideration is being 
given to the construction of additional 
water storage at site to improve 
security of supply to the project

the current schedule sees the 
crushing, grinding, and Cil areas 
available for commissioning on 
stockpiled oxide material in early 2008 
with sufficient installed power from 
the high speed generator sets.

the roaster is scheduled for 
commissioning in the second half of 2008.

Updated Operating Cost Estimates

operating costs were re-estimated 
in February 2007 and have increased 
approximately 9% since the last review 
in February 2006 with the comparison 
summarised in table 1 below.

the increase in mining costs is 
higher relative to the other areas 
and reflected unit rates and current 
fuel costs as at February 2007.

Updated Capital Estimates

Following completion of the detailed 
design the Company announced, in 
February 2007, the revised capital 
estimate for the Project of us$118 million 
as summarised in table 2. as a result of 
changes in scope for the project and a 
shift in materials and labour costs there 
was an increase in the overall capital 
of 22% compared with the Feasibility 
study estimates in February 2006. of this 
increase, 65% relates to scope changes 
and 35% relates to cost escalation since 
the estimate completed in February 2006.

the largest area of movement was 
in the electrical cost estimate as a 
result of the need for more cabling 
than previously anticipated. 

Recently the Company has decided to 
commit to an owned and operated power 
station rather than purchase “across 
the fence power”. the power station 
is to have two medium speed engines 
and fourteen high speed engines giving 
the power station an installed capacity 
of 25MW. the cost of this facility is 
now estimated at us$20 million.

Table 2 

Revised CaPital estiMate CoMPaRison 
us$ Millions

area description total 2007 total 2006 % Change

site establishment & 
Construction Costs 3.6 3.1 16.1%

treatment Plant 54.0 45.9 17.6%

infrastructure 
and services 17.5 10.8 62.0%

Mining 5.3 5.6 -5.4%

ePCM 18.5 15.9 16.4%

owners Costs 19.4 15.3 26.8%

Total* $118.3 $96.6 22.5%

* total Capital without power station

Table 1 

CoMPaRison oF oPeRating Costs 
us$ PeR tonne Milled

area description total 2007 total 2006 % Change

Mining 14.36 12.26 17.1%

Processing 17.86 17.09 4.5%

admin 4.11 4.09 0.5%

Total $36.33 $33.44 8.6%
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Updated Project Economics

the various changes outlined above 
were incorporated into a revised 
financial model of the project.

the increases in costs were matched 
by an increase in the gold price 
to show a project with a return 
above the required hurdle rate.

a comparison between the 
economics of the two financial 
models is shown in table 3.

Reserves and Resources

a structural review of the deposit has 
resulted in a change to the interpretation 
of the ore body with it now considered 
one body rather than separate Main 
and Footwall zones. Remodelling with 
tighter search ellipses have given more 
confidence in the grade distribution 
resulting in a change of the mix of 
measured over indicated resources.  
in addition over the past year a number of 
designs have been developed to optimise 
the syama pit design. these have resulted 
in improved access to waste dumps and 
haulage to the RoM pad. these iterations 
have taken into account the revised 
rates from the mining contractor and 
increased fuel and consumable costs. 

these changes have resulted in a proved 
and probable reserve of 14.8 million 
tonnes @ 3.6g/t au for 1.72 million ounces 
within the open pit. the bulk of the 
reserve (>60%) is now proven whereas 
previously it was around 23%. the 
reserves are summarised in table 4.

Table 3 

CoMPaRison oF the  
PRoJeCt eConoMiCs

study version gold Price Capex  op Cost nPv  iRR  Cash Cost  

us$ per oz us$ Millions us$ per tonne Milled  us$ Millions % per oz

Feb-06 $550 $96.6 $33.44 $85.5 25.6% $336

Feb-07 $600 $118.3 $36.33 $70.0 22.4% $370
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in addition to the in pit reserves there 
are stockpiles of both sulphide and 
oxide material that are characterised as 
probable ore and which contain more 
than 230,000 ounces of gold. these 
stockpiles include 2.3 million tonnes of 
sulphide and 1.9 million tonnes of oxide 
stocks (table 5). it is the intention to 
process as much of the oxide stockpile 
as practicable whilst commissioning the 
oxide circuit, as a large portion of the 
area where these stocks are held is to 
be covered by the extended RoM pad. 

at certain periods during the early 
operation of the sulphide roaster circuit 
there is insufficient sulphide ore coming 
from the pit to meet the 2.4 million 
tonne per annum design throughput. 
during these periods it is intended to 
supplement the pit feed with sulphide 
stockpiles which range in grade 
from 1.79 to 3.93 g/t au, commencing 
with the higher grade stocks.

Mining Contract

a contract has been signed with PW 
international Mining s.a.R.l (“PW”), a 
Malian entity, for the syama bulk Mining 
Phase. this is the “cutback” phase of 
the mine where an estimated 22 million 
bCM’s of material are to be mined in the 
first three and a half years of the Project.

Phased delivery of the mining truck  
fleet to syama commenced in the 
september quarter.

Project Team

Recruitment of key senior operational 
team management is well advanced 
with a number of these personnel 
already engaged on site.

Power Plant

in order to secure a timely supply of 
power soMisY acquired eleven 1.4MW 
pre-owned, low hours, Caterpillar 
power generating sets in early 2007. 
these sets have undergone functionality 
testing to ensure their operability 
at the designed power output.

it is planned to also install two low speed 
generating sets to provide an additional 
9.4MW of capacity. the total installed 
capacity is expected to be 25MW.

Project upside

Considerable upside for the project exists 
beyond that included in the financial 
model. there are underground resources 
immediately below the pit which combined 
with the continuing exploration success 
in the Quartz vein hill area to the north of 
the pit, provide confidence that a longer 
life project can be achieved.

potential underground

Measured and indicated resources 
for 2.4 million ounces lie beneath 
the current open pit reserves, to a 
depth of approximately 500m below 
surface, or approximately 200m below 
the final pit design (see Figure 1). 

the in Wall Ramp will provide a 
platform from which to site strategic 
drill holes to enable better definition 
of higher grade (>4g/t au) portions 
of the underground resources and 
assist in determining the potentially 
stopeable portions of the resource.

the resource remains open at depth, 
where there is a paucity of drilling. 
drilling from the surface is expensive 
and further exploration is planned once 
an underground platform is provided 
for this work. expectations are high for 
additional resources to be defined.

Table 5

PRobable oRe in stoCKPiles

stockpile type tonnes grade ounces

sulphide       2,290,000 2.0 145,000

oxide      1,910,000 1.4      85,000 

Total     4,200,000 1.7 230,000

Table 4 

sYaMa oRe - ReseRves  
(exCluding stoCKPiles)
as at 30 June 2007

Category tonnes grade ounces

Proved        9,300,000 3.7      1,106,000 

Probable       5,500,000 3.5 619,000

Total      14,800,000 3.6    1,725,000 
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quartz vein hill area

Wide spaced drilling north of a21 pit 
(see Figure 2) together with earlier 
drilling by bhP and Randgold has 
outlined mineralisation over at least 
1.6km. drilling is in progress to infill 
this area to at least 50m by 25m to 
bring it to indicated resource status 
and to undertake metallurgical test 
work to determine what proportion of 
this mineralisation is free milling.

the syama processing facility has 
sufficient capacity to process up to an 
additional million tonnes per annum of 
free milling material through a separate 
crushing and grinding circuit with 
slurry fed into the existing Cil circuit.

it is proposed to commence a 
feasibility study, depending on the 
results of the current drilling and 
preliminary metallurgical test work, 
into the treatment of this material 
using the existing “oxide” circuit.

electricity interconnection with  
côte d’ivoire

Recently the Malian government has 
announced progress in negotiations 
with the government of Côte d’ivoire 
on the interconnection of electricity to 
sikasso, Mali. the indian government has 
provided financial support for the project 
to the extent of us$75 million and a new 
feasibility study is currently in progress 
to update the capital and technical 
requirements of the interconnect from 
Côte d’ivoire to sikasso in Mali. 

the provision of electricity in the near 
term to south-east Mali would have a 
positive impact for syama and could 
in the longer term mean significant 
savings in power costs relative to the 
diesel generation of electricity.

electricity interconnection with Côte 
d’ivoire is of particular importance to 
the underground resources as it will 
mean a larger part of the underground 
resource can be exploited.

Figure 1 – Resources beneath the LOM Syama Pit

in-wall ramp

Proposed 
underground 
development

Potential 
mineralisation

existing pit

Final pit 
design

ore body 
+3g/t outline

Figure 2 – Location of A21 and Northern Resources (A21 Wireframe)
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Resolute is committed to expanding its gold 

ResouRces and pRoduction base thRough 

exploRation. the main thRust of exploRation 

activities has been on ouR tenuRe close 

to ouR existing opeRations oR stRategic 

joint ventuRes on gRound that has been 

identified thRough ouR Regional studies.
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exploration activities continued at a 
high level during the last 12 months with 
over one hundred thousand metres of 
exploration and resource development 
drilling completed on and around our 
operations. Whilst much of the emphasis 
continues to be put on the successful 
resource additions in the syama belt, 
reconnaissance drilling of targets 
around golden Pride and Ravenswood 
has returned encouraging results 
for follow up in the coming year.

tanzania

Following the establishment of a number 
of near mine resources at golden Pride 
and resource drilling at nyakafuru in 
the prior year, this year’s exploration 
has expanded into the hinterland where 
new tenure has been consolidated into 
the existing portfolio and a number of 
high resolution data sets have been 
collected and amalgamated to generate 
high priority targets for drill testing. 
some 32,000m of drilling, much of 
it reconnaissance air core drilling, 
has been completed this year, largely 
along the golden Pride corridor.

Golden Pride Area

drilling near the golden Pride pit during 
the previous period has contributed 
to the new mine model and life of 
mine plan for golden Pride. given 
the extended mine life there is the 
opportunity to thoroughly explore 

oveRview
exploRation
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the golden Pride district for satellite 
deposits that may further enhance 
the longer term future of the mine.

during the last year a series of new joint 
ventures and license applications have 
been completed that provide Resolute, 
for the first time, with access to almost 
the entire nzega greenstone belt 
surrounding the golden Pride Mine (see 
Figure 4). Coupled with this new ground 
position the Company has carried out 
some detailed studies on the geology, 
geophysics and geochemical ‘footprint’ 
of golden Pride itself that will assist in 
the exploration and recognition of further 
deposits in the district that are likely to 
be concealed under shallow soil cover.

a significant geology ‘campaign’ 
was carried out on the golden Pride 
deposit during the year that has added 
considerably to our knowledge on the 
deposit and how to look for similar 
mineralisation in the district. the 
programme included systematic re-
logging of over 16km of drill core and 
alteration mapping using spectrographic 
and lithogeochemical data. all the 
geological data was integrated into 
a three dimensional model in gocad 
software (see Figure 5). the modelling 
process has highlighted the importance 
of a number of structures and lithological 
units that were previously poorly 
recognised or not systematically logged. 
some of the units, such as the hanging 
wall shear and bends in the golden Pride 

aFRiCa
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Figure 3 – Tanzania Regional Tenure
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shear, have now been recognised to have 
a strong influence on the distribution 
of mineralisation and can now be used 
as ‘hard boundaries’ to assist in the 
constraint of future resource models. a 
number of high priority targets for drilling 
at depth under the golden Pride pit have 
been highlighted to assist in prioritising 
the current development drilling. 

geochemical ‘footprint’ studies completed 
at golden Pride have been used to prepare 
a predictive exploration model for the 
surrounding district. this model suggests 
that the alteration ‘footprint’ of golden 
Pride is over 3km long by 0.5km wide 
giving a much larger target for regional 
exploration than the gold mineralisation 
itself. a series of rapid reconnaissance 
tools including wide spaced soil and air 
core sampling are now being employed 
to cover prospective parts of the nzega 
district for similar alteration footprints.

a detailed airborne electromagnetic 
(vetM) survey was flown over the central 
nzega greenstone belt during the year. 
this survey has been very successful 
in clearly defining the golden Pride 
shear zone and subsidiary structures 
for over 40km of strike length, providing 
excellent focus for the ‘footprint’ sampling 
described above. systematic air core 
drilling has now been targeted along the 
shear zone working out from the mine. 
the initial programme on the golden 
Pride mining lease has highlighted 
several ‘footprint’ anomalies for follow 
up. a further extensive programme 
of air core drilling, targeting several 
major shear structures in the district, 
is planned for the coming year.

a number of regional targets have been 
explored with more detailed drilling 
during the year with both reverse 
circulation and diamond drilling carried 
out at Canuck, igusle and Matinge West.

a follow up drilling programme of 
fourteen reverse circulation/diamond 
drill holes at Canuck, some 30km west 
of golden Pride, confirmed previous 
mineralisation to be relatively continuous 
over about 300m strike length with 
some constrained shoots of high grade. 
Results in the previous period included 
7m @ 19.2g/t au and 5m @ 12.8g/t au. 
best results in the recent programme 
included: 5.2m @ 15.9g/t au, 5.9m @ 2.2g/t 
au and 3.8m @ 3.7g/t au. the mineralised 
zone appears to be still open to the south. 
a geology and resource model for the 
deposit is currently in preparation.

2020

Figure 5 – Golden Pride Geology Campaign

Figure 4 – Golden Pride / Nzega District Tenure Map
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Nyakafuru Area 

the Company has several joint ventures in 
the nyakafuru area with iamgold limited 
(previously gallery gold limited), sub 
sahara Resources ltd and local license 
holders. the majority of the tenure lies 
within a 20km radius of the main resource 
at nyakafuru Reefs. Resolute currently 
holds 66% equity in the nyakafuru project.

during the previous period a new gold 
resource calculation for the nyakafuru 
Project was determined including an 
indicated resource of 7.7Mt @ 2.2g/t au for 
545,000ozs plus an inferred resource of 
11.7Mt @ 1.4g/t au for 527,000ozs (all at a 
0.5g/t cut-off grade) for a total of 19.4Mt 
@ 1.7 g/t au for 1.1Mozs. the calculation 
includes the main resource at nyakafuru 
Reefs as well as satellite resources 
at leeuwin, grange and Kanegele. 

activities in the last twelve months 
have focused on completion of a mining 
scoping study including metallurgical 
test work and completion of a preliminary 
environmental impact assessment. 

Follow up metallurgical sampling from 
the main resource at nyakafuru Reef 2e 
and 2W was completed during the year. 
two composite sulphide ore samples 
from five reverse circulation drill holes 
were tested at aMMteC in Perth. Results 
of ‘whole-ore’ leach test work returned 
recoveries of 77% and 79% after 24 hours 
recovery time. tests on the same two 
composite samples using sulphide 
floatation and a fine grind (25 microns) 
returned total recoveries of 81% and 92%. 

in addition to the metallurgical work a 
programme of umpire sampling was 
completed on historical drill samples 
in order to enhance the confidence of 
the resource. statistical comparison of 
original assay results with results from 
pulp and coarse reject samples as well 
as analysis of previous umpire sampling 
carried out previously by spinifex gold was 
undertaken. both umpire sample tests 
demonstrate that a high level of confidence 
can be placed in the assay values contained 
within the nyakafuru Reefs dataset.

Reconnaissance exploration at nyakafuru 
was restricted to soil/auger sampling and 
induced polarisation geophysical surveys 
during the last year. a series of high 
priority targets have been outlined for drill 
testing, including direct extensions to the 
nyakafuru Reefs and voyager resources.

Tanzania Regional Exploration

during the past year Resolute has almost 
doubled its land position in tanzania, 
focused on building the strategic 
tenement portfolio around golden 
Pride through joint ventures and new 
applications. in addition an extension 
to the nzega greenstone belt has been 
identified under shallow cover in gravity 
data to the south east of golden Pride. 
this area is essentially unexplored and 
represents an excellent new opportunity 
for reconnaissance exploration in the 
highly productive lake victoria Region. 
several new tenements and joint ventures 
covering this area have been accumulated 
and exploration is now underway.

Potential for the discovery of 
diamondiferous kimberlites in tenure 
around golden Pride has been recognised 
by Resolute, and as a result partners with 
diamond expertise have been sought. 
during the year a strategic alliance 
was signed with Redox diamonds, a 
privately funded organisation with 
extensive diamond exploration expertise, 
to explore for diamonds on Resolute 
tenure throughout tanzania. under 
the terms of the agreement Redox 
must spend us$10M or complete a 
feasibility study to earn 80% of individual 
diamond prospects. Resolute can 
retain a 20% contributing equity, with 
the option to buy back to 40% equity 
on the best target by paying Redox five 
times the exploration expenditure.

Redox is currently assessing more 
than thirty six priority kimberlite 
targets of which seven have been now 
been tested with air core and auger 
drilling. to date five targets have been 
confirmed as kimberlite, and several 
targets show favourable mineralogy 
for diamond preservation. Most of the 
targets lie in the Matinje area, which 
is a southward extension of the high 
productive Mwadui Kimberlite field.
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Ravenswood

Ravenswood is located approximately 
95km south-west of townsville 
and 65km east of Charters towers 
in north-east Queensland.

 the project encompasses a series of 
exploration permits and mining leases 
covering an area of 1,368km2 centred 
on the sarsfield plant. during the year 
target generation studies have identified 
a number of high priority areas in the 
district, some of which lay outside 
existing tenure. new ePM applications 
covering 968km2 have been lodged 
to cover these areas (Figure 6).

Regional exploration around 
Ravenswood has focused on the 
systematic evaluation of some eighty 
or more targets previously identified 
in the district. this work has included 
extensive soil sampling, geological 
mapping, costean excavation and rock 
chip sampling. a number of targets 
were progressed towards drill testing.

some 6,700m of exploration reverse 
circulation/diamond drilling were 
completed at Ravenswood during 
the year as well as nearly 15,000m of 
development drilling, mostly at Mt Wright. 
Reconnaissance reverse circulation 
drilling was completed at Milne’s Reward, 
horseshoe and erin’s hope. at Milne’s 
reward results returned a series of low 
grade intercepts to a maximum of 9m 
@ 1.66g/t au. Further results confirm 
reasonable continuity of mineralisation 
along a 240m strike length. Further 
work in this area is ongoing.

detailed reverse circulation /diamond 
drilling was completed on deeper 
targets near Mt Wright, buckreef 
West and sarsfield. diamond drilling 
from underground at buckreef West 
intercepted a number of high grade 
vein structures which are thought to 
represent extensions of the historically 
mined sunset and grant lodes. 
Production records from these mines 
suggest that in the order of 500,000ozs 
was extracted at very high grades from 
relatively continuous vein structures 

Figure 6 – Ravenswood Location Map showing tenure
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Mali

exploration in the syama belt continued 
at a high level during the year focused on 
advancing two advanced prospects that 
have potential to add near term ounces 
to the syama resource base. some thirty 
thousand metres of exploration drilling 
were completed on these prospects 
during the year with new resource 
models currently in preparation. the 
district around syama provides an 
excellent opportunity to make significant 
discoveries in a poorly explored but 
obviously fertile greenstone belt. the 
economic impact of even modest near 
surface discoveries in the hinterland 
of syama could be considerable.

in addition to the regional exploration, 
a detailed geology campaign was 
completed on the syama deposit itself in 
order to better understand the controls 
on the mineralisation and develop an 
exploration footprint model for use in 
regional exploration. the programme 
was very successful and provided a 
series of exploration targets near the 
syama pit as well as a geochemical 
alteration signature that should be readily 
identifiable in regional exploration.

down to about 300m. intercepts from the 
four holes drilled this year include 7m 
@ 44.4g/t au, 4m @ 11.5g/t au and 2m @ 
18.9g/t au. Whilst these vein structures 
are challenging exploration targets, 
significant potential for high grade 
resources that might be exploited from 
existing underground infrastructure at 
buckreef has been identified. it is planned 
to conduct further scoping drill holes to 
assess the extent of the mineralisation.

at sarsfield a deep diamond drill 
hole was in progress at the end 
of the year that is designed to test 
for significant high grade or bulk 
mineable resources at depth in the 
Ravenswood mineralised system. 
several structures of interest including 
extensions of the buckreef, area 4 
and possibly sunset/grant lodes have 
been intersected. Follow up drilling 
will be dependent on the identification 
of a significant mineralised intercept.

Figure 7 – Syama – Quartz Vein Hill
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Quartz Vein Hill Area

systematic drilling commenced on the 
first of several high priority prospects 
around syama, identified during the 2006 
season. the main focus was on the a21 
area where reconnaissance activities 
had defined mineralisation potential 
over several kilometres of strike only 6 
to 11km north of the syama treatment 
plant. air core drilling located a new and 
apparently consistent zone of shallow 
oxide mineralisation over approximately 
1.6km of strike immediately north of 
the a21 pit. an induced polarisation 
geophysical survey over this area 
successfully assisted in the definition of 
a sheared contact between sedimentary 
and mafic rocks that appears to focus 
the mineralisation. subsequent reverse 
circulation drilling has been carefully 
targeted on the mineralised contact and 
has provided consistent mineralised 
intercepts over the full strike length. 
nearly all sections drilled to date reported 
intercepts of 2g/t au to 15g/t au grade 
over widths of 8 to 20m with better results 
including 18m @ 5.3g/t au, 15m @ 3.9 g/t 
au and 13m @ 5.4 g/t plus some locally 
very high grade intercepts including 2m 
@ 314.5g/t au and 1m @ 1,032g/t au.

in august 2007 a follow up resource 
drilling programme was undertaken at 
a21 north to infill the drill pattern to 50m 
by 25m spacing. it is hoped to define a new 
resource on this zone in the fourth quarter 
of 2007 which would then progress 
straight into reserve development drilling. 
exploration focus in the coming months 
will move onto testing other prospects of 
high priority including the zone between 
Quartz vein hill and a21 where intercepts 
up to 10m @ 12.5g/t au have been obtained 
in reconnaissance drilling (see Figure 7).

Finkolo JV – Etruscan Resources 
(Resolute 60%)

Resolute completed it’s earn in phase 
in the Finkolo Joint venture south of 
syama in February 2007, taking its 
equity to 60%. under the terms of the 
joint venture agreement Resolute 
will continue to fund all costs of the 
joint venture until production of a 
feasibility study and etruscan will 
reimburse Resolute from 40% of its 
share of future project cash flow.

 

Figure 9 – Tabakoroni Prospect (Finkolo JV) North South Long Section

Figure 8 – Tabakoroni Prospect (Finkolo JV) drill results

<
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an initial JoRC compliant resource was 
reported for the tabakoroni prospect in 
2005/6 totalling some 3.7Mt @ 3.1g/t au 
for 371,000ozs (indicated and inferred). 
two extensive programmes of follow 
up drilling totalling 8,700m of reverse 
circulation and 850m of diamond drilling 
in eighty seven drill holes have been 
completed during the 2006/7 year. these 
programmes were aimed at infilling 
and extending the resource along strike 
and at depth. Many exceptional results 
were reported from this programme 
including: 10m @ 201.1g/t au, 42m @ 
4.3g/t au, 5m @ 65.4g/t au, 51m @ 5.7g/t 
au and 23m @ 7.9g/t au(figure 8).

the recent results from tabakoroni are 
all the more significant as the drill holes 
were targeted essentially between the 
previously outlined high grade areas 
which were largely restricted by a lack 
of drilling information. the good grades 
returned appear to confirm that the 
mineralisation is focused in a series 
of steeply dipping shoots which have 
now been successfully targeted down 
dip demonstrating good continuity into 
fresh rock (Figure 9). an updated model 
is currently in preparation which should 
see a significantly enlarged resource 
for tabakoroni reported later in 2007.

air core drilling was completed 
on extensions to tabakoroni and 
Porphyry zone during early 2007. the 
total programme consisted of one 
hundred and seventeen drill holes 
for 6,157m. Results show areas of 
anomalism both to the north and south 
of tabakoroni with several intercepts 
in excess of 1g/t au which justify follow 
up reverse circulation drilling.

ghana

in ghana exploration activities have  
been focused on the Weststar -  
blue River project.

Weststar and Blue River

these concessions lie immediately 
along strike from the salman - anwia 
project area being explored by adamus 
Resources where a total resource 
of 1.5Mozs has been reported.

during the year a programme of some 
ninety four reverse circulation drill 
holes and one diamond drill hole were 
completed for a total of 5,089m to test 
the extensive geochemical anomaly 
identified along strike from the salman 
deposit. Reconnaissance drilling during 
the previous year had returned results 
up to 16m @ 3.3g/t au at blue River.

best results from the recent programme 
have included 13m @ 2.2g/t au from 
5m, 8m @ 2.3g/t au from 28m and 12m 
@ 1.6g/t au from 39m. Mineralisation 
is hosted in smoky blue quartz veins 
within graphite shear zones. based on 
the results to date, the areas of best 
mineralisation appear to be in pods of 
250-300m strike lengths and extend 
over a total of 1.6km strike length.

a detailed induced polarisation 
geophysical survey was completed over 
the blue River targets with the view of 
focusing future drilling on structural 
‘jog’s’ in the shear zones that appear 
to be focus for the mineralisation.

Akoase

this project is located 
approximately 140km north-west 
of accra. an inferred resource was 
established in 2006 at Kadewaso 
including 13.3Mt @ 1.2g/t au for 
513,000ozs (at a 0.5g/t cut off).

Potential has been identified to extend 
the Kadewaso mineralisation along 
strike to the north-east. in addition 
a new target has been highlighted by 
geochemical sampling on a separate 
trend to the west of Kadewaso.

a detailed airborne magnetic and 
radiometric survey was completed 
over the akoase project area during 
the year. Preliminary inspection of 
the results suggests a number of 
areas for follow up investigation. 
a series of magnetic ridges 
corresponding to previously defined 
resources at Kadewaso suggest a 
possible en-echelon arrangement 
of the higher grade zones.

 

Figure 10 – Ghana Properties



enviRonMent

Resolute is committed to achieving 
the best balance between protection 
of the environment and economic 
development. Resolute’s environmental 
Policy provides the objectives for the 
environmental management programmes 
to be achieved by its operations, as:

• Comply with and, where appropriate, 
exceed the requirements of 
applicable legislation, regulations 
and other policies, codes and 
standards to which we subscribe

• Progressively develop, implement and 
maintain environmental management 
systems that are consistent with 
internationally recognised standards

• integrate environmental processes 
throughout all aspects of our activities

• identify and assess the potential 
environmental effects of our activities 
and manage environmental risk

• Continually improve and regularly 
monitor, audit and review our 
environmental performance, including 
reducing the effect of emissions, 
developing opportunities for recycling 
and more efficient use of resources

• Promote environmental awareness 
among our personnel and contractors 
to increase understanding of 
their roles and responsibilities in 
environmental management

• develop our people and 
provide resources to meet our 
environmental objectives

• Promote our environmental progress 
and performance through liaison 
with and public reporting to the 
government and community

during the year environment was 
incorporated into the existing Resolute 
safety and health Management system 
in order to produce a single management 
system now titled ‘safety, health and 
environment Management system’. 
the system provides guidance to site 
management through detailed standards, 
guidelines and audit Protocols.
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Resolute is mindful its activities may 

potentially have an impact on the 

enviRonment and a bRoad Range of people. 

these people all, in one way oR anotheR, 

contRibute to ouR ability to sustain ouR 

activities in a haRmonious manneR within 

the community and enviRonment.

the company is committed to building 

Relationships thRough well-taRgeted social, 

safety and enviRonmental pRogRammes. 

Resolute aims to suppoRt the local 

communities by assisting with pRogRammes 

and pRojects that deliveR lasting benefits.

05
Responsibility
coRpoRate



Resolute holds licences and abides 
by acts and Regulations issued by the 
relevant mining and environmental 
protection authorities of the various 
countries in which the group operates. 
these licences, acts and Regulations 
specify limits and regulate the 
management of discharges to the 
air, surface water and groundwater 
associated with the mining 
operations, as well as the storage 
and use of hazardous materials.

there have been no significant 
known breaches of Resolute’s licence 
conditions or of the relevant acts and 
Regulations. the operations have 
had no fines or prosecutions from the 
regulatory authorities. no high or critical 
environmental incidents occurred that 
could have medium to long-term impacts.

Golden Pride Mine - Tanzania 

environmental performance at golden 
Pride continued to develop with the 
highlights being the raising of 47,000 
trees, review and improvement of 
environmental monitoring practices, 
development and implementation of 
a Wildfire Management Plan and the 
continued training and development of 
environmental personnel. support of the 
local community reforestation initiatives 
continued with the donation of over 17,000 
trees to local schools and farmer groups 
and the continued support of community 
nurseries. since commencement of 
operations golden Pride has planted in 
excess of 400,000 trees and donated to 
community approximately 225,000 trees.

Rehabilitation

30,000 trees were planted in the mining 
area which included 18ha of newly 
available re-shaped waste rock dumps.

waste management 

Waste is managed at golden Pride by 
separating the waste at source and 
disposing or recycling the different types 
of waste to dedicated disposal areas or 
recyclers. Recycling is carried out for the 
benefit of community institutions by way of 
donation or sold and the revenue directed 
to community development projects.

water management 

surface water and groundwater 
monitoring is carried out on a 
monthly basis. investigation of all 
exceedances and implementation of 
remedial actions is undertaken.

emissions 

dust monitoring continued and showed 
that dust from the mine site is not 
affecting surrounding properties.

tailings

the annual tailings storage facility 
audit indicated the facilities were being 
operated efficiently and there were 
no significant issues with structural 
stability or compliance with procedures.

compliance 

there were seven non-compliance 
issues carried over from last year and 
five new identified non-compliances 
during the year. six of the twelve non-
compliances were rectified. the majority 
of the outstanding non-compliance 
issues are long-term technical issues 
that are being progressively addressed.

Syama Mine - Mali

Rehabilitation 

at the re-commencement of operations, 
progressive rehabilitation will be 
undertaken as areas become available, 
including some of the areas disturbed 
during previous operations.

water management 

Monitoring of surface water and 
groundwater quality shows that it is 
generally within acceptable values. 
there are however high dissolved 
salt levels in seepage water from the 
syama tailings storage facility. these 
will be contained by the construction of 
a new engineered facility downstream 
of the tailings storage facility prior to 
the commencement of operations.

compliance 

during the year, there were no 
non-compliances reported.

environmental and social impact 
statement 

the environmental and social impact 
study has been completed and 
submitted to the Malian government. 
it is expected that the site will obtain 
approval by october 2007. 
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Ravenswood Mine - Queensland 

environmental management continues 
to play an important role in operations 
at Ravenswood, in particular the recent 
focus has been on the development 
of the Mt Wright underground, in-pit 
tailings disposal, rehabilitation trials, 
environmental training and the merging 
of environmental management systems 
into the safety, health and environment 
Management system. efforts are 
continuing to maintain and improve the 
site safety, health and environment 
Management system.

Rehabilitation

a new straw crimping technique was 
trialled as a possible application for 
rehabilitating waste rock dumps.  
this method provides benefits such as 
increasing the organic matter in the soil 
and reduces erosion and soil moisture 
loss. Preliminary results on the 10ha trial 
area is positive. With recent changes to 
operations in respect to the Mt Wright 
underground and in-pit tailings disposal 
the Mine Closure Plan (2005) will be 
amended. Further amendments of 
this Plan may be required on approval 
of our rehabilitation criteria by the 
environmental Protection agency.

the tailings disposal facility 
decommissioning and rehabilitation 
studies commenced last year are 
nearing completion and will be reviewed 
and implemented in consultation 
with the regulatory authorities.

waste management

Waste management programmes 
continue to be improved by reviewing 
projects for recycling, reuse and disposal.

water management

surface and ground water sulphate 
levels due to tailings dam seepage 
continue to be addressed. the detailed 
investigation into the potential long-
term impacts that was commenced 
last year is nearing completion. the 
investigation is covering the geochemistry 
of the tailings, review of seepage 
interception strategies and the positive 
and negative impacts on downstream 
ecosystems. the assessment of potential 
impact of seepage on downstream 
vegetation concluded that long term 
impacts were minimal providing the 
seepage levels remain stable.

improving the use of recycled water 
within the processing plant and 
the Mt Wright underground project 
continues to be a high priority. efforts 
have been successful in reducing the 
requirement for importing water at Mt 
Wright by recycling and treating water 
contained within old mine workings.

emissions

Resolute is a signatory to the Federal 
government’s greenhouse Challenge 
Plus Programme. this requires the mine 
site to report to the department of the 
environment and heritage–australian 
greenhouse office its greenhouse 
gas emissions and proposed emission 
reduction actions. Ravenswood Mine 
intends to make a reduction in the 
current Co2 emission of 170,251t by 
approximately 10.5%, a reduction in 
emission of approximately 17,905t of Co2. 
it is intended to achieve these reductions 
over the next eighteen months to two 
years by undertaking the following:

• Reduced electricity consumption by 
undertaking in-pit tailings disposal 
and a staff awareness programme to 
encourage the turning off of non-
essential plant and the selection 
of more efficient equipment;

• Reduced fuel consumption by 
undertaking in-pit waste rock 
disposal and lower pit strip ratios;

• Reduced lPg consumption by 
undertaking larger and less 
frequent gold Room smelts; and

• Reduced explosives consumption 
by undertaking lower pit strip 
ratios and material movement.

the greenhouse performance measure 
for Ravenswood Mine will therefore 
result in a reduction in the next two 
years from 0.033 to 0.028t of Co2 
emission per tonne of ore milled.

national pollution inventory

the site’s submitted annual 
national Pollution inventory Report 
concluded there were no significant 
changes to emission levels.
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blast overpressure limits

amendments to the site’s environmental 
authority include an increase in blast 
overpressure limits better suited to the 
local environment and in-line with other 
mining operations in Queensland. the 
community was consulted as part of the 
amendment process and no objections 
in respect to these limit changes were 
received. the amended environmental 
authority was approved in July 2007.

dust

Reduction of dust emissions from 
mining, haulage, crushing and conveying 
operations is being achieved through 
more efficient water application.

tailings

Plans to dispose tailings into the 
nolan’s pit were assessed as being 
both environmentally and economically 
sound after conducting scientific and 
engineering studies. amendments 
made to the site’s environmental 
authority included the use of the 
nolan’s pit for tailings disposal. the 
community was informed of these 
plans and concerns were addressed 

through the environmental Protection 
agency’s environmental authority 
approval process. With the approval of 
the amended environmental authority 
in July 2007, in-pit tailings disposal 
commenced in august 2007.

compliance

the main compliance issues have been 
the ongoing exceedance of sulphate 
levels in the tailings dam seepage 
water and elevated cadmium levels 
from an old waste rock dump site at Mt 
Wright. the tailings dam seepage water 
sulphate levels are being investigated 
in consultation with the environmental 
Protection agency and the studies are 
expected to be completed next year. 

after further consideration during 
the year, strategies for removing and 
disposing the Mt Wright waste rock 
with elevated cadmium have been 
determined and its rehabilitation 
will be undertaken next year. 

Eastern Goldfields – Western Australia

environmental and rehabilitation 
responsibilities at Resolute’s 
eastern goldfields mine sites at 
Chalice, higginsville, bullabulling 
and hopes hill focused on:

care and maintenance

Rehabilitation monitoring using 
ecosystem Function analysis. 
Results continue to indicate that 
rehabilitated areas are developing 
into functional ecosystems

planning future rehabilitation 
programmes

Future rehabilitation obligations will 
be significantly reduced as a result 
of entering into an agreement with 
avoca Resources limited to sell them 
a tenement located in the higginsville 
region that contains the tailings 
dams used by the higginsville gold 
Project in the 1990’s. as part of the 
sale, avoca will take responsibility 
for all uncompleted rehabilitation 
obligations and replacement of all 
environmental performance bonds.

29
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CoMMunitY Relations

Resolute recognises the need to 
focus on and proactively manage 
community issues in the areas 
surrounding its operations. Resolute 
is committed to fostering long-term 
relationships and partnerships with 
these communities by developing 
a culture of mutual understanding, 
cooperation, consultation and respect.

our social investment initiatives aim to 
deliver significant and lasting benefits 
to employees, the community and other 
key stakeholders through our community 
management programmes that:

• Recognise and respect the value of 
cultural heritage and cultural diversity

• establish enduring relationships 
with communities based on 
honesty and mutual trust

• support the development and 
implementation of sustainable 
social and economic initiatives 
within the communities through 
co-operation and participation

• Provide management systems 
to identify, assess, monitor and 
control existing and potential 
impacts on communities

• Maintain an ‘open door’ policy 
whereby the local traditional 
leaders and community leaders 
have access at reasonable times 
to the Company’s management

• ensure that employees are 
aware of and understand the 
requirements of the community 
management objectives
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Golden Pride Mine - Tanzania

Resolute (tanzania) limited has 
continued its involvement and support 
of the local community since its 
establishment in 1998. assistance 
has been provided in the key areas of 
infrastructure, education, health and 
environment with close to us$2 million 
being expended on projects to date.

key projects undertaken this year include:

• over the past six years Resolute 
has maintained an active role in 
using Participatory Rural appraisal 
techniques. this programme assists 
the local community to determine their 
own development needs and solutions, 
which allows them to learn the skills 
necessary to continually improve their 
quality of life and opportunities for 
growth without direct material support 
from Resolute. the programme is 
an outstanding success with a high 
participation resulting in numerous 
new and continued community 
initiated development projects. 

• efforts this year were channeled 
into maternal health with the 
construction of additional facilities 
at the maternal waiting room in 
nzega district hospital, renovation 
of the maternity block at the Mbogwe 
dispensary and donation of beds 
to the uyui, nzega ndogo health 
Centres and the Mwangoye, nata 
and Mbogwe dispensaries.

• in response to the african Medical 
and Research Foundation (aMReF) 
research on hiv/aids within the 
local community undertaken in the 
previous year, the education and 
training project established was 
extended to a further five villages 
and three secondary schools.

• Resolute (tanzania) continued 
to support the government in its 
campaign to establish new secondary 
schools in every ward in tanzania. 
the hon. Magreth sitta, Minister 
of education, officially opened 
nata secondary school in october 
2006, at which Resolute (tanzania) 
constructed the administration block, 
six class rooms and girl’s hostel. 
other constructions included a new 
primary school with two classes 
and teachers office in bukene, 
two class rooms at nzega ndogo 
Primary school and assistance with 
two teacher houses in the area.

•  Community environmental projects 
have progressed well during the 
year with a new nursery established 
at ibadamagu village, training for 
community members provided by 
Resolute (tanzania) in bee keeping 
and nursery management and the 
continued participation in Clean up 
the World day and World environment 
day events in the district.

Syama Mine - Mali 

the syama Mine Community Consultative 
Committee (sMCCC) established in 
2001 with representatives from local 
villages, Malian government and 
soMisY continued to meet monthly 
during the year. the Committee is 
used as a forum by soMisY to inform 
and address community concerns 
and community project proposals.

the local community was also regularly 
updated on the progress of the syama 
gold Mine Project development.

soMisY also actively consulted with the 
community as part of the environmental 
and social impact study (esis) process. 
Minutes from all of these community 
meetings were appended to the esis.

Ravenswood Mine - Queensland

Ravenswood Mine is located adjacent 
to the historic town of Ravenswood. 
due to the operations close proximity, 
significant emphasis is placed on 
maintaining positive relationships 
with the community and keeping them 
informed about proposed changes to the 
operations. specific initiatives include:

• Continuing support of the 
Ravenswood Restoration and 
Preservation association, who are 
mandated with the management 
of heritage listed buildings and 
the development of tourism.

• Continuing support of the Ravenswood 
Permaculture group and their 
composting project to improve 
soil conditions within the town 
common. the project uses waste 
paper, cardboard and food scraps 
to reduce landfill and promote 
sustainability of resources.

• ongoing communication and 
involvement of the community 
through community meetings 
and community newsletters. the 
community consultation focus this 
year was in respect to the in-pit 
tailings disposal and amended 
environmental authority.

• incorporation of areas within the 
town common into Carpentaria 
gold’s Weed Management Plan. 

• access for the district community to 
the on-site clinic and occupational 
health nurses.



3232

health and saFetY

Resolute is committed to achieving 
the highest performance in 
occupational health and safety to 
create and maintain a safe and healthy 
environment at the workplace. 

at every site, the health and safety 
of personnel and local communities 
are of fundamental concern to 
Resolute. the Company seeks to 
conduct operations in an efficient and 
effective manner whilst providing:

• a healthy and safe workplace

• information on the hazards of 
the workplace and training on 
how to work safely while caring 
for the environment, and

• Consultation at all staff levels on 
safety, health and environmental 
matters

no employee is expected to carry  
out work they reasonably consider to  
be unsafe.

implementation of the Company’s safety, 
health and environment Management 
system is ensuring that all industry 
standards are consistently met. this 
system actively strives to attain the safety, 
health and environmental standards set 
by Resolute. each site plan incorporates:

• experience gained from other 
operations within the Resolute group, 
and where possible, other mining 
companies, thereby ensuring all 
sites utilise the most up-to-date and 
effective techniques

• site specific circumstances, including 
such factors as available infrastructure 
and the experience of the staff

• updates to benefit from innovations, 
new technology and operating 
experience

site audits on the safety, health 
and environment Management 
systems are performed at regular 
intervals by independent consultants. 
internal audits are regularly 
undertaken to ensure progress in 
implementation of these systems.

Golden Pride Mine - Tanzania

the golden Pride Project continued to 
build on the high level of safety awareness 
it has established in its work culture.

during the year an internal gap analysis 
audit of the site’s safety and health 
Management system was conducted and 
a plan implemented to ensure continuous 
annual improvement. the system was 
also modified to include environment 
into a combined site safety, health and 
environment Management system.

at year end the 12 month moving average 
lost time injury Frequency rate was 1.96, 
a 50% reduction from the previous year 
of 3.94. there were a total of five lost time 
injuries recorded as compared to nine 
in the previous year. all five lti’s were 
attributable to the mining contractor.

training of the golden Pride staff 
continued with both internal and 
external trainers. the competency 
based training programme is well 
advanced within the Junior staff 
employees and is being implemented 
throughout the senior staff workforce. 
the success of the programme is 
clearly evident in the improved skill 
set and competency of employees and 
the flow-on benefits to the operation.

Syama Mine - Mali

Construction started in september 
2006. Focus has been on raising 
safety awareness and developing and 
implementing safety procedures.

at year end the 12 month moving average 
lost time injury Frequency rate was 4.3.

Ravenswood Mine - Australia

Continued focus on the site’s safety 
culture and safety management plan 
throughout the year, paid dividends 
resulting in a 42% decrease in the ‘total 
Reportable injury Frequency Rate’ – 46.5 
(2005-06) compared to 26.7 (2006-07). 

there has been an emphasis directed 
towards key performance indicators 
for safety that included the site based 
slaM (stop-look-assess-Manage), 
safety observations, hazard reporting, 
planned inspections, procedure 
and Job safety and environment 
assessment risk analysis processes. 

there were five lost time injuries 
during the year that increased the lost 
time injury Frequency rate to 5.3.
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Your directors present their report on the 
consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the “Group”) consisting of Resolute Mining 
Limited and the entities it controlled at the 
end of or during the year ended 30 June 2007.

CoRpoRate InfoRMatIon

Resolute Mining Limited (“RML” or “the 
Company”) is a company limited by shares 
that is incorporated and domiciled in 
australia.

DIReCtoRs

the names and details of the directors of 
Resolute Mining Limited in office during the 
financial year and until the date of this report 
are as follows. Directors were in office for this 
entire period unless otherwise stated.

Names, qualifications, experience 
and special responsibilities

Peter Ernest Huston  
(Non-Executive Chairman)

B. Juris, LLB (Hons), B.Com., LLM

Mr peter Huston was appointed the 
Company’s Chairman in 2000. after gaining 
admission in Western australia as a Barrister 
and solicitor, Mr Huston initially practised in 
the area of corporate and revenue law. 
subsequently, he moved into the area of 
public listings, reconstructions, equity 
raisings, mergers and acquisitions and 
advised on a number of major public company 
floats, takeovers and reconstructions. Mr 
Huston is admitted to appear before the 
supreme Court, federal Court and High 
Court of australia. Mr Huston was a partner 
of the international law firm now known as 
“Deacons” until 1993 when he retired to 
establish the boutique investment bank and 
corporate advisory firm known as “troika 
securities Limited”. In the past 3 years he has 
also been a director of Valhalla Uranium 
Limited (appointed september 2005 and 
resigned september 2006).

Mr Huston is a member of the audit 
Committee and the Remuneration and 
nomination Committee.

Peter Ross Sullivan  
(Chief Executive Officer)

B.e., MBa

Mr peter sullivan was appointed Chief 
executive officer of the Company in 2001 and 
has been involved with the Group since 1999. 
Mr sullivan is an engineer and has been 
involved in the management and strategic 
development of resource companies and 
projects for approximately 20 years. Mr 
sullivan is also director of GMe Resources 
Limited (appointed 1996) and has previously 
been a director of Valhalla Uranium Limited 
(appointed september 2005 and resigned 
september 2006).

Mr sullivan is a member of the environment 
and Community Development Committee, the 
safety, security and occupational Health 
Committee, and the financial Risk 
Management Committee.

Thomas Cummings Ford  
(Non-Executive Director)

faICD

Mr tom ford is a non executive director and 
was appointed to the board in 2001. Mr ford is 
an investment banker and financial consultant 
with over 30 years experience in the finance 
industry. He retired as an executive director of 
a successful and well regarded australian 
investment bank in 1991 and now fulfils a 
number of non-executive director roles. He is 
also Chairman of ResIMaC Limited 
(appointed 1985) and a non-executive director 
of amalgamated Holdings Limited (appointed 
1993) and was a director of australian 
pipeline trust (appointed 2000 and resigned in 
December 2004).

Mr ford is a member of the audit Committee 
and the Remuneration and nomination 
Committee.

Henry Thomas Stuart (Bill) Price  
(Non-Executive Director)

B.Com., fCa, faICD

Mr Bill price is a non-executive director and 
was appointed to the board in 2003. Mr price 
is a Chartered accountant with over 35 years 
experience in the accounting profession. Mr 
price has extensive taxation and accounting 
experience in the corporate and mining 
sector. In addition to his professional 
qualifications, Mr price is a member of the 
australian Institute of Company Directors, a 
registered tax agent and registered company 
auditor. He is a director and treasurer of 
tennis West, a previous director of Valhalla 
Uranium Limited (appointed september 2005 
and resigned september 2006), and a 
consultant to the finance Committee at the 
Real estate Institute of Western australia.

Mr price is the Chairman of the audit 
Committee and became a member of  
the Remuneration Committee on 11 
December 2006.

CoMpanY seCRetaRY

Greg William Fitzgerald

B.Bus., C.a. 

Mr fitzgerald is a Chartered accountant with 
20 years of resources related financial 
experience and has extensive commercial 
experience in managing finance and 
administrative matters for listed companies. 
Mr fitzgerald is the General Manager – 
finance & administration and has been 
Company secretary since 1996. prior to his 
involvement with the Group, Mr fitzgerald 
worked with an international accounting firm 
in australia.

Mr fitzgerald is a member of the financial 
Risk Management Committee.

Interests in the shares and options of Resolute Mining Limited and related bodies corporate

as at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in shares and options of Resolute 
Mining Limited and related bodies corporate were:

oRDInaRY  
sHaRes

optIons oVeR  
oRDInaRY sHaRes

p.Huston 301,066 –

p.sullivan 2,622,000 –

t.ford 3,000 –

H.price 10,000 –

2,936,066 –
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natURe of opeRatIons anD 
pRInCIpaL aCtIVItIes

the principal activities of entities within the 
consolidated entity during the year were:
– Gold mining; and,
– prospecting and exploration for minerals.

there has been no significant changes in the 
nature of those activities during the year.

ResULts

Resolute Mining Limited announces a net 
profit after tax attributable to its members for 
the year ended 30 June 2007 of $170.2m (year 
ended 30 June 2006: $77.4m loss).

the record profit can be attributed to the 
$175.0m after tax profit derived on the sale of 
the Company’s Valhalla Uranium Limited, 
paladin Resources Limited and Goldbelt 
Resources Limited shareholdings. the 
majority of this gain is a result of the 
successful move in December 2005 to spin 
out the Company’s key uranium assets into a 
separate listed entity, and the subsequent 
sale of this interest.

the Group’s gross profit from continuing 
operations for year was $4.2m (2006: 
$25.3m).

DIVIDenDs

no dividend has been declared or paid during, 
or subsequent to, the financial year.

eMpLoYees

the Group employed 796 employees as at 30 
June 2007 (2006: 566).

ReVIeW of opeRatIons

Production

the Group’s gold production for the year was 
255,942 ounces (2006: 290,749 ounces) at an 
average cash cost of $634/oz (2006: $518/oz). 
the Golden pride gold mine in tanzania, 
africa, produced 138,421 ounces (2006: 
145,043 ounces) of gold at a cash cost of $510/
oz (or Us$403/oz) (2006: $418/oz or Us$312/
oz) and the Ravenswood gold mine in 
Queensland, australia, produced 117,521 
ounces (2006: 145,706 ounces) of gold at a 
cash cost of $781/oz (or Us$617/oz) (2006: 
$617/oz or Us$461/oz).

the consolidated operating result has been 
adversely impacted by increases in all input 
costs. as well, there have been mining and 
processing issues experienced at both of the 
Group’s gold mines. Whilst action plans to 
resolve these issues have been implemented, 
it has resulted in lower gold production and 

higher cash costs per ounce (compared to the 
corresponding period) than expected.

the average accounting revenue price 
achieved per ounce of gold shipped during the 
year increased marginally to $686/oz (2006: 
$657/oz).

Exploration

exploration programs undertaken during the 
year ended 30 June 2007 concentrated on 
advancing the Group’s range of exploration 
properties located in australia, tanzania, 
Ghana and Mali.

Project Development

syama

Refer to comments made under the outlook 
section.

Mt Wright

the Mount Wright underground decline was 
advanced by 3,126m during the year ended 30 
June 2007. the first stope was fully drilled 
during the final quarter and production from 
the stope started in June. ore production to 
30 June totalled 67,731 tonnes which is in line 
with the mine model. Mine stoping was 
slightly ahead of plan. Drilling defined more 
ore in the upper stope and significantly more 
development ore was added to the schedule 
than originally expected. Development of the 
second stope is also largely complete. the 
haulage road and the water pipeline from the 
existing operations to Mount Wright continues 
to be constructed with completion expected 
by the end of september 2007. the power line 
from the nolan’s plant that will supply grid 
power to Mount Wright is targeted to be 
completed by the end of the December 2007 
quarter.

Corporate

During the year ended 30 June 2007, the 
Company sold its 83.3% stake in Valhalla 
Uranium Ltd to paladin Resources Limited for 
consideration of 31.6 million paladin shares. 
these shares were subsequently sold and 
total proceeds received were $173.1 million.

additionally, the Company sold its substantial 
shareholding in Goldbelt Resources Limited 
for a cash consideration of $26.4 million.

as at 30 June 2007, the Group had $67.8m of 
cash and bullion.  as well as this cash 
balance, the Group had a receivable relating 
to the pending reimbursement from the 
syama mining contractor of Us$18.7m (or 
$22.1m) receivable once the mining contract 
is signed.  additionally, the Group held $13.5m 
of liquid investments.  Borrowings at period 
end totalled $7.7m.  the Group’s balance 

sheet has strengthened considerably and at 
30 June 2007, the consolidated net assets 
were $264.6m, which is a significant increase 
from the $83.7m at 30 June 2006.

to better optimise the use of funds, a decision 
was made to accelerate the repayment of 
borrowings, and so during the year there was 
a reduction in borrowings of $26.6m.

oUtLook

Operations

at Golden pride, an amicable termination with 
the existing mining contractor has been 
negotiated and a new mining contractor 
commenced mining operations from 1 July 
2007. the transition has been seamless with 
the new contractor taking over the existing 
equipment and workforce. new replacement 
mining equipment has been progressively 
arriving at site during the september 2007 
quarter. furthermore, the installation of two 
new pre-leach tanks is anticipated to be 
completed shortly. this will lift overall plant 
recoveries. Mining has commenced on the 
re-optimised pit design. Higher grade ore in 
the first 3 quarters of the coming financial 
year is expected to lift the average grade of 
ore to be processed. towards the end of the 
fiscal year access to higher grade ore will be 
limited and the head grade is predicted to 
reduce significantly, whilst the majority of the 
mill feed is temporarily sourced from low 
grade stockpiles.

at Ravenswood, a major shutdown was 
carried out in June and a number of changes 
made to improve the future performance of 
the treatment plant. this was successfully 
completed and the plant has ramped up to 
normal throughput rates. sarsfield open pit 
mining is moving to the keel and Bell areas 
with the poorer performing area 5 ore now 
completed. at the Mt Wright underground 
mine, located 11 kilometres from the 
Ravenswood treatment plant, there has been 
over 3.4 kilometres of decline development 
and ore mining from the upper stopes is 
underway. 

the decline is projected to extend to the main 
ore zone by the end of 2008. Mt Wright ore is 
expected to provide approximately 20% of the 
Ravenswood gold production in the coming 
year. an improvement in Ravenswood gold 
production and cost per ounce is expected due 
to the rectification work undertaken, and the 
positive impact that the introduction of Mt 
Wright ore will have on the average head grade 
of ore to be processed in the coming year.

forecast gold production for the Group for 
the year ending 30 June 2008 is 330,000 
ounces, which is significantly higher than 
gold production in the year ended 30 June 
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2007. this improved outlook is being driven 
by anticipated improvements in throughput, 
head grade and recoveries at Golden pride, 
anticipated improvements in head grade and 
recoveries at Ravenswood, and the potential 
for the production of some gold from the 
syama project in the latter part of the 
financial year during the commissioning/
ramp up phase. the forecast cash cost per 
ounce is around $560, which is lower than 
that achieved in the 2006/07 year, mainly 
driven by the anticipated higher head grade 
of ore to be processed.

Project Development

Work continues on the redevelopment of the 
six million ounce syama gold mine in Mali. 
Completion is scheduled for the second half 
of calendar 2008. once complete, syama will 
become a major production asset 
contributing 250,000 ounces of annual 
production to the Group.

engineering is nearly complete and 
procurement well advanced with pipe and 
steelwork starting to arrive at site. 
Construction activities are progressing on 
schedule.

Recruitment of key senior management is 
well advanced with a number of new 
employees recently taking up posts.

the contract negotiation with mining 
contractor pW International Ltd s.a.R.L (“pW 
Mining”), for the syama Bulk Mining phase, is 
nearing completion. Mining equipment 
deliveries have started and mining is planned 
to commence in the December 2007 quarter. 

pW Mining will partially fund its acquisition of 
the Us$36m syama mining fleet by borrowing 
Us$31m from Bnp paribas.  RML has agreed 
to provide financial support to this transaction 
by guaranteeing the repayment to Bnp 
paribas of the outstanding amounts under 
this loan facility.  the provision of this 
guarantee by RML has provided pW Mining 
with a cheaper cost of funding, and this is to 
be passed on to the Group in the form of 
lower mining contract rates for the syama 
project over the next 3 years.  the Bnp 
paribas loan facility is of a standard nature 
and is repayable in quarterly instalments over 
3 years.  In the event that the loan is not 
repaid in accordance with the loan 
agreement, Bnp paribas has initial recourse 
against pW Mining and 3 other pW Mining 
group entities that are co-borrowers, each of 
which generate cash flow from their 
respective mining contracts in different 
countries in africa.  the cash flow generated 
by the pW Mining group from the various 
mining contracts is to be deposited into a Bnp 
bank account, and Bnp will have a charge 
over this bank account.  the cash in this 
secured bank account is to be applied firstly 

to the next quarterly debt repayment, and 
then surplus funds are available to be used by 
pW Mining.  Bnp will also have security over 
the Us$36m of mining equipment being used 
by pW Mining at the syama project.

as at 31 august 2007, the costs associated 
with the redevelopment of syama are tracking 
Us$3m above the budget of Us$118m.  In 
addition, the Group has committed to the 
purchase of a Us$19.6m power station, which 
will increase project capital costs by this 
amount, but this will be offset by lower 
ongoing operating costs.  as at 31 august 
2007, the redevelopment is approximately 
34% complete, and Us$47m had been spent 
on the redevelopment (including payments 
made on the power station), with a further 
Us$42m of expenditure committed.  the 
majority of the remaining development 
expenditure is expected to occur in the half 
year to 31 December 2007 and will be funded 
by a combination of debt and equity.  

Exploration and Project Evaluation

the gold exploration and project evaluation 
plan for the coming financial year is focussed 
on three major geographical areas, being 
Ravenswood in Queensland, tanzania (Golden 
pride and the nyakafuru areas), and Mali 
(syama Region and the finkolo JV). a budget 
of $21m has been allocated to exploration and 
project evaluation over the next 12 months.

key development activities over this period, 
which offer potential to significantly improve 
the position of the respective assets, are:

• further testing and evaluation of the oxide 
resources at syama and finkolo

• resource definition drilling at Mt Wright

• resource definition drilling around and 
below the current Golden pride pit.

Funding of Future Exploration 
and Development Expenditure

the Group is committed to unlocking the 
value of its assets as demonstrated by the 
current redevelopment of the syama gold 
mine in Mali and the ongoing development of 
the Mount Wright underground mine. In 
addition, the Group plans to continue to 
commit funds to its ongoing project evaluation 
activities and very prospective exploration 
programmes.

the combination of these activities will result 
in significant cash outflows over the next 12 
months. to fully fund these programs, the 
Company has been examining the different 
funding options to determine the most 
effective package for the Company and 
shareholders. a decision on the most 
appropriate package is expected to be made 
and announced shortly.

sIGnIfICant CHanGes  
In tHe state of affaIRs

there have been no significant changes in the 
state of affairs of the Company other than 
those listed above.

sIGnIfICant eVents  
afteR tHe BaLanCe Date

(i)  In relation to the summit Resources (aust) 
pty Ltd (“summit”) litigation (refer note 42(d)), 
on 3 august 2007, summit, after having an 
independent committee obtain legal advice 
and review the commercial rationale for 
litigation, determined it to be in its best 
interests to discontinue the proceedings and 
as a result, a Deed of Release and settlement 
was executed by summit and the other 
parties to the proceedings.   

subsequently, areva nC (australia) pty Ltd 
(“areva”) (a wholly owned subsidiary of 
french company, areva nC) applied to the 
supreme Court of Western australia to 
intervene in the proceedings and act on 
behalf of summit (under section 237 of the 
Corporations act).

areva obtained an order for access to 
summit’s records in connection with the 
settlement of the proceedings and the 
proceedings so that it could assess its 
prospects of success in its application to 
terminate the Deed of Release and settlement 
and intervene on behalf of summit in the 
proceedings.  areva is now reviewing the 
information provided to it and will then 
consider whether and how to proceed. 

RML is confident that at all times the 
disclosure obligations under the Isa Uranium 
Joint Venture agreement have been complied 
with.

(ii)  Resolute pty Ltd (“RpL”), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of RML, has entered into an 
agreement with avoca Resources Limited 
(“avoca”) to sell to them for $nil consideration 
a tenement located in the Higginsville region 
in Western australia and the benefit of the 
Chalice General purpose Lease. this 
tenement contains the tailings dams used by 
the Higginsville Gold project in the 1990’s. as 
part of the sale avoca will take responsibility 
for all RpL’s uncompleted rehabilitation 
obligations in the area. this includes 
replacement of all environmental 
performance bonds related to the Higginsville 
region, lodged with the Western australian 
Department of Industry and Resources. Upon 
completion and settlement of this transaction, 
the removal of this liability from RpL’s 
accounts will have approximately a a$2.5m 
positive impact on the Group’s profit in the 
2007/08 financial year. 
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LIkeLY DeVeLopMents anD 
expeCteD ResULts

the likely developments in the operations of 
the consolidated entity and the expected 
results of those operations in the coming 
financial year are as follows:
(i) the continued production of gold from the 

Golden pride and Ravenswood mines;
(ii) continued redevelopment of the syama 

project in Mali;
(iii) continued development of the Mt Wright 

project in Ravenswood;
(iv) mineral exploration will continue; and,
(v) the Group will seek to expand its gold 

production activities by advancing its 
existing projects or where appropriate, by 
direct acquisition of projects or 
investments in other resource based 
companies.

enVIRonMentaL ReGULatIon 
peRfoRManCe

the consolidated entity holds licences and 
abides by acts and Regulations issued by the 
relevant mining and environmental protection 
authorities of the various countries in which 
the group operates. these licences, acts and 
Regulations specify limits and regulate the 
management of discharges to the air, surface 
waters and groundwater associated with the 
mining operations as well as the storage and 
use of hazardous materials.

there have been no significant known 
breaches of the consolidated entity’s licence 
conditions or of the relevant acts and 
Regulations.

ReMUneRatIon RepoRt

the following information has been audited.

this remuneration report outlines the director 
and executive remuneration arrangements of 
the Company and the Group in accordance with 
the requirements of the Corporations act 2001 
and its Regulations.  It also provides the 
remuneration disclosures required by 
paragraphs aus 25.4 to aus 25.7.2 of 
accounting standard aasB 124 Related party 
Disclosures, which have been transferred to 
the Remuneration report in accordance with 
Corporations Regulations 2M.6.04.

Key management personnel

Directors

p. Huston non-executive Chairman

p. sullivan Director and Chief  
 executive officer

t. ford non-executive Director

H. price non-executive Director

executives

M. turner General Manager -   
 operations

D. Cairns General Manager -  
 project Development

G. fitzgerald General Manager -  
 finance & administration   
 and Company secretary

M. Christie General Manager -   
 exploration

this report outlines the remuneration 
arrangements in place for directors and 
executives of RML.

RML Remuneration Policy

the board recognises that the performance of 
the Company depends upon the quality of its 
directors and executives.  to achieve its 
financial and operating objectives, the 
Company must attract, motivate and retain 
highly skilled directors and executives.

the Company embodies the following 
principles in its remuneration framework:

• provides competitive rewards to attract 
high calibre executives;

• sets performance levels that are linked 
to an executive’s remuneration, and that 
there is a relationship between the 
Company’s performance, individual 
performance and remuneration;

• structures remuneration at a level that 
reflects the executive’s duties and 
accountabilities and is competitive within 
australia;

• benchmarks remuneration against 
appropriate groups at approximately the 
third quartile; and,

• aligns executive incentive rewards with 
the creation of value for shareholders.

Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee

the Remuneration and nomination 
Committee is responsible for determining and 
reviewing the compensation arrangements 
for the directors themselves, the Chief 
executive officer and the executive team.

executive remuneration is reviewed annually 
having regard to individual and business 
performance, relevant comparative 
information and internal and independent 
external information.

Remuneration Structure

In accordance with best practice governance, 
the structure of non-executive director and 
senior executive remuneration is separate 
and distinct.  note that the remuneration 
structure for the Chief executive officer is the 
same as the executive team.

Non-Executive Director Remuneration 

objective

the Board seeks to set aggregate 
remuneration at a level which provides the 
Company with the ability to attract and retain 
directors of the highest calibre, whilst 
incurring a cost which is acceptable to 
shareholders.

structure

the Company’s constitution and the asx 
Listing Rules specify that the aggregate 
remuneration of non-executive directors shall 
be determined from time to time by a general 
meeting.   an amount not exceeding the 
amount determined is then divided between 
the directors as agreed.  the latest 
determination was at the annual General 
Meeting held on 26 november 2003 when the 
shareholders approved an aggregate 
remuneration of $300,000 per year.

the amount of aggregate remuneration 
sought to be approved by shareholders and 
the manner in which it is apportioned 
amongst directors is reviewed annually.  the 
board considers fees paid to non-executive 
directors of comparable companies when 
undertaking the annual review process.

each non-executive director receives a fee for 
being a director of the Company.  an 
additional fee is payable for each board 
committee on which a director sits and an 
additional fee is also payable to a Chairman of 
any of these board committee’s due to the 
extra workload and responsibilities. 

Compensation of key management personnel

ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD
2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

short-term employee benefits 1,997,747 1,839,139 200,715 204,872

post-employment benefits 221,325 192,423 54,285 45,128

share-based payments 26,092 29,376  –  – 

2,245,164 2,060,938 255,000 250,000
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Chief Executive Officer and Senior 
Executive Remuneration

objective
the Company aims to reward executives  
with a level and mix of remuneration 
commensurate with their position and 
responsibilities within the Company and so  
as to:

• Reward executives for Company and 
individual performance against targets 
set by reference to appropriate 
benchmarks;

• align the interest of executives with 
those of shareholders;

• link reward with the strategic goals and 
performance of the Company; and,

• ensure total remuneration is competitive 
by market standards.

structure

In determining the level and make up of 
executive remuneration, the Remuneration 
and nomination Committee uses an external 
consultant’s Remuneration Report to 
determine market levels of remuneration for 
comparable executive roles in the mining 
industry.

It is the Remuneration and nomination 
Committee’s policy that employment 
contracts are engaged for the Chief executive 
officer and the executive employees.  Details 
of these contracts are outlined later in this 
report.

Remuneration consists of the following key 
elements:

• fixed remuneration

• Variable remuneration
 - short term incentives (stI); and,
 - Long term incentives (LtI).

the proportion of fixed remuneration and 
variable remuneration (potential short term 
and long term incentives) is established for 
each executive by the Remuneration and 
nomination Committee.

Fixed Remuneration

objective

the level of fixed remuneration is set so as to 
provide a base level of remuneration which is 
both appropriate to the position and is 
competitive in the market.

fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by 
the Remuneration and nomination 
Committee.  the process consists of a review 
of business unit, individual performance and 
relevant comparable remuneration in the 
mining industry.

structure

executives are given the opportunity to 
receive their fixed (primary) remuneration in a 
variety of forms including cash and fringe 
benefits such as motor vehicles and expense 
payment plans.  It is intended that the manner 
of payment chosen will be optimal for the 
recipient without creating undue cost to the 
Company.

Variable Remuneration – Short 
Term Incentive (STI)

objective

the objective of the stI is to reward 
performance that is over and above 
expectation levels and is linked to the 
achievement of the Company’s targets by the 
executives charged with meeting those 
targets.  the total potential stI available is set 
at a level so as to provide sufficient incentive 
to the executives to achieve the targets and 
such that the cost to the Company is 
reasonable in the circumstances.

structure

actual stI payments granted to each 
executive depend on their performance over 
the preceding year and are determined during 
the annual performance appraisal process.  
the performance appraisal process involves 
analysing a number of key performance 
Indicators (kpIs) covering both financial and 
non-financial measures of performance.  
typically included are measures such as 
contribution to net profit after tax, operational 
performance of a business unit, risk 
management, health and safety and 
leadership/team contribution.  the executive 
has to demonstrate outstanding performance 
in order to trigger payments under the 
short-term incentive scheme.

on an annual basis, after consideration of 
performance against kpIs, the overall 
performance of the Company and each 
individual business unit is assessed by the 
Remuneration and nomination Committee.

the individual performance of each executive 
is also assessed and all these measures are 
taken into account when determining the 
amount, if any, to be paid to the executive as a 
short-term incentive.

the aggregate of annual stI payments 
available for executives across the Company 
is subject to the approval of the Remuneration 
and nomination Committee.  payments are 
usually delivered as a cash bonus and/or in 
the form of superannuation.

Variable Remuneration – Long 
Term Incentive (LTI)

objective

the objective of the LtI plan is to reward 
executives in a manner, which aligns this 
element of remuneration with the creation of 
shareholder wealth.

as such LtI’s are made to executives who are 
able to influence the generation of 
shareholder wealth and thus have an impact 
on the Company’s performance against the 
relevant long-term performance hurdles.  

structure

LtI grants to executives are delivered in the 
form of employee share options.  these 
options are issued with an exercise price at a 
10% premium to the average of the RML 
ordinary share price over the preceding 5 
business days.  these employee share 
options will also generally vest over a 30 
month period.

at each vesting date, the Company assesses 
the performance of the executive, and if a 
satisfactory performance level is achieved, 
the relevant portion of the options vest to the 
executive. this performance criteria was 
chosen to enhance accountability of the 
executives and allow accurate measurement 
of performance.
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Details of remuneration provided to key management personnel are as follows:

2007

sHoRt teRM  
BenefIts

post eMpLoYMent  
BenefIts

sHaRe BaseD 
paYMents

Base 
ReMUneRatIon

ResoLUte (i)
$

CasH  
BonUs

$

Base 
ReMUneRatIon

VaLHaLLa (i)
$

non  
MonetaRY

BenefIts (ii)
$

sUpeR- 
annUatIon
ResoLUte (i)

$

sUpeR- 
annUatIon
VaLHaLLa (i)

$
optIons

$

Directors
p.Huston 150,000 – 7,500 – – – –

p.sullivan (iii) 480,000 53,248 7,500 56,436 63,990 – –

t.ford 48,165 – – – 4,335 – –

H.price 2,550 – 750 – 49,950 6,744 –

Officers
M.turner 302,100 – – 32,890 27,189 – –

D.Cairns (iv) 326,765 20,000 – – – – –

G.fitzgerald (v) 245,725 20,000 – 12,543 48,275 – –

M.Christie (vi) 231,575 – – – 20,842 – 26,092

2006

sHoRt teRM  
BenefIts

post eMpLoYMent  
BenefIts

sHaRe BaseD 
paYMents

Base 
ReMUneRatIon

ResoLUte (i)
$

Base 
ReMUneRatIon

VaLHaLLa (i)
$

non  
MonetaRY

BenefIts (ii)  
$

sUpeR-
annUatIon
ResoLUte (i)

$

sUpeR- 
annUatIon
VaLHaLLa (i)  

$
optIons

$

Directors
p.Huston 150,000 24,000 – – – –

p.sullivan 480,000 24,000 48,266 57,600 – –

t.ford 45,872 – – 4,128 – –

H.price 9,000 7,000 – 41,000 16,980 –

Officers
M.turner 271,461 – 29,503 24,300 – –

D.Cairns 302,500 – – – – –

G.fitzgerald 228,294 – 9,243 29,605 – –

M.Christie (vi) 210,000 – – 18,810 – 29,376

(i) “Resolute” in this instance means the Group excluding any amounts received or receivable in remuneration from Valhalla Uranium Ltd 
(“Valhalla”), an 83.3% owned listed subsidiary of Resolute Mining Limited incorporated on 23 september 2005 and subsequently disposed of 
on 11 september 2006.

(ii) non monetary benefits include, where applicable, the cost to the Company of providing fringe benefits, the fringe benefits tax on those 
benefits and all other benefits received by the executive.

(iii) this cash bonus was granted on 11 December 2006 and in conjunction with the superannuation thereon represents 9% of p. sullivan’s total 
remuneration.  the Remuneration and nomination Committee approved the amount based upon the successful outcome of a number of key 
business decisions.

(iv) this cash bonus was granted on 11 December 2006 and represents 6% of D. Cairns’s total remuneration. the Remuneration and nomination 
Committee approved the amount based upon the successful execution of a temporary increase in responsibilities and volume of work in 
excess of what would reasonably be expected of the individual’s employment terms. 

(v) this cash bonus was granted on 11 December 2006 and represents 6% of G. fitzgerald’s total remuneration. the Remuneration and 
nomination Committee approved the amount based upon the successful execution of a temporary increase in responsibilities and volume of 
work in excess of what would reasonably be expected of the individual’s employment terms. 

(vi) there were no options granted to directors or the officers of the company in the 2007 financial year.  the amount in share based payments 
represents the portion of options granted in the prior year which have vested in the current year.  this represents 9% (2006: 11%) of M. 
Christie’s total remuneration.
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Details of options holdings of key management personnel are as follows:

2007

BaLanCe  
at tHe staRt of 

tHe YeaR

exeRCIseD 
DURInG tHe 

YeaR

GRanteD 
DURInG tHe 

YeaR as 
CoMpensatIon

BaLanCe  
at tHe enD  

of tHe YeaR

VesteD anD 
exeRCIsaBLe 
at tHe enD of 

tHe YeaR

faIR VaLUe of 
optIons at 

exeRCIse Date
$

Directors
p.Huston – – – – – –

p.sullivan (i) 2,000,000 (2,000,000) – – – 2,470,000

t.ford – – – – – –

H.price – – – – – –

Officers
M.turner – – – – – –

D.Cairns (iv) 300,000 – – 300,000 300,000 –

G.fitzgerald (ii) 270,000 (20,000) – 250,000 250,000 25,000

M.Christie (iii) 300,000 – – 300,000 300,000 –

2006

BaLanCe  
at tHe staRt of 

tHe YeaR

exeRCIseD 
DURInG tHe 

YeaR

GRanteD 
DURInG tHe 

YeaR as 
CoMpensatIon

BaLanCe  
at tHe enD  

of tHe YeaR

VesteD anD 
exeRCIsaBLe 
at tHe enD of 

tHe YeaR

faIR VaLUe of 
optIons at 

exeRCIse Date
$

Directors
p.Huston – – – – – –

p.sullivan 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000 2,000,000 –

t.ford – – – – – –

H.price – – – – – –

Officers
M.turner (v) 300,000 (300,000) – – – 250,500

D.Cairns 300,000 – – 300,000 300,000 –

G.fitzgerald 270,000 – – 270,000 270,000 –

M.Christie 300,000 – – 300,000 200,000 –

(i) the options were granted on 11 December 2001.  the fair value of the options at grant date was $0.04 per option.  the total fair value of the 
options granted was $84,000.  the exercise price of the options was $0.42 per option.

(ii) the options were granted on 20 september 2002.  the fair value of the options at grant date was $0.11 per option.  the total fair value of the 
options granted was $29,700.  the exercise price of the options was $0.81 per option.  on 17 september 2007, a further 250,000 were exercised 
at a price of $0.81 per option.  these options were due to expire on 19 september 2007.

(iii) 100,000 options vested and became exercisable on 21 June 2007.  these options were granted on 21 December 2004 with one third of the 
options were able to be exercised 6 months after issue, a further one third 18 months after issue and the remaining one third 30 months after 
issue.  

(iv) on 9 august 2007, 300,000 options were exercised at a price of $0.81 per option.  these options were due to expire on 19 september 2007.
(v) the options were granted on 20 september 2002.  the fair value of the options at grant date was $0.11 per option.  the total fair value of the 

options granted was $33,000.  the exercise price of the options was $0.81 per option.
(vi) no key management personnel options were granted or lapsed during the year.
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Details of share holdings of key management personnel are as follows:

2007

BaLanCe at 
tHe staRt of 

tHe YeaR

ReCeIVeD 
DURInG tHe 
YeaR on tHe 
exeRCIse of 

optIons

otHeR 
CHanGes 

DURInG tHe 
YeaR (i)

BaLanCe at 
tHe enD of  
tHe YeaR

Directors
p.Huston 301,066 – – 301,066

p.sullivan 822,000 2,000,000 (200,000) 2,622,000

t.ford 3,000 – – 3,000

H.price 10,000 – – 10,000

Officers
M.turner – – – –

D.Cairns 42,000 – – 42,000

G.fitzgerald – 20,000 (20,000) –

M.Christie 30,000 – – 30,000

2006

BaLanCe at 
tHe staRt of 

tHe YeaR

ReCeIVeD 
DURInG tHe 
YeaR on tHe 
exeRCIse of 

optIons

otHeR 
CHanGes 

DURInG tHe 
YeaR

BaLanCe at 
tHe enD of  
tHe YeaR

Directors
p.Huston 1,066 – 300,000 301,066

p.sullivan 822,000 – – 822,000

t.ford 3,000 – – 3,000

H.price 10,000 – – 10,000

Officers
M.turner – 300,000 (300,000) –

D.Cairns 42,000 – – 42,000

G.fitzgerald – – – –

M.Christie – – 30,000 30,000

(i) these shares were acquired or sold at the prevailing market price, no amounts remain unpaid as at 30 June 2007.
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Employment Contracts

the Ceo, Mr sullivan, is employed under contract.  His current employment contract commenced on 14 february 2004 and there is no 
termination date.  Under the terms of the contract:

• Mr sullivan may resign from his position and thus terminate this contract by giving 6 months written notice.  
• the Company may terminate this employment agreement by providing 12 months written notice or provide payment in lieu of the notice 

period (based on the fixed component of Mr sullivan’s remuneration).  

Mr fitzgerald (General Manager – finance and administration) is also employed under contract.  this contract has no termination date and under 
the terms of the contract:

• Mr fitzgerald may resign from his respective position and thus terminate his contract by giving 1 month written notice.  
• the Company may terminate his employment agreement by providing 1 month written notice or provide payment in lieu of the notice period 

(based on the fixed component of remuneration).  

Mr turner (General Manager – operations) is also employed under contract.  this contract has no termination date and under the terms of the 
contract:

• Mr turner may resign from his respective position and thus terminate his contract by giving 1 month written notice.  
• the Company may terminate his employment agreement by providing 1 month written notice or provide payment in lieu of the notice period 

(based on the fixed component of remuneration).  

Mr Christie (General Manager – exploration) is also employed under contract.  this contract has no termination date and under the terms of the 
contract:

• Mr Christie may resign from his respective position and thus terminate his contract by giving 1 month written notice.  
• the Company may terminate this employment agreement by providing 1 month written notice or provide payment in lieu of the notice period 

(based on the fixed component of Mr Christie’s remuneration).  on termination, the Company must pay 2 weeks of salary for each of the first 
three years of completed service, 1 week of salary for each complete year of service after 3 years and pro-rata long service leave in respect 
of any employment with the Company exceeding 3 complete years.

this is the end of the audited information.

sHaRes UnDeR optIons

Unissued ordinary shares of Resolute Mining Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

shares issued as a result of the exercise of options: 

Date optIons GRanteD expIRY Date IssUe pRICe of sHaRes nUMBeR UnDeR optIon

$

20 september 2002 19 september 2007 0.81 787,500

21 December 2004 21 December 2009 1.57 475,000

24 March 2006 23 March 2011 1.28 405,000

25 october 2006 24 october 2011 1.48 570,000

During the financial year, employees and executives have exercised options to acquire 2,110,500 fully paid ordinary shares in Resolute Mining 
Limited at a weighted average exercise price of $0.46 per share.

InDeMnIfICatIon anD InsURanCe of DIReCtoRs anD offICeRs

During or since the financial year, the Company paid an insurance premium of $57,499 (2006: $53,240) in respect of a contract insuring the 
Company’s directors and officers against certain liabilities arising as a result of work performed in the capacity as directors and officers. this 
insurance premium is not allocated over individuals.
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DIReCtoRs’ MeetInGs

the number of meetings and resolutions of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year and the number of 
meetings (or resolutions) attended by each director were as follows:

fULL BoaRD aUDIt

enVIRonMent 
anD CoMMUnItY 
DeVeLopMent

ReMUneRatIon 
anD noMInatIon

safetY, seCURItY 
& oCCUpatIonaL 

HeaLtH
fInanCIaL RIsk 
ManaGeMent

p.Huston 18 2 n/a 3 n/a n/a

p.sullivan 18 n/a 4 n/a 4 18

t.ford 18 2 n/a 3 n/a n/a

H.price (i) 18 2 n/a 1 n/a n/a

Number of meetings held 18 2 4 3 4 18

(i)  Mr price was appointed to the Remuneration and nomination Committee on 11 December 2006 and he attended 100% of meetings whilst he 
was a Committee member.

the details of the functions of the other committees of the Board are presented in the Corporate Governance statement.

RoUnDInG

RML is a Company of the kind specified in australian securities and Investments Commission Class order 98/0100. In accordance with that class 
order, amounts in the financial report and the Directors’ Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless specifically stated to 
be otherwise.

aUDItoRs InDepenDenCe

Refer to page 47 for a copy of auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Resolute Mining Limited.

non-aUDIt seRVICes

the following non-audit services were provided by the Group’s auditor, ernst & Young. the directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations act 2001. the nature and scope of 
each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor independence was not compromised.

ernst & Young received or are due to receive $232,526 for the provision of taxation planning and review services. they are due to receive $209,651 
for the provision of audit services.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

p.R. sullivan 
Director

perth, Western australia 
28 september 2007
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the Board of Directors of Resolute Mining 
Limited (“RML” or “the Company”) is 
responsible for the corporate governance of 
the consolidated entity. the Board guides and 
monitors the business and affairs of RML on 
behalf of the shareholders by whom they are 
elected and to whom they are accountable.

the Board has adopted the “principles of 
Good Corporate Governance and Best 
practice Recommendations” established by 
the asx Corporate Governance Council and 
published by the asx in March 2003. there is 
a corporate governance section on the 
Company’s website which sets out the various 
policies, charters and codes of conduct which 
have been adopted to ensure compliance with 
the “best practice recommendations” 
referred to above.

a description of the Company’s main 
corporate governance practices is set out 
below. all practices, unless otherwise stated, 
were in place for the entire year.

1. tHe BoaRD of DIReCtoRs

In accordance with asx principle 1, the Board 
have established a “statement of Matters 
Reserved to the Board” which is available on 
the Company website. this outlines the 
functions reserved to the Board and those 
delegated to management and demonstrates 
that the responsibilities and functions of the 
Board are distinct from management.

the key responsibilities of the Board include:

• appointing, evaluating, rewarding and if 
necessary the removal of the Chief 
executive officer (“Ceo”) and senior 
management;

• Development of corporate objectives and 
strategy with management and approving 
plans, new investments, major capital and 
operating expenditures and major funding 
activities proposed by management;

• Monitoring actual performance against 
defined performance expectations and 
reviewing operating information to 
understand at all times the state of the 
health of the Company;

• overseeing the management of business 
risks, safety and occupational health, 
environmental issues and community 
development;

• satisfying itself that the financial 
statements of the Company fairly and 
accurately set out the financial position 
and financial performance of the Company 
for the period under review;

• satisfying itself that there are  
appropriate reporting systems and 
controls in place to assure the Board  
that proper operational, financial, 
compliance, risk management and 
internal control processes are in place  
and functioning appropriately. further, 
approving and monitoring financial and 
other reporting;

• assuring itself that appropriate audit 
arrangements are in place;

• ensuring that the Company acts legally 
and responsibly on all matters and 
assuring itself that the Company has 
adopted a Code of Business ethics and 
that the Company practice is consistent 
with that Code; and

• Reporting to and advising shareholders.

the Board is comprised of 3 non-executive 
directors including the Chairman and one 
executive director being the Ceo.

the table below sets out the detail of the 
tenure of each director at the date of this 
report.

Details of the members of the Board including 
their experience, expertise and qualifications 
are set out in the Directors’ Report under the 
heading “Directors”.

corporAte  
GoVerNANce stAteMeNt
for the year ended 30 June 2007

DIReCtoR RoLe of DIReCtoR fIRst appoInteD (a) non-exeCUtIVe InDepenDent

peter ernest Huston non-executive chairman June 2001 Yes Yes

peter Ross sullivan Ceo June 2001 no no

thomas Cummings ford non-executive director June 2001 Yes Yes

Henry thomas stuart price non-executive director november 2003 Yes Yes

(a) RML was incorporated on 8 June 2001.
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2. DIReCtoR InDepenDenCe

as outlined in asx principle 2, directors are 
expected to contribute independent views to 
the Board.

the Board has adopted specific principles in 
relation to the directors’ independence. these 
state that to be deemed independent, a 
director must be a non-executive and:

• not a substantial shareholder of the 
Company or an officer of, or otherwise 
associated directly with, a substantial 
shareholder of the Company.

• Within the last three years has not been 
employed in an executive capacity by the 
Company or another group member, or 
been a director after ceasing to hold any 
such employment.

• Within the last three years has not been a 
principal of a material professional advisor 
or a material consultant to the Company 
or another group member, or an employee 
materially associated with the service 
provided.

• not a material supplier or customer of the 
Company or other group member, or an 
officer of or otherwise associated directly 
or indirectly with a material supplier or 
customer.

• Must have no material contractual 
relationship with the Company or another 
group member other than as a director of 
the Company.

• not served on the Board for a period 
which could, or could reasonably be 
perceived to, materially interfere with the 
director’s ability to act in the best interests 
of the Company.

• Is free from any interest and any business 
or other relationship which could, or could 
reasonably be perceived to, materially 
interfere with the director’s ability to act in 
the best interests of the Company.

Materiality for these purposes is based on 
both quantitative and qualitative bases. an 
amount of over 5% of annual turnover of the 
Company or Group or 5% of the individual 
directors net worth is considered material for 
these purposes. In addition, a transaction of 
any amount or a relationship is deemed to be 
material if knowledge of it impacts the 
shareholders’ understanding of the director’s 
performance.

the Board has reviewed and considered the 
positions and associations of each of the 4 
directors in office at the date of this report 
and considers that 3 of the directors are 
independent. Mr peter sullivan (Ceo) is not 
considered to be independent. as such it is 
clear that the majority of the Board are 
independent and the Chairman is an 
independent director.

the roles of the Chairman and the Ceo are 
not exercised by the same individual. the 
Chairman is responsible for leading the 
Board, ensuring that Board activities are 
organised and efficiently conducted and for 
ensuring directors are properly briefed for 
meetings. the Board has delegated 
responsibility for the day-to-day activities to 
the Ceo and the executive Committee. the 
Remuneration and nomination Committee 
ensure that the Board members are 
appropriately qualified and experienced to 
discharge their responsibilities and has in 
place procedures to assess the performance 
of the Ceo and the executive Committee. the 
Ceo is accountable to the Board for all 
authority delegated to that position and the 
executive Committee.

Directors and Board Committees have the 
right, in connection with their duties and 
responsibilities, to seek independent 
professional advice at the Company’s 
expense.

In relation to the term of office, the Company’s 
constitution specifies that one third of all 
directors (with the exception of the Ceo) must 
retire from office annually and are eligible for 
re-election.

3.  ReMUneRatIon anD  
noMInatIon CoMMIttee

the Remuneration and nomination 
Committee consists of the following 
non-executive directors, Mr p.Huston 
(Chairman), Mr t.ford and Mr H.price. the 
attendance record in 2007 of members at the 
Committee meetings is noted in the Directors’ 
Report under the heading “Directors’ 
Meetings”.

the Remuneration and nomination 
Committee is responsible for determining and 
reviewing the compensation arrangements 
for the Directors themselves, the Ceo, the 
executive team and employees. In addition, 
they are responsible for reviewing the 
appropriateness of the size of the Board 
relative to its various responsibilities. 
Recommendations are made to the Board on 
these matters. further roles and 
responsibilities of this Committee can be 
found in the Committee’s charter which is 
posted on the Company website.

4.  etHICaL stanDaRDs anD  
CoDe of ConDUCt

the Board acknowledges the need for the 
highest standards of corporate governance 
and ethical conduct by all directors and 
employees of the consolidated entity. as such, 
the Company has developed a Code of 
Conduct which has been fully endorsed by the 
Board and applies to all directors and 
employees. this Code of Conduct is regularly 
reviewed and updated as necessary to ensure 
that it reflects the highest standards of 
behaviour and professionalism and the 
practices necessary to maintain confidence in 
the Group’s integrity.

a fundamental theme is that all business 
affairs are conducted legally, ethically and 
with strict observance of the highest 
standards of integrity and propriety. the 
directors and management have the 
responsibility to carry out their functions with 
a view to maximising financial performance of 
the consolidated entity. this concerns the 
propriety of decision making in conflict of 
interest situations and quality decision 
making for the benefit of shareholders.

Refer to the Company website for specific 
codes of conduct.
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CoRpoRate GoVeRnanCe stateMent
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5. seCURItIes tRaDInG

the Board has adopted the “Dealings in 
Resolute Mining Limited shares and options” 
policy (refer website) (which is driven by 
Corporations act 2001 requirements) that 
applies to all directors, officers and 
employees of the Company. Under this policy 
and the Corporations act 2001, it is illegal for 
directors, officers or employees who have 
price sensitive information relating to the 
Group which has not been published or which 
is not otherwise ‘generally available’ to:

• Buy, sell or otherwise deal in Company 
shares or options;

• advise, procure or encourage another 
person (for example, a family member, a 
friend, a family Company or trust) to buy 
or sell Company shares or options; or

• pass on information to any other person, if 
one knows or ought to reasonably know 
that the person may use the information to 
buy or sell (or procure another person to 
buy or sell) Company shares or options.

6. CoRpoRate RepoRtInG

In accordance with asx principle 4, the Ceo 
and General Manager – finance & 
administration have made the following 
certifications to the Board:

• that the Company’s financial reports are 
complete and present a true and fair view 
as required by accounting standards, in all 
material respects, of the financial 
condition and operational results of the 
Company and Group; and

• that the above statement is founded on a 
sound system of internal control and risk 
management which implements the 
policies adopted by the Board and that the 
Company’s risk management and internal 
control is operating efficiently in all 
material respects.

7. aUDIt CoMMIttee

the audit Committee consists of the following 
non-executive directors; Mr H.price 
(Chairman), Mr p.Huston and Mr t.ford. the 
attendance record in 2007 of members at the 
Committee meetings is noted in the Directors’ 
Report under the heading “Directors’ 
Meetings”.

Details of the members of the Board including 
their experience, expertise and qualifications 
are set out in the Directors’ Report under the 
heading “Directors”.

the Committee operates under a charter 
approved by the Board which is posted to the 
corporate governance section of the website. 
It is the Board’s responsibility to ensure that 
an effective internal control framework exists 
within the entity. this includes internal 
controls to deal with both the effectiveness 
and efficiency of significant business 
processes. this includes the safeguarding of 
assets, the maintenance of proper accounting 
records, and the reliability of financial 
information as well as non-financial 
considerations. the Committee also provides 
the Board with additional assurance 
regarding the reliability of the financial 
information for inclusion in the financial 
reports.

the audit Committee is also responsible for:

• ensuring compliance with statutory 
responsibilities relating to accounting 
policy and disclosure;

• Liaising with, discussing and resolving 
relevant issues with the auditors;

• assessing the adequacy of accounting, 
financial and operating controls; and

• Reviewing half-year and annual financial 
statements before submission to the 
Board.

8. exteRnaL aUDItoRs

the Company’s current external auditors are 
ernst & Young. as noted in the audit 
Committee charter, the performance and 
independence of the auditors is reviewed by 
the audit Committee.

ernst & Young’s existing policy requires that 
its audit team provide a statement as to their 
independence. this statement was received 
by the audit Committee for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2007.

ernst & Young and the Corporations act 2001 
has a policy for the rotation of the lead audit 
partner. as a result of this policy, the head 
audit partner was rotated at the conclusion of 
the audit for the year ended 30 June 2006.

9. ContInUoUs DIsCLosURe

In accordance with asx principle 5, the Board 
has an established disclosure policy which is 
available on the Company website.

the Company is committed to:

• ensuring that stakeholders have the 
opportunity to access externally available 
information issued by the Company;

• providing full and timely information to the 
market about the Company’s activities; 
and

• Complying with the obligations contained 
in the asx Listing Rules and the 
Corporations act 2001 relating to 
continuous disclosure.

the Ceo and the Company secretary have 
been nominated as the people responsible for 
communication with the asx. this involves 
complying with the continuous disclosure 
requirements outlined in the asx Listing 
Rules, ensuring that disclosure with the asx 
is co-ordinated and being responsible for 
administering and implementing the policy.
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10. sHaReHoLDeR CoMMUnICatIon

In accordance with asx principle 6, the Board 
has established a communications strategy 
which is available on the Company website.

the Board aims to ensure that the 
shareholders, on behalf of whom they act, are 
informed of all information necessary and 
kept informed of all major developments 
affecting the Company in a timely and 
effective manner. Information is 
communicated to the market and 
shareholders through:

• the annual report which is distributed to 
all shareholders.

• Half yearly, quarterly reports and all asx 
announcements which are posted on the 
entity’s website.

• the annual general meeting and other 
meetings so called to obtain approval for 
Board action as appropriate.

• Continuous disclosure announcements 
made to the australian securities 
exchange.

further, it is a CLeRp 9 requirement that the 
auditor of the Company attends the annual 
general meeting. this provides shareholders 
the opportunity to question the auditor 
concerning the conduct of the audit and the 
preparation and content of the auditor’s 
Report.

11. RIsk ManaGeMent

the Board recognises the importance of 
identifying and controlling risks to ensure that 
they do not have a negative impact on the 
Company.

In accordance with the asx principle 7, the 
Board has an established Risk Management 
policy which is available on the Company 
website which is designed to safeguard the 
assets and interests of the Company and to 
ensure the integrity of reporting.

the Ceo and General Manager – finance & 
administration will inform the Board annually 
in writing that:

• the sign off given on the financial 
statements is founded on a sound system 
of risk management and internal control 
compliance which implements the policies 
adopted by the Board.

• the Company’s risk management and 
internal compliance and control systems 
is operating effectively and efficiently in all 
material respects.

the Board has established the following sub 
Committees to assist in internal control and 
business risk management:

• audit Committee

• Remuneration and nomination Committee

• environment and Community 
Development Committee

• safety, security and occupational Health 
Committee

• financial Risk Management Committee

the function of the audit Committee and the 
Remuneration and nomination Committee 
are outlined above. the function of the other 
Committees noted above are as follows:

Environment and Community 
Development Committee

the main responsibility of this Committee is 
to monitor and review RML’s environmental 
performance and compliance with relevant 
legislation and oversee Community Relations.

Information on compliance with significant 
environmental regulations is set out in the 
Directors’ Report.

Safety, Security and  
Occupational Health Committee

the main functions of this Committee are to 
oversee an employee education program 
designed to increase employee awareness of 
safety, security and health issues in the 
workplace and monitor safety statistics and 
report to the Board on the results of incident 
investigations.

Financial Risk Management Committee

the main responsibility of this Committee is 
to oversee risk management strategies in 
relation to gold hedging, currency hedging, 
debt management, capital management, cash 
management and insurance.

the Board members and their attendance at 
meetings is outlined in the Directors’ Report. 
senior members of management who 
specialise in each area also form part of the 
respective Committees.

12. ReMUneRatIon poLICIes

this policy governs the operations of the 
Remuneration and nomination Committee. 
the Committee reviews and reassesses the 
policy at least annually and obtains the 
approval of the Board.

the details of the Directors’ and officers’ 
remuneration policies are provided in the 
Directors’ Report under the heading 
“Remuneration Report”.

CoRpoRate GoVeRnanCe stateMent
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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AUDitors’  
iNDepeNDeNce DecLArAtioN
for the year ended 30 June 2007

 

 

 

 

 

GAB:KT:RESOLUTE:108 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under  
Professional Standards Legislation. 

 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Resolute Mining Limited 

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Resolute Mining Limited for the financial year ended 30 
June 2007, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct. 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
Gavin A Buckingham 
Partner 
Perth 
28 September 2007 
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note ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Continuing Operations
Revenue from gold sales 2(a) 185,297 194,393 – – 

other revenue 2(b) 6,851 3,172 130 81 

Cost of sales 2(c) (187,903) (172,293)  – – 

Gross profit 4,245 25,272 130 81 

other income 2(d) 184,388 538 163,412 1,000 

other expenses 2(e) (15,924) (11,803) (4,771) (2,172)

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations before 
unrealised treasury, tax and finance costs 172,709 14,007 158,771 (1,091)

Borrowing costs 2(f) (1,318) (2,497) (249) (1,146)

Profit/(loss) before unrealised treasury and tax 171,391 11,510 158,522 (2,237)

treasury – unrealised gains/(losses) 7,945 (114,460)  –  – 

Profit/(loss) before tax 179,336 (102,950) 158,522 (2,237)

Income tax (expense)/benefit 3 (9,340) 25,390 65 258 

Profit/(loss) from continuing 
operations after income tax 169,996 (77,560) 158,587 (1,979)

net loss attributable to minority interest 174 128  –  – 

Net profit/(loss) attributable to members 
of Resolute Mining Limited 170,170 (77,432) 158,587 (1,979)

Earnings per share for profit/(loss) from 
continuing operations attributable to the ordinary 
equity shareholders of the Company:

Basic earnings per share for profit/
(loss) for the year (cents per share) 44 73.91 (33.87)

Diluted earnings per share for profit/
(loss) for the year (cents per share) 44 73.55 (33.87)

the above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

iNcoMe stAteMeNts
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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bALANce sheets
as at 30 June 2007

note ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 67,661 13,992 1,460 – 

Receivables 6 16,358 10,859 21 7,506 

Inventories 7 31,834 29,902 – – 

available for sale financial assets 8 13,480 29,543 886 1,040 

financial derivative assets 9 205 465 – – 

Deferred expenditure 10 4,701 21,821 – – 

other 11 23,674 1,860 65 – 

Total Current Assets 157,913 108,442 2,432 8,546 

Non Current Assets
Receivables 12 – – 274,329 28,558 

financial derivative assets 13 300 4,876 – – 

exploration and evaluation 14 63,105 56,456 – – 

Development expenditure 15 54,841 14,633 – – 

property, plant and equipment 16 100,365 80,108 – – 

Deferred expenditure 17 21,537 21,199 – – 

Deferred tax assets 3 7,439 15,411  –  – 

other 18 6,310 – 76,803 116,804 

Total Non Current Assets 253,897 192,683 351,132 145,362 

Total Assets 411,810 301,125 353,564 153,908 

Current Liabilities
payables 19 34,908 30,093 209 272 

Interest bearing liabilities 20 3,367 10,839 – 7,854 

tax liabilities 21 5,069 10 – – 

financial derivative liabilities 22 32,702 71,847 – – 

provisions 23 4,414 3,717 – – 

Total Current Liabilities 80,460 116,506 209 8,126 

Non Current Liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 24 4,330 12,797 – – 

provisions 25 21,021 24,006 – – 

financial derivative liabilities 26 39,690 64,058 – – 

other liabilities 27 – – 83,456 35,583 

Deferred tax liabilities 3 1,673 103  –  – 

Total Non Current Liabilities 66,714 100,964 83,456 35,583 

Total Liabilities 147,174 217,470 83,665 43,709 

Net Assets 264,636 83,655 269,899 110,199 

Equity
Contributed equity 28 113,917 112,955 113,917 112,955 

Reserves 29 (1,936) (5,037) 754 603 

Retained profits/(accumulated losses) 30 150,239 (26,695) 155,228 (3,359)

parent entity interest in equity 262,220 81,223 269,899 110,199 

Minority interest 31 2,416 2,432 – – 

Total Equity 264,636 83,655 269,899 110,199 

the above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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IssUeD

CapItaL
RetaIneD 
eaRnInGs

foReIGn 
CURRenCY

tRansLatIon
 ReseRVe

HeDGe 
ReseRVe

pUt optIons
GaIn/(Loss)

HeDGe 
ReseRVe

foRWaRDs
GaIn/(Loss)

HeDGe 
ReseRVe

UneaRneD
InCoMe

sHaRe BaseD
paYMents

ReseRVe

UnReaLIseD 
GaIn/(Loss)

ReseRVe
eQUItY 

ReseRVe
MInoRItY
InteRest

totaL
eQUItY

Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

As at 1 July 2006 112,955 (26,695) (4,778) (1,950) (22,505) 5,398 366 11,668 6,764 2,432 83,655 

Currency translation differences  –  – (16,318)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (16,318)

Hedge reserve put options, net of tax  –  –  – 1,233  –  –  –  –  –  – 1,233 

Hedge reserve forwards, net of tax  –  –  –  – 36,156  –  –  –  –  – 36,156 

Hedge reserve unearned income, net of tax  –  –  –  –  – (5,398)  –  –  –  – (5,398)

Unrealised gains/(losses) reserve, net of tax  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (6,069)  –  – (6,069)

total income/(expense) for the period recognised directly in equity – – (16,318) 1,233 36,156 (5,398) – (6,069)  – – 9,604 

profit/(loss) for the period  – 170,170  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (174) 169,996 

total income and expense for the period – 170,170 (16,318) 1,233 36,156 (5,398) – (6,069) – (174) 179,600 

exercise of options 968  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 968 

share issue costs (6)  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (6)

share option reserve  –  –  –  –  –  – 261  –  –  – 261 

transfer to retained earnings on disposal of subsidiary  – 6,764  –  –  –  –  –  – (6,764)  – – 

Minority interest movement in share capital  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (1,227) (1,227)

Minority interest movement in reserves  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 1,304 1,304 

Minority interest movement in retained profits  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 81 81 

total other for the period recognised directly in equity 962 6,764 – – – – 261 – (6,764) 158 1,381 

As at 30 June 2007 113,917 150,239 (21,096) (717) 13,651 – 627 5,599 – 2,416 264,636 

As at 1 July 2005 112,483 50,737 (3,757) (4,834) (18,083) 9,637 268 2,022  – 1,255 149,728 

Currency translation differences  –  – (1,021)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (1,021)

Hedge reserve put options, net of tax  –  –  – 2,884  –  –  –  –  –  – 2,884 

Hedge reserve forwards, net of tax  –  –  –  – (4,422)  –  –  –  –  – (4,422)

Hedge reserve unearned income, net of tax  –  –  –  –  – (4,239)  –  –  –  – (4,239)

Unrealised gains/(losses) reserve, net of tax  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 9,646  –  – 9,646 

total income/(expense) for the period recognised directly in equity – – (1,021) 2,884 (4,422) (4,239) – 9,646  – – 2,848 

Loss for the period  – (77,432)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (128) (77,560)

total income and expense for the period – (77,432) (1,021) 2,884 (4,422) (4,239) – 9,646 – (128) (74,712)

exercise of options 480  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 480 

share issue costs (8)  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (8)

share option reserve  –  –  –  –  –  – 98  –  –  – 98 

equity reserve on subsidiary  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 6,764  – 6,764 

Minority interest movement in share capital  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 1,227 1,227 

Minority interest movement in reserves  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 306 306 

Minority interest movement in retained profits  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (228) (228)

total other for the period recognised directly in equity 472 – – – – – 98 – 6,764 1,305 8,639 

As at 30 June 2006 112,955 (26,695) (4,778) (1,950) (22,505) 5,398 366 11,668 6,764 2,432 83,655 

            the above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

stAteMeNt oF chANGes iN eQUitY
for the year ended 30 June 2007



51

 
IssUeD

CapItaL
RetaIneD 
eaRnInGs

foReIGn 
CURRenCY

tRansLatIon
 ReseRVe

HeDGe 
ReseRVe

pUt optIons
GaIn/(Loss)

HeDGe 
ReseRVe

foRWaRDs
GaIn/(Loss)

HeDGe 
ReseRVe

UneaRneD
InCoMe

sHaRe BaseD
paYMents

ReseRVe

UnReaLIseD 
GaIn/(Loss)

ReseRVe
eQUItY 

ReseRVe
MInoRItY
InteRest

totaL
eQUItY

Consolidated $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

As at 1 July 2006 112,955 (26,695) (4,778) (1,950) (22,505) 5,398 366 11,668 6,764 2,432 83,655 

Currency translation differences  –  – (16,318)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (16,318)

Hedge reserve put options, net of tax  –  –  – 1,233  –  –  –  –  –  – 1,233 

Hedge reserve forwards, net of tax  –  –  –  – 36,156  –  –  –  –  – 36,156 

Hedge reserve unearned income, net of tax  –  –  –  –  – (5,398)  –  –  –  – (5,398)

Unrealised gains/(losses) reserve, net of tax  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (6,069)  –  – (6,069)

total income/(expense) for the period recognised directly in equity – – (16,318) 1,233 36,156 (5,398) – (6,069)  – – 9,604 

profit/(loss) for the period  – 170,170  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (174) 169,996 

total income and expense for the period – 170,170 (16,318) 1,233 36,156 (5,398) – (6,069) – (174) 179,600 

exercise of options 968  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 968 

share issue costs (6)  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (6)

share option reserve  –  –  –  –  –  – 261  –  –  – 261 

transfer to retained earnings on disposal of subsidiary  – 6,764  –  –  –  –  –  – (6,764)  – – 

Minority interest movement in share capital  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (1,227) (1,227)

Minority interest movement in reserves  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 1,304 1,304 

Minority interest movement in retained profits  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 81 81 

total other for the period recognised directly in equity 962 6,764 – – – – 261 – (6,764) 158 1,381 

As at 30 June 2007 113,917 150,239 (21,096) (717) 13,651 – 627 5,599 – 2,416 264,636 

As at 1 July 2005 112,483 50,737 (3,757) (4,834) (18,083) 9,637 268 2,022  – 1,255 149,728 

Currency translation differences  –  – (1,021)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (1,021)

Hedge reserve put options, net of tax  –  –  – 2,884  –  –  –  –  –  – 2,884 

Hedge reserve forwards, net of tax  –  –  –  – (4,422)  –  –  –  –  – (4,422)

Hedge reserve unearned income, net of tax  –  –  –  –  – (4,239)  –  –  –  – (4,239)

Unrealised gains/(losses) reserve, net of tax  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 9,646  –  – 9,646 

total income/(expense) for the period recognised directly in equity – – (1,021) 2,884 (4,422) (4,239) – 9,646  – – 2,848 

Loss for the period  – (77,432)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (128) (77,560)

total income and expense for the period – (77,432) (1,021) 2,884 (4,422) (4,239) – 9,646 – (128) (74,712)

exercise of options 480  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 480 

share issue costs (8)  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (8)

share option reserve  –  –  –  –  –  – 98  –  –  – 98 

equity reserve on subsidiary  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 6,764  – 6,764 

Minority interest movement in share capital  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 1,227 1,227 

Minority interest movement in reserves  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 306 306 

Minority interest movement in retained profits  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (228) (228)

total other for the period recognised directly in equity 472 – – – – – 98 – 6,764 1,305 8,639 

As at 30 June 2006 112,955 (26,695) (4,778) (1,950) (22,505) 5,398 366 11,668 6,764 2,432 83,655 

            the above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Resolute Mining Limited $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

As at 1 July 2006 112,955 (3,359) 366 237 110,199 

Unrealised gains/(losses) reserve, net of tax – – – (110) (110)

total income/(expense) for the period 
recognised directly in equity – – – (110) (110)

profit for the period – 158,587 – – 158,587 

total income and expense for the period – 158,587 – (110) 158,477 

exercise of options 968 – – – 968 

share issue costs (6) – – – (6)

share option reserve – – 261 – 261 

total other for the period recognised directly in equity 962 – 261 – 1,223 

As at 30 June 2007 113,917 155,228 627 127 269,899 

As at 1 July 2005 112,483 (1,521) 268 (210) 111,020 

Unrealised gains/(losses) reserve, net of tax – – – 447 447 

total income/(expense) for the period 
recognised directly in equity – – – 447 447 

Loss for the period – (1,979) – – (1,979)

total income and expense for the period – (1,979) – 447 (1,532)

exercise of options 480 – – – 480 

share issue costs (8) – – – (8)

share option reserve – – 98 – 98 

total other for the period recognised directly in equity 472 – 98 – 570 

adjustment on adoption of aasB 139 – 141 – – 141 

As at 30 June 2006 112,955 (3,359) 366 237 110,199 

the above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

stAteMeNt oF chANGes iN eQUitY
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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cAsh FLoW stAteMeNts
for the year ended 30 June 2007

note ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 179,370 182,896  –  – 

payments to suppliers and employees (166,385) (175,104) (2,264) (1,864)

Interest received 4,470 996 67  – 

Interest and other costs of finance paid (907) (1,586) (682) (1,002)

Income taxes paid  – (1,914)  –  – 

net operating cash flows 32 16,548 5,288 (2,879) (2,866)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
expenditure on exploration and development areas (110,442) (19,807)  –  – 

payment for property, plant and equipment (22,366) (7,064)  –  – 

payments for available for sale financial assets (4,655) (3,044)  –  – 

proceeds from sale of property, 
plant and equipment 143 88  –  – 

Royalties received 2,162 846  –  – 

proceeds from sale of available 
for sale financial assets 199,499  – 170,525  – 

Cash outflow on disposal of subsidiary 35 (4,096)  –  –  – 

proceeds on sale of exploration properties  – 250  –  – 

Loan to controlled entities  –  – (176,545) (5,566)

Loans repaid by controlled entities  –  – 24,397 15,960 

net investing cash flows 60,245 (28,731) 18,377 10,394 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
proceeds from issues of securities 968 8,472 968 480 

Cost of issuing securities (6) (8) (6) (8)

proceeds from borrowings 12,580 306  –  – 

Repayment of borrowings (26,569) (8,156) (15,000) (8,000)

Repayment of lease liability (1,554) (275)  –  – 

net financing cash flows (14,581) 339 (14,038) (7,528)

net increase/(decrease) in cash held 62,212 (23,104) 1,460  – 

Cash assets held at the beginning of the year 13,992 36,144 – – 

exchange rate adjustment (8,543) 952  –  – 

Cash assets held at the end of the year 5 67,661 13,992 1,460 – 

the above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the  
FiNANciAL stAteMeNts
for the year ended 30 June 2007

CoRpoRate InfoRMatIon

the financial report of Resolute Mining Limited (“consolidated entity” or the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2007 was authorised for 
issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 28 september 2007.  

Resolute Mining Limited (the parent) is a company limited by shares incorporated in australia whose shares are publicly traded on the 
australian stock exchange.  

the nature of operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ Report.

note 1: sUMMaRY of sIGnIfICant aCCoUntInG poLICIes

the principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. these policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. the financial report includes separate financial statements for Resolute Mining 
Limited (“RML”) as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of RML and its subsidiaries.

(a) Basis of Preparation and Going Concern

this general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with australian accounting standards (aasB), other authoritative 
pronouncements of the aasB, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the Corporations act 2001.

compliance with iFrs

australian accounting standards include australian International financial Reporting standards (aIfRs). Compliance with aIfRs ensures 
that the consolidated financial statements and notes comply with International financial Reporting standards (IfRs). the parent entity 
financial statements and notes comply with IfRs except that it has elected to apply the relief provided to parent entities in respect of certain 
disclosure requirements contained in aasB 132 financial Instruments: presentation and Disclosure.

historical cost convention

these financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale 
financial assets, financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit and loss.

Going concern

as at 31 august 2007, the Group’s estimated committed capital expenditure requirements in connection with the redevelopment of the syama 
Gold Mine in Mali of approximately Us$42 million are in excess of the Group’s cash and bullion on hand of approximately a$35 million (or 
Us$28 million).  In addition, the Group plans to enter into further commitments for capital expenditure as the redevelopment progresses.

the majority of the committed capital expenditure is expected to be incurred prior to 31 December 2007.

notwithstanding this matter, management and the directors are satisfied the Group can continue on a going concern basis after having 
regard to the following mitigating factors:

(i) Management expects to receive approximately Us$33 million in cash from the mining contractors at its syama and Golden pride 
operations, representing the reimbursement of monies spent by the Group in connection with the acquisition of mining equipment to be 
used by the contractors.

 these monies are expected to be received in october 2007 once mining contracts have been finalised and signed with the respective 
mining contractors.

 to facilitate the reimbursement of monies to the Group, RML have agreed to provide financial support to the syama mining contractor 
(pW Mining International Ltd s.a.R.L.) by guaranteeing the repayment to its financier outstanding amounts borrowed under a loan 
facility to acquire the mining equipment.

(ii) the Group intends to raise additional funds via a capital raising to be undertaken in the short term.

(b) Principles of consolidation

(i) subsidiaries

the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of RML (“Company” or “parent entity”) as at 30 
June 2007 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. RML and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report 
as the “Group” or the “consolidated entity”.

subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. the existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. they are de-consolidated from the date that 
control ceases.

the purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.
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note 1: sUMMaRY of sIGnIfICant aCCoUntInG poLICIes continued

the Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with parties external to the Group. Disposals to 
minority interests result in gains and losses for the Group that are recorded in the income statement.

Minority interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income statement and balance sheet 
respectively.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of RML.

(ii) Joint Ventures

Jointly controlled assets

the proportionate interests in the assets, liabilities and expenses of a joint venture activity have been incorporated in the financial statements 
under the appropriate headings.

(c) Segment reporting

a business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns that 
are different to those of other business segments. a geographical segment is engaged in providing products and services within a particular 
economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic 
environments.

(d) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). the consolidated financial statements are presented in australian 
dollars, which is Resolute Mining Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii) transactions and balances

foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as 
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value 
gain or loss. translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in 
the fair value reserve in equity.

(iii) Group companies

the results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

• income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are 
translated at the dates of the transactions); and,

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

on consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other 
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold or 
borrowings repaid, a proportionate share of such exchange differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on 
sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing rate.

(e) Revenue recognition

(i)  Gold sales

Revenue is recognised when the risk has passed from the Group to an external party and the selling price can be determined with 
reasonable accuracy. sales revenue represents gross proceeds receivable from the customer. Certain sales are initially recognised at 
estimated sales value when the gold is dispatched. adjustments are made for variations in commodity price, assay and weight between the 
time of dispatch and the time of final settlement.
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note 1: sUMMaRY of sIGnIfICant aCCoUntInG poLICIes continued

Revenue from the sale of by-products such as silver is included in sales revenue.

(ii)  interest

Interest revenue is recognised when control of the right to receive the interest payment is received.

(f) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete 
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. other borrowing costs are expensed and are included in profit or loss as part of finance 
costs.

the capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted average interest rate applicable to 
the entity’s outstanding borrowings during the period.

(g) Income tax

the income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the national income tax 
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and by unused tax losses (if appropriate).

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

• except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and,

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, except where the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused 
tax losses, to the extent it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised:

• except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss; and,

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax 
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

tax consolidation legislation

RML and its wholly-owned australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2002.

Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Gst except:

• Where the Gst incurred on the purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the Gst is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and,

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of Gst included.

the net amount of Gst recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Balance 
sheets.

Cash flows are included in the Cash flow statements on a gross basis and the Gst component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

(h) Earnings per share (“EPS”)

Basic eps is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and 
preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.
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note 1: sUMMaRY of sIGnIfICant aCCoUntInG poLICIes continued

Diluted eps is calculated as the net profit attributable to members, adjusted for:

• Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;

• the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as expenses; 
and,

• other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary 
shares;

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and deposits held at financial institutions at call. any bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(j) Receivables

trade receivables are recognised at fair value less a provision for any uncollectible debts. trade receivables are due for settlement no more 
than 30 days from the date of recognition. Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectible are written off. a provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the transaction. the amount of the provision is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. the amount of the 
provision is recognised in the income statement.

Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at the nominal amount due. Where interest is charged it is taken up as income in 
profit and loss and included in other income.

(k) Inventories

finished goods, gold in circuit and stockpiles of unprocessed ore are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. Cost 
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated 
on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to ore stockpiles and gold in circuit items of inventory on the basis of weighted 
average costs. net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Consumables have been valued at cost less an appropriate provision for obsolescence. Cost is determined on a first-in-first-out basis.

(l) Investments and other financial assets

the Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, 
held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. the classification depends on the purpose for which the investments 
were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each 
reporting date.

(i)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

this category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial 
recognition. a financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated 
by management. the policy of management is to designate a financial asset if there exists the possibility it will be sold in the short term and 
the asset is subject to frequent changes in fair value. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as 
hedges. assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 
months of the balance sheet date.

(ii)  Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. they 
arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable. they are included in 
current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are classified as non-current 
assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the balance sheet.

(iii)  held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
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note 1: sUMMaRY of sIGnIfICant aCCoUntInG poLICIes continued

(iv)  Available-for-sale financial assets

available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non derivatives that are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any of the other categories. they are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of 
the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. 
financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and 
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and 
receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Realised and unrealised 
gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are included in the 
income statement in the period in which they arise. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of non-monetary 
securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity in the available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. When securities 
classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the income statement as gains 
and losses from investment securities.

the fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted 
securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. these include reference to the fair values of recent arm’s length 
transactions, involving the same instruments or other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option 
pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances.

the Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In 
the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is 
considered in determining whether the security is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative 
loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit and loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in 
the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.

(m) Derivatives

the Group uses derivative financial instruments such as gold options, gold forward contracts and interest rate swaps to manage the risks 
associated with commodity price and interest rate fluctuations.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair 
value. the method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if 
so, the nature of the item being hedged. the Group designates certain derivatives as either; (1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets 
or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or (2) hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).

the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are traded on an active market is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet 
date. the fair value of financial instruments not traded on an active market is determined using appropriate valuation techniques.

at the inception of the transaction, the Group documents the relationship between hedge instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. the Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly 
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

(i)  Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together 
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

(ii)  cash flow hedge

the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in equity in 
the hedging reserve. the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss (for 
instance when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition 
of a non financial asset (for example, inventory) or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred 
from equity and included in the measurement of the initial cost or carrying amount of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately 
recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was 
reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.
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(iii)  Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify 
for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement.

Interest rate swaps utilised to manage interest rate exposure are fair valued by reference to the market value of similar financial instruments 
with movements reported in the income statement where fair value hedge accounting criteria is not met.

embedded derivatives inherent in the Group’s contracts that change the nature of a host contract’s risk are separately recorded at fair value 
with movements reported in the income statement.

(n) Deferred mining costs

periodically, pre-strip and waste removal costs are incurred to enable mining of a new resource or a substantial re-design of a current pit. 
these pre-strip costs are deferred and amortised over the remaining life of the particular pit in accordance with the life of the pit strip ratio.

(o) Mineral exploration and development interests

(i)  Areas in exploration and evaluation

exploration and evaluation costs related to an area of interest are carried forward only when rights of tenure to the area of interest are 
current and provided that one of the following conditions is met:

• such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively by its 
sale; or

• exploration and/or evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a state which permits a reasonable assessment of 
the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area are 
continuing.

Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest that is abandoned are written off in the year in which the decision to abandon is made.

(ii)  Areas in Development

areas in development represent the costs incurred in preparing mines for production. the costs are carried forward to the extent that these 
costs are expected to be recouped through the successful exploitation of the Company’s mining leases.

(iii)  Areas in production

areas in production represent the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the 
entity in relation to areas of interest in which mining of a mineral resource has commenced. amortisation of costs is provided on the 
unit-of-production method, with separate calculations being made for each mineral resource. the unit-of-production basis results in an 
amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the economically recoverable mineral resources.

the net carrying value of each mine property is reviewed regularly and, to the extent to which this value exceeds its recoverable amount, that 
excess is fully provided against in the financial year in which this is determined.

(p) Property, plant and equipment

(i) cost and Valuation

property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises:

• Its purchase price, including import duties and non refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates;

• any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management; and,

• the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

(ii) Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other than land. Major depreciation periods are:

 Life Method
Motor vehicles 3 years straight line
office equipment 3 years straight line
plant and equipment 6 years straight line
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(iii) impairment

the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may not be recoverable.

for an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.

If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units 
are written down to their recoverable amount.

the recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

(q) Leases

finance leases, which effectively transfer to the consolidated entity all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments, disclosed as leased property, plant and equipment, and amortised over the 
period the consolidated entity is expected to benefit from the use of the leased assets. Lease payments are allocated between interest 
expense and reduction in the lease liability.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. finance charges are charges directly against income.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiation of an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease 
term on the same bases as the lease income.

operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement over the lease term.

(r) Acquisition of assets

the purchase method of accounting is used to account for all acquisitions of assets (including business combinations) regardless of whether 
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Where equity instruments are issued in an 
acquisition, the value of the instruments is their published market price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be 
demonstrated that the published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other evidence and valuation 
methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in 
equity.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as exploration and evaluation costs in the balance sheet. If the cost of 
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement, but only after a 
reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at 
the date of exchange. the discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be 
obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Business combinations

In applying the exemption available under aasB 1, the Group has elected not to restate its business combinations that occurred prior to 
transition date on 1 July 2004 for the impact of aasB 3 Business Combinations.

(s) Recoverable amount of assets

at each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.

Where an indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset’s 
value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which it belongs.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to that asset.
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(t) Payables

Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received, whether or not billed to the consolidated entity.

payables to related parties are carried at the principal amount. Interest, when charged by the lender, is recognised as an expense on an 
accruals basis.

(u) Interest-bearing liabilities

all loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with 
the borrowing.

after initial recognition, interest bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised and as well as through the amortisation 
process. treatment of borrowing costs is outlined in note 1(f).

(v) Provisions

provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

the consolidated entity records the present value of the estimated cost of legal and constructive obligations (such as those under the 
consolidated entity’s environmental policy) to restore operating locations in the period in which the obligation is incurred. the nature of 
restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and 
waste sites and restoration, reclamation and revegetation of affected areas.

typically the obligation arises when the asset is installed at the production location. When the liability is initially recorded, the estimated cost 
is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets. over time, the liability is increased for the change in the present 
value based on the discount rates that reflect the current market assessments and the risks specific to the liability. additional disturbances 
or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognised as additions or changes to the corresponding asset and rehabilitation liability when 
incurred.

the unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is recorded as a finance cost in the income statement. the carrying amount 
capitalised is depreciated over the life of the related asset.

(w) Employee benefits

(i)  Wages, salaries and Annual Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave are recognised in other creditors in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities 
for non accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rates paid or payable.

(ii)  Long service leave

the liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date is recognised in the provision for employee 
benefits and is measured in accordance with (i) above. the liability for long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months from 
the reporting date is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be 
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting 
date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows.

(iii)  termination Gratuity and relocation

Liabilities for termination Gratuity and Relocation payments are recognised and are measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of employees up to the reporting date.
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(iv)  share based payments

equity-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Group’s share option plan. Under aasB 2 share Based payments, the 
Group determines the fair value of options issued to directors, executives and members of staff as remuneration and recognises that amount 
as an expense in the income statement over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity.

the Group has taken advantage of the exemption in aasB 1 first-time adoption of australian equivalents to International financial Reporting 
standards not to apply aasB 2 to equities vested prior to 7 november 2002.

the fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, 
the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the option, the share price at 
grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the 
option.

the fair value of the options granted excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth 
targets). non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. 
at each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. the employee 
benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the most recent estimate.

(v)  superannuation

Contributions made by the Group to employee superannuation funds are charged to the income statement in the period employees’ services 
are provided.

(x) Contributed equity

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, or for the acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of 
the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

(y) Financial Guarantees

for financial guarantee contract liabilities, the fair value at initial recognition is determined using a probability weighted discounted cash flow 
approach. the method takes into account the probability of default by the guaranteed part over the term of the contract, the loss given will 
default (being the proportion of the exposure that is not expected to be recovered in the event of default) and the exposure at default (being 
the maximum loss at the time of default).

change in accounting policy

the policy of recognising financial guarantee contracts as financial liabilities was adopted for the first time in the financial year ended 30 June 
2007. In previous reporting periods, a liability for financial guarantee contracts was only recognised if it was probable that the debtor would 
default and a payment would be required under the contract.

the change in policy was necessary following the change to aasB 139 financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement made by aasB 
2005-9. the new policy has been applied retrospectively and comparative information in relation to the 2006 financial year has been restated 
accordingly. the following adjustments were made as at 30 June 2006:

parent entity

30 JUne 2006
InCRease/
(DeCRease)

ReVIseD  
30 JUne 2006

$’000 $’000 $’000

Investments in controlled entities 116,388 416 116,804

other financial liabilities – (194) (194)

Retained earnings 2006 (2,060) 81 (1,979)

Retained earnings (prior periods) (1,521) 141 (1,380)

there was no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group or the earnings per share disclosed.
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(z) Significant accounting judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from those involving 
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i)  Determination of mineral resources and ore reserves

the determination of reserves impacts the accounting for asset carrying values, depreciation and amortisation rates, deferred stripping 
costs and provisions for decommissioning and restoration. the information in this report as it relates to ore reserves, mineral resources or 
mineralisation is reported in accordance with the aus.IMM “australian Code for reporting of Identified Mineral Resources and ore Reserves”. 
the information has been prepared by or under supervision of competent persons as identified by the Code.

there are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral resources and ore reserves and assumptions that are valid at the time of 
estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available.

Changes in the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the economic status of 
reserves and may, ultimately, result in the reserves being restated.

(aa) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events. the key 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

(i)  impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure

the future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of factors, including whether the 
Group decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset 
through sale.

factors which could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future technological changes which could 
impact the cost of mining, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity 
prices.

to the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the future, this will reduce profits 
and net assets in the period in which this determination is made.

In addition, exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised if activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits 
a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. to the extent that it is determined in the future 
that this capitalised expenditure should be written off, this will reduce profits and net assets in the period in which this determination is 
made.

(ii)  impairment of capitalised mine development expenditure

the future recoverability of capitalised mine development expenditure is dependent on a number of factors, including the level of proved and 
probable reserves and measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources, future technological changes which could impact the cost of 
mining, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices.

to the extent that capitalised mine development expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the future, this will reduce profits and net 
assets in the period in which this determination is made.

(iii)  Life-of-mine stripping ratio

the Group has adopted a policy of deferring production stage stripping costs and amortising them in accordance with the life-of-mine strip 
ratio. significant judgement is required in determining this ratio for each mine. factors that are considered include:

• any proposed changes in the design of the mine;

• estimates of the quantities of ore reserves and mineral resources for which there is a high degree of confidence of economic extraction;

• future production levels;

• future commodity prices; and,

• future cash costs of production and capital expenditure.

(iv)  provisions for decommissioning and restoration costs

Decommissioning and restoration costs are a normal consequence of mining, and the majority of this expenditure is incurred at the end of a 
mine’s life. In determining an appropriate level of provision consideration is given to the expected future costs to be incurred, the timing of 
these expected future costs (largely dependent on the life of the mine), and the estimated future level of inflation.
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the ultimate cost of decommissioning and restoration is uncertain and costs can vary in response to many factors including changes to the 
relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new restoration techniques or experience at other mine-sites. the expected timing of 
expenditure can also change, for example in response to changes in reserves or to production rates.

Changes to any of the estimates could result in significant changes to the level of provisioning required, which would in turn impact future 
financial results.

(v)  recoverability of potential deferred income tax assets

the Group recognises deferred income tax assets in respect of tax losses and temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that the 
future utilisation of these losses and temporary differences is considered probable. assessing the future utilisation of these losses and 
temporary differences requires the Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. estimates of future 
taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws. to the extent that future cash flows 
and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, this could result in significant changes to the deferred income tax assets recognised, 
which would in turn impact future financial results.

(vi)  share based payments

the Group measures the cost of cash settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value at the grant date using the Black 
scholes formula taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted, as discussed in note 40(b).

(vii) Fair value of derivative financial instruments

the Group assesses the fair value of its financial derivatives in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1(m).  fair values have 
been determined based on well established valuation models and market conditions existing at the balance date.  these calculations require 
the use of estimates and assumptions.  Changes in assumptions concerning interest rates, gold prices and volatilities could have significant 
impact on the fair valuation attributed to the Group’s financial derivatives.  When these assumptions change or become known in the future, 
such differences will impact asset  and liability carrying values and the hedging reserve in the period in which they change or become known.

(ab) New accounting standards and UIG interpretations

the following new accounting standards have been issued or amended but are not yet effective. these standards have not been adopted by 
the Group for the period ended 30 June 2007, and no change to the Group’s accounting policy is required:

RefeRenCe tItLe sUMMaRY appLICatIon 
Date of 
stanDaRD

IMpaCt on GRoUp 
fInanCIaL RepoRt

appLICatIon 
Date foR 
GRoUp

aasB 
2005-10

amendments to australian 
accounting standards 
[aasB 132, aasB 101, 
aasB 114, aasB 117, 
aasB 133, aasB 139, 
aasB 1, aasB 4, aasB 
1023 & aasB 1038]

amendments arise from the 
release in aug 05 of aasB 7 
financial Instruments Disclosures.

1 January 
2007

aasB 7 is a disclosure 
standard so will have 
no direct impact on the 
amounts included in 
the Group’s financial 
statements.

1 July 2007

aasB  
2007-3

amendments to australian 
accounting standards 
arising from aasB 8 
[aasB 6, aasB 102, aasB 
107, aasB 119, aasB 127, 
aasB 134, aasB 136, 
aasB 1023 & aasB 1038]

amending standard issued 
as a consequence of aasB 
8 operating segments.

1 January 
2009

aasB 8 is a disclosure 
standard so will have 
no direct impact on the 
amounts included in 
the Group’s financial 
statements. 

1 July 2009

aasB  
2007-4

amendments to australian 
accounting standards 
arising from eD 151 and 
other amendments

the standard is a result of the 
aasB decision that all accounting 
policy options currently existing 
in IfRs should be included 
in the australian equivalents 
to IfRs and the additional 
australian disclosures should 
be eliminated, other than those 
considered particularly relevant.

1 July 2007 Changes to the 
disclosure standard 
will have no direct 
impact on the amounts 
included in the Group’s 
financial statements. 

1 July 2007

aasB  
2007-7

amendments to  australian 
accounting standards 
[aasB 1, aasB 2, 
aasB 4, aasB 5, aasB 
107 & aasB 128]

amending standard issued as a 
consequence of aasB 2007-4.

1 July 2007 Refer to aasB 
2007-4 above.

1 July 2007
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RefeRenCe tItLe sUMMaRY appLICatIon 
Date of 
stanDaRD

IMpaCt on GRoUp 
fInanCIaL RepoRt

appLICatIon 
Date foR 
GRoUp

aasB 101 
(revised 
october 
2006)

presentation of 
financial statements

Disclosures and guidance from 
the previous Gaap are not 
carried forward in the october 
2006 version of aasB 101.

1 January 
2007

Changes to the 
disclosure standard 
will have no direct 
impact on the amounts 
included in the Group’s 
financial statements. 

1 July 2007

UIG 9 Reassessment of 
embedded Derivatives

Clarifies that an entity reassesses 
whether an embedded derivative 
contained in a host contract must 
be separated from the host and 
accounted for as a derivative 
under aasB 139 only when 
there is a change in the terms 
of the contract that significantly 
modifies the cash flows that 
otherwise would be required. 

1 June 2006 Unless the Group enters in 
arrangements containing 
embedded derivatives in 
future reporting periods, 
these amendments 
are not expected to 
have any impact. 

1 July 2007

aasB 8 operating segments new standard replacing aasB 114. 1 January 
2009

Refer to 2007-3 above. 1 July 2009

aasB 7 financial Instruments 
Disclosure

new standard replacing disclosure 
requirements from aasB 132.

1 January 
2007

Refer to 2005-10 above. 1 July 2007

the following new accounting standards have been issued or amended but are deemed not applicable to the Group and therefore have no 
impact:  

• aasB 2007-2 – amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB Interpretation 12 [aasB 1, aasB 117, aasB 118, 
aasB 120, aasB 121, aasB 127, aasB 131 &  aasB 139]

• aasB 2007-6 – amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB 123 [aasB 1, aasB 101, aasB 107, aasB 111, aasB 
116 & aasB 138 and Interpretations 1 & 12]

• aasB 123 (revised June 2007) – Borrowing Costs
• aasB Interpretation 10 – Interim financial Reporting and Impairment
• aasB Interpretation 11 – Group and treasury share transactions
• aasB Interpretation 12 – service Concession arrangements
• aasB Interpretation 129 (revised June 2007) – service Concession arrangements: Disclosures
• IfRIC Interpretation 13 – Customer Loyalty programmes
• IfRIC Interpretation 14 – Ias 19 – the asset Ceiling: availability of economic Benefits and Minimum funding Requirements.
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ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

note 2:  pRofIt/(Loss) fRoM ContInUInG 
opeRatIons

(a)  Revenues from gold sales
Gold sales 185,297 194,393  –  – 

185,297 194,393 – – 

(b)  Other revenue
Royalty income 2,243 2,161  –  – 

Interest income – other persons/corporations 4,608 1,011 69  – 

other  –  – 61 81 

6,851 3,172 130 81 

(c)  Cost of sales
Cost of production 165,388 148,862  –  – 

amortisation of exploration, development & rehabilitation costs 3,511 3,983  –  – 

Depreciation of mine properties, plant & equipment 11,129 11,545  –  – 

Royalty 6,406 6,251  –  – 

operational support costs 1,469 1,652  –  – 

total cost of sales 187,903 172,293 – – 

(d)  Other income
profit on sale of plant and equipment  – 81  –  – 

profit on sale of available for sale financial assets 25,679  –  – 1,000 

profit on sale of subsidiary 154,414  – 132,225  – 

net write off of loans to/from controlled entities  –  – 31,187  – 

foreign exchange gain  – 126  –  – 

other income 243 331  –  – 

Realised gain on gold options 4,052  –  –  – 

total other income 184,388 538 163,412 1,000 

(e)  Other expenses from ordinary activities
Management and administration expenses 4,415 3,807 2,504 1,818 

foreign exchange loss 7,710  – 1,700  – 

Insurance costs 465 491 53 98 

Loss on sale of plant and equipment 19  –  –  – 

operating lease expense 514 319  –  – 

Write down of mineral exploration and development costs 968 221 144  – 

Depreciation of non mine site assets 153 108  –  – 

Realised loss on gold options  – 6,601  –  – 

Realised loss on net settlement of gold forward sales contracts 722  –  –  – 

Realised loss on gold loan 588  –  –  – 

share based payment expense 370 256 370 256 

total other expenses from ordinary activities 15,924 11,803 4,771 2,172 

(f) Borrowing costs
Interest and fees paid/payable to other entities 907 2,067 249 1,146 

Rehabilitation provision discount adjustment 411 430  –  – 

total borrowing costs 1,318 2,497 249 1,146 

(g)  Employee benefit expense
salaries 23,009 19,891  –  – 

superannuation 438 348  –  – 

share based payment expense 370 256 370 256 

23,817 20,495 370 256 
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ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

note 3: InCoMe tax

(a)  Income tax expense/(benefit) attributable 
to continuing operations

Current tax expense 5,060 1,688  –  – 

Deferred tax expense/(benefit) 4,280 (27,078) (65) (258)

Income tax expense/(benefit) attributable to 
profit/(loss) from continuing operations 9,340 (25,390) (65) (258)

(b)  Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense/
(benefit) to prima facie tax expense/(benefit)

profit/(loss) from continuing operations 
before income tax expense/(benefit) 179,336 (102,950) 158,522 (2,237)

prima facie income tax expense/(benefit) at 30% (2006: 30%) 53,801 (30,885) 47,557 (671)

tax effect of permanent differences:

–  derecognition/(recognition) of tax losses previously 
used to offset deferred tax liabilities 2,811 4,202 28 (136)

–  recognition of tax losses to offset current year tax expense (51,267) (903) (38,405)  – 

–  tax benefit of investment allowance (4,332) (3,702)  –  – 

–  current year losses incurred for which no 
deferred tax asset has been recognised 7,256 7,910  – 873 

–  effect of different rates of tax on overseas income 944  –  –  – 

–  effect of adoption of aasB 132 and aasB 139  – (1,975)  –  – 

–  intra australian tax consolidated group 
profit on sale of investment  –  –  – (300)

–  intra australian tax consolidated group diminution 
of investments and loans to subsidiaries  –  – (9,356)  – 

–  effect of share based payments expense not deductible 111 77  –  – 

–  prior year over provision (53)  –  –  – 

–  other 69 (114) 111 (24)

Income tax expense/(benefit) attributable to 
profit/(loss) from continuing operations 9,340 (25,390) (65) (258)

(c)  Amounts recognised directly in equity 

amounts debited directly to equity 5,398 4,321 65 258 

(d) Tax losses

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised (potential tax benefit at 30%) 118,711 107,433  –  – 

a deferred income tax asset has not been recognised for these amounts at balance date as realisation of the benefit is not regarded as 
probable.  the future benefit will only be obtained if:

(i)   future assessable income is derived of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised;
(ii)  the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and,
(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the benefit. 

(e)  Unrecognised temporary differences

as at 30 June 2007, aggregate unrecognised temporary differences of $6.3m (2006: $1.4m) are in respect of investments in foreign controlled 
entities for which no deferred tax liabilities have been recognised for amounts which arise upon translation of their financial statements. 
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note 3: InCoMe tax continued

(f)  Movements in the deferred tax assets balance

Balance at the beginning of the year 15,411 1,621  –  – 

Change on adoption of aasB 132 and aasB 139  – (1,621)  –  – 

Credited/(charged) to equity 2,599 836  –  – 

Credited/(charged) to the income statement (10,594) 14,424  –  – 

foreign exchange 23 151  –  – 

Balance as at the end of the year 7,439 15,411  –  – 

the deferred tax assets balance comprises 
temporary differences attributable to:

payables  – 244  –  – 

Lease liabilities  – 387  –  – 

provision for site restoration 6,642 7,106  –  – 

other liabilities 45  – 40  – 

financial derivative liabilities 21,721 40,671  –  – 

Receivables  – (180)  – 58 

tax losses (i) 7,713 10,032 15 43 

36,121 58,260 55 101 

set off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set off provisions (28,682) (42,849) (55) (101)

net deferred tax assets 7,439 15,411 – – 

(i)  this amount includes tax losses recognised against deferred 
tax liabilities in foreign entities of $7.7m (2006: $9.9m).

(g)  Movements in the deferred tax liabilities balance

Balance at the beginning of the year 103 7,378 –  – 

Change on adoption of aasB 132 and aasB 139  – 354  –  – 

(Credited)/charged to equity 7,997 5,157  –  – 

(Credited)/charged to the income statement (6,314) (12,654)  –  – 

foreign exchange (113) (132)  –  – 

Balance as at the end of the year 1,673 103  –  – 

the deferred tax liabilities balance comprises 
temporary differences attributable to:

Inventories 137 113 55 101 

available for sale financial assets 2,409 5,010  –  – 

financial derivative assets 152 1,602  –  – 

Mineral exploration and development interests 18,446 16,045  –  – 

property, plant and equipment 4,492 13,539  –  – 

Deferred expenditure 4,678 6,643  –  – 

other 41  –  –  – 

30,355 42,952 55 101 

set off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set off provisions (28,682) (42,849) (55) (101)

net deferred tax liabilities 1,673 103 – – 
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note 3: InCoMe tax continued

(h)   The equity balance comprises temporary 
differences attributable to:

Hedge reserve – gold put options (274) (836)  –  – 

Hedge reserve – forwards 6,270 (6,751)  – –

Hedge reserve – unearned income  – 1,619  –  – 

Unrealised gain/(loss) reserve 2,399 5,000 55 101 

other 268 157 268 157 

8,663 (811) 323 258 

set off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set off provisions 1,055 5,132  –  – 

net temporary differences in equity 9,718 4,321 323 258 

(i)  Tax consolidation

Resolute Mining Limited and its wholly owned australian 
controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation 
legislation on 1 July 2002.  on adoption of the tax consolidation 
legislation, the entities in the tax consolidated group entered 
into a tax sharing agreement, which limits the joint and 
several liability of the wholly owned entities in the case of 
a default by the head entity, Resolute Mining Limited.

the entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement 
under which the wholly owned entities fully compensate 
Resolute Mining Limited for any current tax payable assumed 
and are compensated by Resolute Mining Limited for any 
current tax receivable.  the funding amounts are determined 
by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly owned 
entities’ financial statements.  the head entity and controlled 
entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account 
for their own current and deferred tax amounts.  the Group 
has applied the group allocation approach in determining 
the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes 
to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group.

the amount receivable/payable under the tax funding 
agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from 
the head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after 
the end of each financial year.  the head entity may also 
require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its 
obligations to pay tax instalments.  the tax funding agreement 
requires payments to/from the head entity to be recognised 
via an inter-entity receivable/payable which is at call.

note 4: DIVIDenDs paID oR pRoVIDeD foR

there were no dividends paid or provided for during the year.

the amount of franking credits available for the 
subsequent financial year is as follows. the amount 
has been determined using a tax rate of 30%. 5,453 5,453 4,646 4,646 

note 5: CasH

Cash at bank and on hand 66,201 7,234  –  – 

short term deposits 1,460 6,758 1,460  – 

67,661 13,992 1,460  – 
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note 5: CasH continued

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates 
based on daily bank deposit rates.

short-term deposits are made for varying periods depending 
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and 
earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates.

the fair value of cash and cash equivalents 
is equal to their book value.

the short term deposit of $1.5m is subject to certain restrictions 
pursuant to the Group’s performance bond credit facility 
agreement. the restrictions involve the Group maintaining a 
retention account requiring a minimum balance. the statement 
has been prepared on the basis that the cash which is subject 
to certain restrictions is still cash or a cash equivalent.

note 6:  tRaDe anD otHeR ReCeIVaBLes 
(CURRent)

sundry debtors (a) 16,388 10,879 21 6 

provision for doubtful debts (155) (170)  –  – 

Loans receivable from controlled entities (b)  –  –  – 7,500 

Bullion on hand 125 150  –  – 

16,358 10,859 21 7,506 
a)  sundry debtors are non interest bearing and 

are generally on 30-90 day terms.

b) this loan is interest free and is repayable on demand.

note 7: InVentoRIes (CURRent)

Gold in circuit at cost 8,094 11,652  –  – 

Consumables at cost 19,178 14,906  –  – 

ore stockpiles at cost 3,806 1,092  –  – 

ore stockpiles at net realisable value 756 2,252  –  – 

31,834 29,902  –  – 

Refer to note 20 for details of amount pledged as security.

note 8:  aVaILaBLe foR saLe fInanCIaL assets 
(CURRent)

shares at fair value – listed 13,480 26,365 886 1,040 

other securities at fair value – unlisted  – 3,178  –  – 

13,480 29,543 886 1,040 

available for sale financial assets consist of 
investments in ordinary shares, and therefore 
have no maturity date or coupon rate.

the fair value of the unlisted available for sale investments 
has been estimated using valuation techniques based 
on assumptions that are not supported by observable 
market prices or rates. Management believes the 
estimated fair values resulting from the valuation 
techniques and recorded in the balance sheet and the 
related changes in fair values recorded in the income 
statement or unrealised gain/loss reserve are reasonable 
and the most appropriate at the balance sheet date.



notes to tHe fInanCIaL stateMents
for the year ended 30 June 2007

71

ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

note 9:  fInanCIaL DeRIVatIVe assets  
(CURRent)

Gold put options 205 416  –  – 

Lease rate swap  – 49  –  – 

205 465  –  – 

the consolidated entity considers that lease rate 
swaps provide an economic hedge for future gold 
production, however are not considered effective 
hedges per accounting criteria. Refer to note 45.

note 10: DefeRReD expenDItURe (CURRent)
Deferred mining costs 4,701 21,821  –  – 

4,701 21,821  –  – 

note 11: otHeR assets (CURRent)

prepayments 1,610 1,860 65  – 

other (a) 22,064  –  –  – 

23,674 1,860 65  – 
(a)  this amount relates to advances paid by the Group for 

the syama mining fleet which will be reimbursed by the 
mining contractor, pW Mining International Ltd s.a.R.L.

note 12: ReCeIVaBLes (non CURRent)

Loans receivable from controlled entities (a)  –  – 274,329 28,558 

 –  – 274,329 28,558 
(a) these loans are interest free and are repayable  
     on demand.

note 13:  fInanCIaL DeRIVatIVe assets  
(non CURRent)

Gold put options 300 4,876  –  – 

300 4,876  –  – 
the consolidated entity considers that gold put options 
provide an economic hedge for future gold production, 
however are only partially considered effective 
hedges per accounting criteria. Refer to note 45.
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note 14:  MIneRaL expLoRatIon anD eVaLUatIon 
expenDItURe (non CURRent)

the consolidated entity has gold mineral exploration 
and evaluation expenditure carried forward in respect 
of areas of interest in the following phases:

areas in production (at cost)

Balance at beginning of the year 19,222 19,745  –  – 

 – expenditure for the year 3,285 2,897  –  – 

 – amount amortised during the year (3,087) (3,851)  –  – 

 – foreign currency translation (621) 145  –  – 

 – Movement in rehabilitation obligations (1,074) 286  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year 17,725 19,222  –  – 

areas in exploration and evaluation (at cost)

Balance at beginning of the year 37,234 23,683  –  – 

 – acquired, disposed, revalued during the year (1,987) 179  –  – 

 – expenditure for the year 14,210 13,175 144  – 

 – amounts written off during the year (a) (968) (163) (144)  – 

 – foreign currency translation (3,109) 369  –  – 

 – other  – (9)  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year 45,380 37,234  –  – 

total exploration and evaluation 63,105 56,456  –  – 

Ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward, in respect of 
areas of interest in the exploration and evaluation phase, is 
dependent upon the successful development and commercial 
exploitation, or alternatively the sale of the respective areas at 
an amount at least equivalent to the carrying value. for areas 
which do not meet the criteria of the accounting policy per note 
1(o), those amounts are charged to the Income statements.
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note 15:  DeVeLopMent expenDItURe  
(non CURRent)

Balance at beginning of the year (at cost) 14,633 10,303  –  – 

 – transfers to property, plant and equipment and inventories (22,037)  – – –

 – expenditure for the year 64,157 3,432  –  – 

 – amount written off during the year  – (59)  –  – 

 – foreign currency translation (1,912) 957  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year 54,841 14,633  –  – 

note 16:  pRopeRtY, pLant & eQUIpMent  
(non CURRent)

Buildings – at cost 6,018 5,248  –  – 

accumulated depreciation (2,753) (2,637)  –  – 

net carrying amount 16(a) 3,265 2,611  –  – 

Mine properties, plant and equipment – at cost 132,736 114,720  –  – 

accumulated depreciation (42,917) (39,741)  –  – 

net carrying amount 16(a) 89,819 74,979  –  – 

Motor vehicles – at cost 2,830 2,107  –  – 

accumulated depreciation (1,565) (1,461)  –  – 

net carrying amount 16(a) 1,265 646  –  – 

office equipment – at cost 1,444 1,302  –  – 

accumulated depreciation (807) (646)  –  – 

net carrying amount 16(a) 637 656  –  – 

plant & equipment under lease at capitalised cost 7,116 1,536  –  – 

accumulated amortisation (1,737) (320)  –  – 

net carrying amount 16(a) 5,379 1,216  –  – 

total property, plant & equipment

Cost 150,144 124,913  –  – 

accumulated depreciation & amortisation (49,779) (44,805)  –  – 

total written down amount 100,365 80,108  –  – 
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note 16:  pRopeRtY, pLant & eQUIpMent  
(non CURRent) continued

(a)  Reconciliations

buildings 
Written down value at the beginning of the year 2,611 3,160  –  – 

additions 1,202 35  –  – 

Depreciation expense (492) (602)  –  – 

net foreign exchange movement (56) 18  –  – 

Written down value at the end of the year 3,265 2,611  –  – 

Mine properties, plant and equipment
Written down value at the beginning of the year 74,979 79,914  –  – 

additions 13,864 6,273  –  – 

transfers/reallocations 18,787  –  –  – 

Disposals (43)  –  –  – 

Depreciation expense (12,134) (10,154)  –  – 

net foreign exchange movement (5,634) (1,054)  –  – 

Written down value at the end of the year 89,819 74,979  –  – 

Motor vehicles
Written down value at the beginning of the year 646 933  –  – 

additions 851 187  –  – 

transfers/reallocations 262  –  –  – 

Disposals  – (7)  –  – 

Depreciation expense (421) (487)  –  – 

net foreign exchange movement (73) 20  –  – 

Written down value at the end of the year 1,265 646  –  – 

office equipment
Written down value at the beginning of the year 656 605  –  – 

additions 287 263  –  – 

transfers/reallocations (17)  –  –  – 

Depreciation expense (257) (218)  –  – 

net foreign exchange movement (32) 6  –  – 

Written down value at the end of the year 637 656  –  – 

plant & equipment under lease – at capitalised cost
Written down value at the beginning of the year 1,216 1,102  –  – 

additions 5,580 306  –  – 

amortisation expense (1,417) (192)  –  – 

Written down value at the end of the year 5,379 1,216  –  – 

total property, plant and equipment 100,365 80,108  –  – 

Refer to note 20 for information on encumbrances over property, plant and equipment.
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note 17: DefeRReD expenDItURe (non CURRent)

Deferred mining costs 21,537 21,199  –  – 

21,537 21,199  –  – 

note 18: otHeR assets (non CURRent)

shares on controlled entities – at cost (note 37) (i) – – 76,803 116,804

prepayments (ii) 6,310 – – –

6,310 – 76,803 116,804

(i) the shares in controlled entities are carried at cost.
(ii) amount represents monies paid in connection with mining 
assets for the syama operation.

note 19: paYaBLes (CURRent)

trade creditors and accruals 34,554 29,862 209 272 

other creditors 354 231  –  – 

34,908 30,093 209 272 

payables are non interest bearing and 
generally settled on 30-90 day terms.

note 20: InteRest BeaRInG LIaBILItIes (CURRent)

Lease liability (a) – note 34 1,564 281  –  – 

Borrowings (b)  – 8,609  – 7,854 

Gold loan (c) 1,803 1,949  –  – 

3,367 10,839  – 7,854 

(a)  During the financial year ended 30 June 2005, Carpentaria Gold pty Ltd (“CGpL”) entered into a finance lease with esanda finance 
Corporation Limited for the purchase of an oxygen plant for the Ravenswood project. Monthly instalments are required under the terms 
of the contract which has an expiration date of november 2008. RML has provided an unsecured parent entity guarantee to esanda in 
relation to this finance lease.

 During the financial year ended 30 June 2006, CGpL entered into a hire purchase agreement with esanda finance Corporation Limited 
for the purchase of underground mining equipment which will be used at Mt Wright, Ravenswood. Monthly instalments are required 
under the terms of the contract which has an expiration date of June 2009.

(b)  the term of the hedging facilities with standard Bank has been extended to 30 June 2009 and it is secured by a fixed and floating charge 
over the assets of Mabangu Mining Limited (“MML”) and Resolute (tanzania) Limited (“RtL”) (the total assets for MML and RtL at 
balance date are $81m), a floating charge over the cash held by MML and RtL, a share mortgage over Resolute pty Ltd’s shareholding 
in RtL, a share mortgage over RtL’s shareholding in MML and a mortgage over the key tenure held by RtL. the facility is project 
recourse only.

 the hedging facility with aBn aMRo Bank n.V, nM Rothschild & sons and Investec Bank (australia) Limited (Ravenswood financiers) 
(including the gold loan) are secured by the following:
(i) fixed and floating charges over all of the current and future assets of CGpL, including the project, bank accounts, hedging 

contracts and material ongoing agreements, (total assets at balance date $113m);
(ii) mortgage over RML’s shares in CGpL;
(iii) mortgages over CGpL’s key mining tenements;
(iv) assignment of rights under insurance policies; and,
(v) tripartite agreements covering material project operating agreements.

In addition, Resolute pty Ltd and CGpL have provided unsecured guarantees to the Ravenswood financiers.

In 2004, a $6m performance bond facility was provided by the Ravenswood financiers to the Resolute group. the term of this facility was 
to 30 June 2007. subsequent to year end, a $7.5m cash backed performance bond facility has been provided by anZ Bank, and this has 
replaced the previous facility in august 2007.

(c)  this balance represents the current portion of a secured loan to fund the purchase of gold put options. the repayment dates coincide 
with the expiry date of the gold put options. the put options expire between september 2007 and september 2008.

(d)  the total assets of the entities over which security exists amounts to a$194m.
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note 21: tax LIaBILItIes (CURRent)

tax payable 5,069 10  –  – 

5,069 10  –  – 

note 22:  fInanCIaL DeRIVatIVe LIaBILItIes 
(CURRent)

Gold forwards 32,702 59,541  –  – 

Gold call options  – 12,306  –  – 

32,702 71,847  –  – 
(a) the current derivative liabilities are partially secured and 

partially unsecured. all of Carpentaria Gold pty Ltd and 
Resolute (tanzania) Limited’s derivative liabilities are 
secured by their respective financiers. all of Resolute 
(treasury) pty Ltd’s derivative liabilities are unsecured. 
the unsecured current balance amounts to $11.0m (2006: 
$22.5m).

(b)  Included in the derivative liabilities balance above is an 
amount of $5.2m (2006: $13.1m) relating to undesignated 
hedging commitments that do not mature in the next 12 
months.

(c)  the consolidated entity considers that gold forwards and 
gold put options are an economic hedge for future gold 
production, however are only partially considered effective 
hedges per accounting criteria. 

note 23: pRoVIsIons (CURRent)

employee entitlements (note 40) 2,601 2,162  –  – 

Dividend payable 69 170  –  – 

site restoration (note 25(i)) 1,744 1,385  –  – 

4,414 3,717  –  – 

note 24:  InteRest BeaRInG LIaBILItIes  
(non CURRent)

Borrowings  – 9,269  –  – 

Gold loan (a) 579 2,520  –  – 

Lease liability (b), (note 34) 3,751 1,008  –  – 

4,330 12,797  –  – 
(a)  this balance is the non-current portion of the loan for the 

purchase of gold put options. Refer note 20(c) for further 
information.

(b)  this balance is the non-current portion of the item 
described in note 20(a).
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note 25: pRoVIsIons (non CURRent)

site restoration (i) 20,823 23,828  –  – 

Unearned income (ii)  –  –  –  – 

employee entitlements (note 40) 198 178  –  – 

21,021 24,006  –  – 

(i)  Site restoration

Balance at the beginning of the year 25,213 25,110  –  – 

Restoration borrowing cost unwound 411 430  –  – 

Change in scope of restoration provision (1,183) 1,080  –  – 

Utlised during the year (637) (1,109)  –  – 

foreign exchange (1,237) (298)  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year 22,567 25,213  –  – 

Reconciled as:

Current provision (note 23) 1,744 1,385  –  – 

non-current provision (above) 20,823 23,828  –  – 

total provision 22,567 25,213  –  – 

(ii)  Unearned income

Balance at the beginning of the year  – 11,174  –  – 

additional provision  –  –  –  – 

Utilised during the year  – (1,988)  –  – 

foreign exchange  –  –  –  – 

transferred to reserve  – (9,186)  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  –  –  –  – 

Nature and purpose of provisions

(a)  the nature of restoration activities includes dismantling 
and removing structures, rehabilitating mines, dismantling 
operating facilities, closure of plant and waste sites and 
restoration, reclamation and revegetation of affected 
areas. typically the obligation arises when the asset is 
installed at the production location. When the liability is 
initially recorded, the estimated cost is capitalised by 
increasing the carrying amount of the related mining 
assets. over time, the liability is increased for the change 
in present value based on the discount rates that reflect 
the current market assessments and the risks specific to 
the liability. additional disturbances or changes in 
rehabilitation costs will be recognised as additions or 
changes to the corresponding asset and rehabilitation 
liability when incurred.
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note 26:  fInanCIaL DeRIVatIVe LIaBILItIes  
(non CURRent)

Gold forwards 39,690 64,058  –  – 

39,690 64,058  –  – 

the non current hedging liabilities are fully secured. these 
financial derivatives are considered to be effective hedges per 
accounting criteria. Refer to note 45.

note 27: otHeR LIaBILItIes (non CURRent)
amount payable to controlled entities  –  – 83,323 35,389 

other  –  – 133 194 

 –  – 83,456 35,583 

note 28: ContRIBUteD eQUItY

(a) Contributed equity

ordinary share capital 

231,144,559 ordinary fully paid shares (2006: 229,034,059) 113,917 112,955 

effective 1 July 1998, the Corporations legislation abolished the 
concepts of authorised capital and par value shares.  
accordingly the Company does not have authorised capital nor 
par value in respect of its issued capital.

(b) Movements in contributed equity

Balance at the beginning of the year 112,955 112,483 

exercise of 60,500 unlisted options at 81 cents per share 49  – 

exercise of 50,000 unlisted options at $1.57 per share 76  – 

exercise of 2,000,000 unlisted options at 42 cents per share 837  – 

exercise of 9,750 listed options at 80 cents per share  – 6 

exercise of 476,000 unlisted options at 81 cents per share  – 383 

exercise of 55,000 unlisted options at $1.57 per share  – 83 

Balance at the end of the year 113,917 112,955 

(c)  Terms and conditions of contributed equity

ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in the proceeds 
from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. ordinary shares entitle their holder to 
one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.

(d)  Employee share options

Refer to note 40(b) for details of the employee share option plan. each option entitles the holder to purchase one share. the names of all 
persons who currently hold employee share options, granted at any time, are entered into the register kept by the Company, pursuant to 
section 215 of the Corporations act 2001. persons entitled to exercise these options have no right, by virtue of the options, to participate in any 
share issue by the parent entity or any other body corporate.
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ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

note 29: ReseRVes

foreign currency translation reserve (21,096) (4,778)  –  – 

share based payment reserve 627 366 627 366 

Hedge reserve – put options (717) (1,950)  –  – 

Hedge reserve – forwards 13,651 (22,505)  –  – 

Hedge reserve – unearned income  – 5,398  –  – 

Unrealised gain/(loss) reserve 5,599 11,668 127 237 

equity reserve  – 6,764  –  – 

(1,936) (5,037) 754 603 

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)  foreign currency translation reserve 
exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign 
controlled entities are taken to the foreign currency 
translation reserve, refer note 1(d)(ii).

(ii)  share based payment reserve 
the share based payments reserve is used to recognise 
the fair value of options granted over the vesting period of 
the option, refer note 1(w)(iv).

(iii)  Hedge reserves 
the hedging reserves are used to record gains or losses 
on an effective hedging instrument, refer note 1(m). 
Ineffective amounts are recognised in the Income 
statements.

(iv)  Hedge reserve – unearned income 
If a hedge instrument is terminated early or restructured, 
the gain or loss on termination or restructure is deferred 
and amortised in the period where the physical transaction 
originally hedged occurs.

(v)  Unrealised gain/(loss) reserve 
this reserve records fair value changes on available for 
sale investments, refer note 1(l)(iv).

(vi)  equity reserve 
the equity reserve records transactions between owners 
as owners.

note 30:  RetaIneD pRofIts/ 
(aCCUMULateD Losses)

(accumulated losses)/retained profits 
at the beginning of the year (26,695) 52,757 (3,359) (1,521)

adjustment on adoption of aasB 132 and aasB 139  – (2,020)  –  – 

adjustment on adoption of aasB 139 
amendment aasB 2005-9 (note 1(y))  –  –  – 141 

transfer of equity reserve to retained 
earnings on disposal of subsidiary 6,764  –  –  – 

net profit/(loss) attributable to members 170,170 (77,432) 158,587 (1,979)

Retained profits/(accumulated losses) 
at the end of the financial year 150,239 (26,695) 155,228 (3,359)
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ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

note 31: MInoRItY InteRests

analysis of minority interest in controlled entities:

 – share capital 912 2,139  –  – 

 – Reserves 1,183 (121)  –  – 

 – Retained profits 321 414  –  – 

2,416 2,432  –  – 

at 30 June 2006, minority interest was overstated by 
$6,763,710 and equity reserve was understated by the 
same amount. Comparative amounts in the consolidated 
balance sheet and consolidated statement of changes in 
equity have been restated accordingly. this is an equity 
classification only and has no income statement impact.

note 32: notes to tHe CasH fLoW stateMents

(a)   Reconciliation of net profit/(loss) from continuing 
operations after income tax to the net cash flows:

net profit/(loss) from ordinary activities after income tax 169,996 (77,560) 158,587 (1,979)

add/(deduct) non-cash items:

Write down of mineral exploration and development costs 968 221 144  – 

Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment 11,282 11,653  –  – 

amortisation of exploration, development and rehabiliation costs 3,511 3,983  –  – 

Rehabilitation provision discount adjustment 411 430  –  – 

share based payments 370 256 370 256 

Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment 19 (81)  –  – 

profit on sale of investments (180,093)  – (132,225) (1,000)

Unrealised foreign exchange loss 833  – 1,700  – 

Bad debts expense  – 85  –  – 

provision for employee entitlements 144 (80)  –  – 

Unearned income (5,204) (4,478)  –  – 

net write off of loans to/from controlled entities  –  – (31,187)  – 

other 4 (725) (214) (81)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Receivables (5,499) 2,229 (15) 2 

Inventories (1,932) (4,912)  –  – 

financial derivatives (8,004) 105,273  –  – 

prepayments 250 (501) 81  – 

Deferred expenditure 16,782 (10,252)  –  – 

payables 5,795 3,480 (63) 194 

provision for taxation 5,059 (93) (57)  – 

provisions (2,288) (600)  –  – 

Deferred tax balances 4,144 (23,040)  – (258)

net operating cash flows 16,548 5,288 (2,879) (2,866)

(b) Non cash investing activities:

the consolidated entity received shares in paladin Resources Limited as consideration for the disposal of Valhalla Uranium Limited (refer 
note 35).

(c)  Finance Leases

Refer to note 16(a) for additions to finance leases and note 20(a) for terms and conditions.
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note 33: expLoRatIon anD DeVeLopMent CoMMItMents

(a) Exploration commitments:

Due to the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations in exploring and evaluating areas of interest, it is very difficult to accurately forecast 
the nature or amount of future expenditure, although it will be necessary to incur expenditure in order to retain present interests in mineral 
tenements. expenditure commitments on mineral tenure for the parent entity and consolidated entity can be reduced by selective 
relinquishment of exploration tenure or by the renegotiation of expenditure commitments. the approximate level of exploration expenditure 
expected in the year ending 30 June 2008 for the consolidated entity and parent entity is $11.2m (2007: $15.3m) and $nil (2007: $nil) 
respectively. this includes the minimum amounts required to retain tenure.

(b) Syama gold mine redevelopment:

as at 30 June 2007 the Group had development expenditure commitments of Us$41.3m with respect to the syama gold mine redevelopment 
in Mali, africa. this amount includes a commitment of Us$9.8m for the completion of the power station, and is over and above the Us$32.5m 
of current year expenditure which is included in the amounts shown in note 15.

estimated total cost for the project as at 31 august 2007, including the Us$19.6m power station, is Us$140.9m.  this amount includes a 
forecasted overrun of Us$3.0m which relates to costs associated with the installation of a two stage scrubbing system.

the remaining syama redevelopment costs will be funded by a combination of debt and equity. the directors are currently evaluation the 
optimum mix and form of funding.

ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

note 34: Lease CoMMItMents

(a) Finance lease

Lease expenditure contracted and provided for:

Due within one year 1,919 375  –  – 

Due between one and five years 3,947 1,109  –  – 

total minimum lease payments 5,866 1,484  –  – 

Less finance charges (551) (195)  –  – 

present value of minimum lease payments 5,315 1,289  –  – 

Reconciled to:

Current liability (note 20) 1,564 281  –  – 

non current liability (note 24) 3,751 1,008  –  – 

5,315 1,289  –  – 

(b) Operating leases (non-cancellable)

Due within one year 202 193  –  – 

Due between one and five years 432 634  –  – 

aggregate lease expenditure contracted for 
at balance date but not provided for 634 827  –  – 

the operating lease relates to the rental of office premises and are fixed.
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note 35: DIsposaL of ContRoLLeD entItY

on 11 september 2006, the consolidated entity sold its 83.3% interest in Valhalla Uranium Limited (“Valhalla”).

the results of Valhalla for the period 1 July 2006 until the disposal date are presented below:

ConsoLIDateD

07
$’000

Revenue 67 

expenses (394)

Loss before income tax (327)

Income tax benefit  – 

Loss after income tax (327)

the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities until disposal were:

Cash 4,096 

Receivables 21 

exploration & evaluation 2,815 

total assets 6,932 

Creditors  – 

total Liabilities  – 

Minority interests (1,146)

net assets 5,786 

Consideration received:

shares in paladin Resources Limited 161,076 

total disposal consideration 161,076 

Carrying amount of net assets sold (5,786)

Gain on sale before income tax 155,290 

other costs incidental to the sale of Valhalla (876)

Income tax expense  – 

Gain on sale after income tax 154,414 

net cash outflow on disposal:

Cash consideration  – 

outflow of cash held by disposed subsidiary (4,096)

Reflected in cash flow statement (4,096)
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note 36: ReLateD paRtY tRansaCtIons

(a)  The following related party transactions occurred during the year:

(i)  transactions with related parties in the wholly owned group

the parent entity entered into the following transactions during the year with related parties:

Management fees of $900,000 (2006: $1,020,000) were paid to a wholly owned controlled entity by RML during the year. all transactions were 
on normal commercial terms and conditions.

purchase of 100% of the shares in Broken Hill Metals pty Ltd, stockbridge pty Ltd and paulsens Gold pty Ltd from Resolute pty Ltd (formerly 
Resolute Limited) by Resolute (treasury) pty Ltd for consideration of $1.

appropriate disclosures of amounts due to and receivable from related parties are contained in the notes to the financial statements.

07 06
$’000 $’000

(ii)  transactions with other related parties

Management fees and technical services paid to a wholly 
owned controlled entity by Resolute amansie Limited 90 120

Management fees and technical services paid to a wholly owned 
controlled entity by Valhalla Uranium Limited (up to date of disposal) 115 198

205 318

(iii)  Loans receivable from and payable to controlled entities

Refer to notes 6, 12 and 27 for details, terms and conditions of loans receivable from and payable to controlled entities.

During the year, the loan between Resolute pty Ltd and RML was written off.

(b)  RML is the ultimate Australian holding company and there is no controlling entity of RML at 30 June 2007.
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note 37: ContRoLLeD entItIes

the following were controlled entities as at 30 June 2007 and have been included in the consolidated accounts. all entities in the consolidated 
entity carry on business in their place of incorporation.

naMe of ContRoLLeD entItY  
anD CoUntRY of InCoRpoRatIon

ConsoLIDateD entItY CoMpanY  
HoLDInG tHe InVestMent

Book VaLUe of DIReCt 
InVestMent HeLD

peRCentaGe of  
sHaRes HeLD BY 

ConsoLIDateD entItY 

07 06 07 06
$'000 $'000 % %

abore Mining Company Limited, Ghana associated Gold fields pty Ltd  –  – 90 90 
associated Gold fields pty Ltd, aust. (g) Resolute pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 

kiwi International Resources pty Ltd
tuki nominees pty Ltd

Broken Hill Metals pty Ltd, aust. (a) (d) Resolute (treasury) pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
Carpentaria Gold pty Ltd, aust. Resolute Mining Limited 60,160 60,161 100 100 
equity In Industry pty Ltd, aust. (a) (c) Resolute pty Ltd  –  –  – 100 
excalibur pty Ltd, aust. (a) (c) Resolute pty Ltd  –  –  – 100 
Ghana Mining Investments pty Ltd, aust. (a) associated Gold fields pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
Goudhurst pty Ltd, aust. (a) stockbridge pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
kiwi Goldfields Limited, Ghana associated Gold fields pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 

kiwi International Resources pty Ltd
kiwi International Resources pty Ltd, aust. (a) associated Gold fields pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
Mabangu Mining Limited, tanzania Resolute (tanzania) Limited  –  – 100 100 
Mabangu exploration Limited, tanzania Resolute (tanzania) Limited  –  – 100 100 
Marapana Gold pty Ltd, aust. (a) Resolute pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
Mt Isa Uranium pty Ltd, aust. (a) (b) Valhalla Uranium Ltd  –  –  – 83 
n & J Mitchell prospecting pty Ltd, aust. (a) Resolute pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
northern territory Uranium pty Ltd, aust. (a) (b) Valhalla Uranium Ltd  –  –  – 83 
obenemase Gold Mines Ltd, Ghana Ghana Mining Investments pty Ltd  –  – 90 90 
paulsens Gold pty Ltd, aust. (a) (c) Resolute (treasury) pty Ltd  –  –  – 100 
Resolute (somisy) Limited, Jersey (a) Resolute Mining Limited  –  – 100 100 
Resolute (finkolo) Limited, Jersey (a) (i) Resolute Mining Limited  –  – 100  – 
Resolute amansie Limited, Ghana associated Gold fields pty Ltd  –  – 90 90 

kiwi International Resources pty Ltd
Resolute (Ghana) Limited, Ghana associated Gold fields pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
Resolute pty Ltd, aust. (f) Resolute Mining Limited 16,643 16,643 100 100 
Resolute Resources pty Ltd, aust. (a) (e) Resolute pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
Resolute (tZ Holdings) Limited, Jersey (a) (i) Resolute Mining Limited  –  – 100  – 
Resolute (tanzania) Limited, tanzania Resolute pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
Resolute (treasury) pty Ltd, aust. (a) (h) Resolute Mining Limited  –  – 100  – 
societe des Mines de syama s.a., Mali Resolute (somisy) Limited  –  – 80 80 
stockbridge pty Ltd, aust. (a) (d) Resolute (treasury) pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
stockbridge services Unit trust, aust. (a) stockbridge pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
tuki nominees pty Ltd, aust. (a) Resolute pty Ltd  –  – 100 100 
Valhalla Uranium Limited, aust. (b) Resolute Mining Limited  – 40,000  – 83 

76,803 116,804 

a) these entities are not required to be separately audited.  an audit of the entity’s results and position is performed for the purpose of 
inclusion in the consolidated entity’s accounts.

b) During the year, Resolute Mining Limited disposed of its 83% ownership of Valhalla Uranium Limited and its subsidiaries (refer note 35).
c) During the year, equity in Industry pty Ltd, paulsens Gold pty Ltd and excalibur pty Ltd were deregistered.
d) During the year, ownership of stockbridge pty Ltd and Broken Hill Metals pty Ltd was transferred from Resolute pty Ltd (formerly 

Resolute Limited) to Resolute (treasury) pty Ltd.
e) During the year, ownership of Resolute Resources pty Ltd transferred from Resolute pty Ltd, excalibur pty Ltd and stockbridge pty Ltd 

wholly to Resolute pty Ltd.
f) During the year, Resolute Limited changed its company type and name from a limited company to a proprietary limited company, 

becoming Resolute pty Ltd.
g) During the year, associated Gold fields nL changed its company type and name from a no liability company to a proprietary limited 

company, becoming associated Gold fields pty Ltd.
h) on 18 July 2006, Resolute (treasury) pty Ltd was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of Resolute Mining Limited.
i) on 22 august 2006, Resolute (finkolo) Limited and Resolute (tZ Holdings) Limited were both incorporated as wholly owned subsidiaries of 

Resolute Mining Limited.
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note 38: seGMent InfoRMatIon

a) Primary segments – geographical

the consolidated entity operates in four geographical segments.

07 tanZanIa GHana MaLI aUstRaLIa ConsoLIDateD

Geographical segments a$'000 a$'000 a$'000 a$'000 a$'000

Revenue
sales 99,126  –  – 86,171 185,297 

other revenue 177  – 11 6,663 6,851 

segment revenue 99,303  – 11 92,834 192,148 

Results
segment results from continuing operations 15,907 (1,142) 75 164,496 179,336 

Group profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense 179,336 

Income tax expense (9,340)

Group profit from ordinary activities after income tax expense 169,996 

Assets
segment assets 81,251 6,983 119,872 203,704 411,810 

Liabilities
segment liabilities 32,791 372 14,445 99,566 147,174 

Other Segment Information

Depreciation and amortisation 6,627 6  – 8,160 14,793 

acquisition of non-current assets 12,776 2,515 80,498 37,021 132,810 

Write off of mineral exploration and development expenditure (75) (729)  – (164) (968)

06
Geographical segments

Revenue
sales 91,624  –  – 102,769 194,393 

other revenue 159 126  – 2,887 3,172 

segment revenue 91,783 126  – 105,656 197,565 

Results
segment results 19,215 (1,058)  – (121,107) (102,950)

Group loss from ordinary activities before income tax benefit (102,950)

Income tax benefit 25,390 

Group loss from ordinary activities after income tax benefit (77,560)

Assets
segment assets 81,591 6,049 43,753 169,732 301,125 

Liabilities
segment liabilities 57,386 810 9,791 149,483 217,470 

Other Segment Information

Depreciation and amortisation 7,188 96  – 8,352 15,636 

acquisition of non-current assets 8,383 2,617 3,263 15,002 29,265 

Write off of mineral exploration and development expenditure (36) (188)  – 3 (221)

Gold is sold on the global market with proceeds being realised at point of sale.

the comparative information for 2006 has been adjusted to include the Unallocated segment within the australia segment.
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note 38: seGMent InfoRMatIon continued

(b) Secondary segment – business

the Group has one business segment being mining and exploration of gold.

MInInG anD expLoRatIon  
of GoLD

07 06
$ $

segment revenue 192,148 197,565 

segment assets 411,810 301,125 

acquisition of non-current assets 132,810 29,265 

note 39: aUDItoR  ReMUneRatIon

amounts received or due and receivable by ernst & Young australia, from entities in the consolidated entity or related entities:

ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$ $ $ $

auditing accounts 195,000 221,000 91,918 104,000

taxation planning advice and review 232,526 188,850 214,240 188,850

427,526 409,850 306,158 292,850

amounts received or due and receivable by a related 
overseas office of ernst & Young, from entities in 
the consolidated entity or related entities:

auditing accounts 14,651 13,000 – –

14,651 13,000 – –

442,177 422,850 306,158 292,850
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ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$ $ $ $

note 40: eMpLoYee BenefIts

a) Employee entitlements

the aggregate employee entitlement liability is comprised of:
provisions (current) (note 23) 2,601 2,162 – –

provisions (non current) (note 25) 198 178 – –

2,799 2,340 – –

b) Employee share option plan

an employee share option plan has been established where one of the directors, executives and members of staff of the consolidated entity 
are issued with options over the ordinary shares of RML. the options, issued for nil consideration, are issued in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the shareholder approved RML employee share option plan and performance guidelines established by the directors of 
RML.

the options do not provide any dividend or voting rights. the options are not quoted on the asx.

2,000,000 options were exercised by a director on 8 December 2006. these options had an exercise price of $0.42 per fully paid ordinary 
share. the options were issued in December 2001.

options outstanding at balance date are 787,500 options (options a) which are comprised of the opening balance of 848,000 less 60,500 
options exercised during the year. these options were issued on 20 september 2002 with an exercise price of $0.81 per fully paid ordinary 
share and expire on 19 september 2007. one third of the options were able to be exercised 6 months after issue, a further one third 18 
months after issue and the remaining one third 30 months after issue.

also outstanding at balance date are 475,000 options (options B) which are comprised of the opening balance of 525,000 less 50,000 options 
exercised during the year. these options were issued on 21 December 2004 with an exercise price of $1.57 and an expiry date of 21 December 
2009. one third of the options were able to be exercised 6 months after issue, a further one third 18 months after issue and the remaining one 
third 30 months after issue.

an additional 405,000 options (options C) were issued under the employee share option plan on 24 March 2006, with a strike price of $1.28 
and an expiry date of 23 March 2011. one third of the options were able to be exercised 6 months after issue, a further one third 18 months 
after issue and the remaining one third 30 months after issue. none of these options were exercised or lapsed during the financial year.

570,000 options (options D) were issued under the employee share option plan on 25 october 2006, with a strike price of $1.48 and an expiry 
date of 24 october 2011. one third of the options were able to be exercised 6 months after issue, a further one third 18 months after issue and 
the remaining one third 30 months after issue. none of these options were exercised or lapsed during the financial year.

employees will only be able to exercise the options allocated to them if they meet certain performance criteria. Details of the employee share 
option plan for both the parent and the consolidated entity are as follows:

07 06

nUMBeR of  
optIons

WeIGHteD 
aVeRaGe 

exeRCIse 
pRICe

nUMBeR of 
optIons

WeIGHteD 
aVeRaGe 

exeRCIse 
pRICe

$ $

Balance at the beginning of the year * 3,778,000 0.76 4,094,000 0.76 

 – granted 570,000 1.48 405,000 1.28 

 – exercised/lapsed (2,110,500) 0.46 (721,000) 1.03 

Balance at the end of the  year 2,237,500 1.23 3,778,000 0.76 

Vested and exercisable at the end of the year 1,587,500 1.16 3,373,000 0.70 

* Included within this balance are options over 787,500 shares (2006: 2,848,000 shares) that have not been recognised in accordance with 
aasB 2 as the options were granted on or before november 2002. these options have not been modified and therefore do not need to be 
accounted for in accordance with aasB 2.
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note 40: eMpLoYee BenefIts continued

the following table summarises information about options exercised by employees during the year:

nUMBeR of
optIons

GRant
Date

exeRCIse
Date

expIRY 
Date

WeIGHteD 
aVeRaGe

exeRCIse 
pRICe

pRoCeeDs 
fRoM

sHaRes 
IssUeD

nUMBeR of 
sHaRes
IssUeD

IssUe Date 
of tHe 

sHaRes

faIR VaLUe 
of 

sHaRes 
IssUeD

07
50,000 21 Dec 04 13 Jul 06 21 Dec 09 1.57 78,500 50,000 13 Jul 06 2.05 

40,500 20 sept 02 13 Jul 06 19 sept 07 0.81 32,805 40,500 13 Jul 06 2.05 

20,000 20 sept 02 25 oct 06 19 sept 07 0.81 16,200 20,000 25 oct 06 1.56 

2,000,000 11 Dec 01 8 Dec 06 10 Dec 06 0.42 840,000 2,000,000 8 Dec 06 1.63 

06
36,000 20 sept 02 4 oct 05 19 sept 07 0.81 29,160 36,000 4 oct 05 1.43 

50,000 13 aug 03 4 oct 05 13 aug 08 0.81 40,500 50,000 4 oct 05 1.43 

60,000 20 sept 02 8 nov 05 19 sept 07 0.81 48,600 60,000 8 nov 05 1.09 

10,000 20 sept 02 8 feb 06 19 sept 07 0.81 8,100 10,000 8 feb 06 1.32 

10,000 20 sept 02 21 apr 06 19 sept 07 0.81 8,100 10,000 21 apr 06 2.00 

35,000 21 Dec 04 21 apr 06 21 Dec 09 1.57 54,950 35,000 21 apr 06 2.00 

10,000 20 sept 02 11 May 06 19 sept 07 0.81 8,100 10,000 11 May 06 2.57 

20,000 21 Dec 04 11 May 06 21 Dec 09 1.57 31,400 20,000 11 May 06 2.57 

300,000 20 sept 02 29 Jun 06 19 sept 07 0.81 243,000 300,000 29 Jun 06 1.64 

fair value of the shares issued is estimated to be the market price of the shares of Resolute Mining Limited on the asx as at close of trading 
on their respective issue dates.

the following table lists the key variables used in the option valuation:

optIons a optIons B optIons C optIons D

number of options at year end 105,000 475,000 405,000 570,000

Dividend yield (%) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

expected volatility (%) 45% 50% 50% 50%

Risk free interest rate (%) 5.50% 5.50% 5.50% 5.50%

expected life of options (years) 5 5 5 5

option exercise price ($) 0.81 1.57 1.28 1.48

share price at grant date ($) 0.74 1.43 1.16 1.35

Value per option at grant date ($) 0.33 0.68 0.55 0.65

the expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. the expected 
volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual 
outcome. no other features of options granted were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

the fair value of the options is measured at the grant date using the Black scholes option pricing model taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the instruments were granted. the services received and a liability to pay for those services are recognised over the 
expected vesting period. 
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note 41: InteRests In JoInt VentURes

Jointly controlled assets

the consolidated entity has an interest in the following material joint ventures, whose principal activities are to explore for gold or uranium. 
the Group’s interests in the assets employed in the joint venture are included in the consolidated balance sheet, in accordance with the 
accounting policy as described in note 1(b).

peRCentaGe of InteRest HeLD

07 06
entItY HoLDInG InteRest JoInt VentURe % %

Mabangu Mining Limited Iamgold/nyakafuru JV 66% 66%

Mabangu Mining Limited sub-sahara/nyakafuru JV 51% 51%
elected to earn 
additional 19%

elected to earn 
additional 19%

Resolute pty Ltd (formerly Resolute Limited) etruscan – finkolo JV 60% 48%

Mt Isa Uranium pty Ltd summit/Isa Uranium JV 0% 50%

northern territory Uranium pty Ltd energy Metals/Bigrlyi Uranium JV 0% 42%

the interests in the joint ventures that are included in the accounts is as follows:

ConsoLIDateD

07 06
$’000 $’000

exploration and development expenditure 15,874 11,125
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note 42: ContInGent LIaBILItIes

(a) Native Title Claims

native title determination applications have been lodged with the national native title tribunal established under the native title act 1993 
over areas of interest currently leased by the consolidated entity. some of those claims have been accepted by the tribunal. acceptance of an 
application by the tribunal is merely a preliminary step in the procedure established by the native title act to determine whether or not 
native title exists. the final effect of these claims is not known and the claims are not currently affecting the mining and exploration projects 
of the consolidated entity.

(b) Randgold/Syama Royalty

pursuant to the terms of the syama sale and purchase agreement, Randgold Resources Limited will receive a royalty on syama production, 
where the gold price exceeds Us$350 per ounce, of Us$10 per ounce on the first million ounces of gold production attributable to RML and 
Us$5 per ounce on the next three million attributable ounces of gold production.

(c) Tanzanian Tax Assessment

In 2005, RtL received an income tax assessment from the tRa. the assessment is in relation to the period 1 July 1998 to 30 June 2004 and is 
for an amount of Us$32.4 million. the assessment follows a review of RtL’s affairs by a government appointed auditor. the review purports 
that RtL has not been able to substantiate the capital development costs and operating costs associated with the Golden pride gold mine. In 
formulating the assessment, the tRa has decided to arbitrarily deny RtL deductions for 60% of its capital expenditure and 40% of all 
operating expenditure between 1 July 1998 and 30 June 2004. It has also increased assessable sales revenue by 40% over the same period, 
and not recognised some of the carry forward losses for expenditures incurred prior to 30 June 1998.

the tRa assessment, in the Company’s opinion, contains fundamental and material errors, has no substance or foundation in fact, and its 
issue appears to be a serious breach of due process. the Company strongly disputes the validity of the assessment and believes that there is 
no amount of income tax owing by RtL to the tRa. RtL will vigorously defend its position. pursuant to the tanzanian taxation system, 
taxpayers have the ability to object against an assessment by lodging a deposit with the tax authorities equal to one third of the assessed 
amount. the deposit must be made within one month of receiving an assessment. an objection to the assessment and a waiver to the 
requirement to lodge a deposit has been lodged by RtL with the appropriate authority.

Considerable time has since lapsed, and no response has been received on RtL’s objection or waiver request, nor has any attempt been 
made to enforce the payment of the assessed tax.

the financial effect of the tRa assessment has not been recognised within the accounts.

(d) Summit Resources (Aust) Pty Ltd

Resolute Mining Limited (“Resolute”) entered into a Deed of Indemnity with paladin Resources Limited (“paladin”) to indemnify paladin and 
its related parties for any loss they suffer as a result of a material breach of the Isa Uranium Joint Venture agreement due to disclosure of 
information concerning the Joint Venture to persons not party to the Joint Venture.  Under this indemnity Resolute’s liability is capped at 
$75m.  the Isa Uranium Joint Venture is a joint venture between summit Resources (aust) pty Ltd (“summit”) and Mount Isa Uranium pty 
Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of Valhalla Uranium Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by paladin).  Valhalla Uranium Limited was 
previously a wholly owned subsidiary of Resolute.

summit had commenced proceedings (“proceedings”) in the supreme Court of Western australia against Resolute and Mount Isa Uranium 
pty Ltd in relation to disclosures made, allegedly in breach of the Isa Uranium Joint Venture agreement, in connection with the successful 
takeover of Valhalla Uranium Limited by paladin.

on 3 august 2007, summit, after having an independent committee obtain legal advice and review the commercial rationale for litigation, 
determined it to be in its best interests to discontinue the proceedings and as a result, a Deed of Release and settlement was executed by 
summit and the other parties to the proceedings.   

subsequently, areva nC (australia) pty Ltd (“areva”) (a wholly owned subsidiary of french company, areva nC) applied to the supreme Court 
of Western australia to intervene in the proceedings and act on behalf of summit (under section 237 of the Corporations act).

areva obtained an order for access to summit’s records in connection with the settlement of the proceedings and the proceedings so that it 
could assess its prospects of success in its application to terminate the Deed of Release and settlement and intervene on behalf of summit in 
the proceedings.  areva is now reviewing the information provided to it and will then consider whether and how to proceed. 

Resolute is confident that at all times the disclosure obligations under the Isa Uranium Joint Venture agreement have been complied with.

(e) Malian Expatriate Employees Claim

In august 2007, a claim was issued against societe Des Mines De syama (a subsidiary of Resolute Mining Limited and owner of the syama 
mine in Mali) for the alleged non payment by a contractor of expatriate employee social contributions for the period 1 July 2005 to 30 June 
2007 and is for an amount of Us$564k. an objection to the assessment has been lodged, no response has yet been received from the Malian 
authorities.
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note 43: ContInGent assets

Challenger/Dominion Royalty

Resolute will continue to receive a$20 per ounce for every ounce of gold production in relation to the Challenger project in the Gawler Craton 
region of south australia. as at 30 June 2007, the gold reserves at the Challenger project were 512,000 ounces of gold.

note 44: eaRnInGs peR sHaRe (eps)
ConsoLIDateD

07 06
Basic earnings per share

profit/(loss) used in calculation of basic eps ($'000) 170,170 (77,432)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period used in the calculation of basic eps 230,252,733 228,622,343 

Basic EPS (cents per share) 73.91 (33.87)

Diluted earnings per share

profit/(loss) used in calculation of dilutive eps ($'000) 170,170 (77,432)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period used in the calculation of basic eps 230,252,733 228,622,343 

Weighted average of notional shares used 
in determining diluted eps 1,107,301  – 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period used in the calculation of diluted eps 231,360,034 228,622,343 

number of potential ordinary shares that are not dilutive 
and hence not included in calculation of diluted eps 475,000  – 

Diluted EPS (cents per share) 73.55 (33.87)
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note 45: fInanCIaL InstRUMents

the Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including currency risk, and commodity price risk), credit risk, 
liquidity risk, and interest rate risk. the Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. the Group uses derivative financial instruments such 
as gold forward contracts, gold call options and gold put options to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by the Group’s financial Risk Management Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. 
the financial Risk Management Committee identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks as deemed appropriate. the Board provides 
guidance for overall risk management, including guidance on specific areas, such as mitigating commodity price, foreign exchange, interest 
rate and credit risks, by using derivative financial instruments.

(a) Use of derivative financial instruments

as part of the risk management policy of the Group and in compliance with the conditions required by project financiers, a variety of financial 
instruments are used to reduce exposure to unpredictable fluctuations in the project life revenue streams. the subjective assessment of the 
value of these financial instruments at any given point in time, will in times of volatile market conditions, show substantial variation over the 
short term. these financial instruments are entered into to manage the exposure to adverse movements in the gold price and the australian 
dollar (aUD)/United states dollar (UsD) exchange rates. the hedging facilities provided by the Group’s various hedging counterparties provide 
flexibility in the timing of the settlement of maturing positions and there are no margin calls attached to any of the hedging facilities. Details 
of the financial instruments used by the Group are provided at (b) below.

(b) Derivative instruments

as at 30 June 2007, the Group had entered into the gold hedging contracts shown below. Gold hedging denominated in UsD has been 
converted to an australian dollar equivalent using the year end UsD/aUD spot rate of Us$0.8491 (2006: Us$0.7423).

the parent entity had no gold forward sales contracts, gold put options bought or gold call options sold as at 30 June 2007 or 30 June 2006.

(i) Gold forward sales contracts and gold put options bought

07

foRWaRD saLes pUt optIons BoUGHt totaL 

oUnCes

saLes 
pRICe

$/oUnCe oUnCes

stRIke 
pRICe

$/oUnCe oUnCes $/oUnCe

aUD Denominated Contracts

Maturity within 1 year 129,333 696 160,000 645 289,333 668 

Between 1 and 2 years 84,333 697 55,000 673 139,333 688 

Between 2 and 3 years 88,334 699  –  – 88,334 699 

total 302,000 697 215,000 652 517,000 678 

UsD Denominated Contracts

Maturity within 1 year 78,853 498 105,000 443 183,853 467 

Between 1 and 2 years 99,750 540 30,000 446 129,750 518 

total 178,603 522 135,000 443 313,603 488 

total (converted to aUD) 

Maturity within 1 year 208,186 655 265,000 596 473,186 622 

Between 1 and 2 years 184,083 664 85,000 621 269,083 651 

Between 2 and 3 years 88,334 699  –  – 88,334 699 

total 480,603 667 350,000 602 830,603 639 

of the above amount, 625,404 ounces represent specific hedges of future gold production of the consolidated entity.

of the contracts that are not considered to be effective hedges of future gold production of the consolidated entity, the net mark to market 
position at 30 June 2007 is $13.5m deficit (2006: $34.7m deficit). this amount has been reflected in the Income statements and Balance 
sheets as at 30 June 2007. these contracts have the desired effect of reducing the risk associated with a decrease in the gold price, but do 
not satisfy the strict accounting criteria to be called an effective hedge.
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note 45: fInanCIaL InstRUMents continued

(b) Derivative instruments (continued)

06
foRWaRD saLes pUt optIons BoUGHt totaL 

oUnCes
saLes pRICe

$/oUnCe oUnCes
stRIke pRICe

$/oUnCe oUnCes $/oUnCe

aUD Denominated Contracts

Maturity within 1 year 125,500 661 135,000 607 260,500 633 

Between 1 and 2 years 89,333 699 160,000 645 249,333 664 

Between 2 and 3 years 69,333 699 55,000 673 124,333 688 

Between 3 and 4 years 88,334 699  –  – 88,334 699 

total 372,500 686 350,000 635 722,500 661 

UsD Denominated Contracts

Maturity within 1 year 79,512 375 15,000 425 94,512 383 

Between 1 and 2 years 53,000 483 105,000 443 158,000 456 

Between 2 and 3 years 44,750 536 30,000 446 74,750 500 

total 177,262 448 150,000 442 327,262 445 

total (converted to aUD) 

Maturity within 1 year 205,012 600 150,000 603 355,012 602 

Between 1 and 2 years 142,333 681 265,000 626 407,333 645 

Between 2 and 3 years 114,083 708 85,000 648 199,083 682 

Between 3 and 4 years 88,334 699  –  – 88,334 699 

total 549,762 659 500,000 623 1,049,762 642 

(ii) Gold call options sold

07
aUD CaLL optIons soLD UsD CaLL optIons soLD totaL CaLL optIons soLD

oUnCes stRIke pRICe oUnCes stRIke pRICe oUnCes stRIke pRICe

a$ Us$ a$

Maturity within one year  –  –  –  –  –  – 

06
Maturity within one year  –  – 85,000 522 85,000 703 

the above derivatives are not considered to be effective hedges per accounting criteria. the net mark to market position as at 30 June 2007 is 
$nil (2006: $12.3m deficit). this is reflected in the Income statements and Balance sheets.
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note 45: fInanCIaL InstRUMents continued

(c) Foreign exchange risk

the consolidated entity is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk through financial assets and liabilities. the following table 
summarises by currency, in australian dollars, the foreign exchange risk in respect of recognised financial assets and liabilities.

07
note

UnIteD states 
DoLLaRs

aUstRaLIan 
DoLLaRs otHeR totaL

a$'000 a$'000 a$'000 a$'000

Financial Assets
Cash (i) 5 18,029 4,043 45,589 67,661 

Receivables 6 10,842 3,001 2,515 16,358 

available for sale financial assets 8  – 13,480  – 13,480 

financial derivative assets 9,13  – 505  – 505 

28,871 21,029 48,104 98,004 

Financial Liabilities
payables 19 13,792 12,100 9,016 34,908 

Interest bearing liabilities 20,24  – 7,697  – 7,697 

financial derivative liabilities 22,26 14,505 57,887  – 72,392 

28,297 77,684 9,016 114,997 

06
Financial Assets
Cash 5 4,246 9,467 279 13,992 

Receivables 6 6,368 4,308 183 10,859 

available for sale financial assets (ii) 8  – 5,823 23,720 29,543 

financial derivative assets 9,13 1,526 3,815  – 5,341 

12,140 23,413 24,182 59,735

Financial Liabilities
payables 19 16,223 13,710 160 30,093 

Interest bearing liabilities 20,24 9,878 13,758  – 23,636 

financial derivative liabilities 22,26 58,080 77,825  – 135,905 

84,181 105,293 160 189,634 

(i)  other cash includes $28.8m (2006: $nil) held in euro and $14.5m (2006: $nil) held in Canadian dollars. 
(ii)  available for sale financial assets includes $nil (2006: $23.7m) held in Canadian dollars.
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note 45: fInanCIaL InstRUMents continued

(d) Interest rate exposure

the following table summarises interest rate risk for the consolidated entity, together with effective interest rates as at balance date.

07

fLoatInG 
InteRest 

Rate

fIxeD InteRest Rate MatURInG In non 
InteRest 
BeaRInG totaL

aVeRaGe InteRest Rate

note <1 YeaR
1 to 5 

YeaRs >5 YeaRs fLoatInG fIxeD

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial Assets
Cash 5 66,201 1,460  –  –  – 67,661 3.8% 6.3%

Receivables 6  –  –  –  – 16,358 16,358  –  – 

available for sale financial assets 8  –  –  –  – 13,480 13,480  –  – 

financial derivative assets 9,13  –  –  –  – 505 505  –  – 

66,201 1,460  –  – 30,343 98,004 

Financial Liabilities
payables 19  –  –  –  – 34,908 34,908  –  – 

Interest bearing liabilities 20,24  – 3,367 4,330  –  – 7,697  – 6.2%

financial derivative liabilities 22,26  – 32,702 39,690  –  – 72,392  – 7.5%

 – 36,069 44,020  – 34,908 114,997 

06
Financial Assets
Cash 5 7,234 6,758  –  –  – 13,992 4.7%  – 

Receivables 6  –  –  –  – 10,859 10,859  –  – 

available for sale financial assets 8  –  –  –  – 29,543 29,543  –  – 

financial derivative assets 9,13  –  –  –  – 5,341 5,341  –  – 

7,234 6,758  –  – 45,743 59,735 

Financial Liabilities
payables 19  –  –  –  – 30,093 30,093  –  – 

Interest bearing liabilities 20,24  – 22,628 1,008  –  – 23,636  – 6.2%

financial derivative liabilities 22,26  – 71,847 64,058  –  – 135,905  – 7.2%

 – 94,475 65,066  – 30,093 189,634 
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note 45: fInanCIaL InstRUMents continued

(e) Credit risk exposure

the Group’s maximum exposures to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset, other than derivatives, 
is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Balance sheets.

In relation to the derivative financial instruments, whether recognised or unrecognised, credit risk arises from the potential failure of 
counterparties to meet their obligations under the contract or arrangement. the Group’s maximum credit risk exposure in relation to these is 
as follows:

(i) purchased gold put options – which is limited to their fair value as at the reporting date, being $0.5m (2006: $5.3m); and,

(ii) lease rate swaps – which is limited to their fair value at the reporting date, being $nil (2006:  $0.05m).

the major geographic concentrations of credit risk arise from the location of the counterparties to the Group’s financial assets as shown in 
the following table:

ConsoLIDateD 

07 06
$'000 $'000

Location of credit risk
United kingdom 5,688 3,496 

Ghana 661 533 

tanzania 10,588 7,028 

australia 63,598 18,058 

Mali 3,989 1,077 

84,524 30,192 

Concentrations of credit risk on financial assets are indicated in the following table by percentage  
of the total balance receivable from counterparties in the specified categories:

ConsoLIDateD 

07 06
% %

Customer/industry classification
financial services 69 26 

Mining industry 28 66 

other 3 8 

100 100 

the credit risk does not take into account the value of any collateral or security.

(f) Liquidity risk

prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close-out market positions. Due to the dynamic of the underlying businesses, 
the Group’s financial Risk Management Committee aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

(g) Fair values

the fair value of all the Group’s financial instruments recognised in the financial statements approximates or equals their carrying amounts.

for details on how fair values are calculated for each class of financial instrument, refer to note 1.
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note 46:  keY ManaGeMent peRsonneL

the company has taken advantage of the relief provided by the Corporations Regulation 2M.6.04 and has transferred the detailed 
remuneration disclosures to the directors’ report.

(a) Key management personnel

(i) Directors

p. Huston  non-executive Chairman
p. sullivan  Director and Chief executive officer
t. ford  non-executive Director
H. price  non-executive Director

(ii) executives

M. turner  General Manager - operations
D. Cairns  General Manager - project Development
G. fitzgerald General Manager - finance & administration and Company secretary
M. Christie  General Manager - exploration

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
ConsoLIDateD ResoLUte MInInG LIMIteD

07 06 07 06
$ $ $ $

short-term employee benefits 1,997,747 1,839,139 200,715 204,872

post-employment benefits 221,325 192,423 54,285 45,128

share-based payments 26,092 29,376  –  – 

2,245,164 2,060,938 255,000 250,000

(c)  Details of options holdings of key management personnel are as follows:

2007 BaLanCe at tHe 
staRt of tHe 

YeaR

exeRCIseD 
DURInG tHe  

YeaR

GRanteD DURInG 
tHe YeaR as 

CoMpensatIon

BaLanCe at  
tHe enD of tHe 

YeaR

VesteD anD 
exeRCIsaBLe at tHe 

enD of tHe YeaR

faIR VaLUe  
of optIons at 

exeRCIse  
Date  

$

DIReCtoRs

p.Huston - - - - - -

p.sullivan (i) 2,000,000 (2,000,000) - - - 2,470,000

t.ford - - - - - -

H.price - - - - - -

offICeRs

M.turner - - - - - -

D.Cairns (iv) 300,000 - - 300,000 300,000 -

G.fitzgerald (ii) 270,000 (20,000) - 250,000 250,000 25,000

M.Christie (iii) 300,000 - - 300,000 300,000 -
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note 46:  keY ManaGeMent peRsonneL continued

2006 BaLanCe at tHe 
staRt of tHe 

YeaR

exeRCIseD 
DURInG tHe  

YeaR

GRanteD DURInG 
tHe YeaR as 

CoMpensatIon

BaLanCe at  
tHe enD of tHe 

YeaR

VesteD anD 
exeRCIsaBLe at tHe 

enD of tHe YeaR

faIR VaLUe  
of optIons at 
exeRCIse Date 

$

DIReCtoRs

p.Huston - - - - - -

p.sullivan 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 -

t.ford - - - - - -

H.price - - - - - -

offICeRs

M.turner (v) 300,000 (300,000) - - - 250,500

D.Cairns 300,000 - - 300,000 300,000 -

G.fitzgerald 270,000 - - 270,000 270,000 -

M.Christie 300,000 - - 300,000 200,000 -

(i) the options were granted on 11 December 2001.  the fair value of the options at grant date was $0.04 per option.  the total fair value of 
the options granted was $84,000.  the exercise price of the options was $0.42 per option.

(ii) the options were granted on 20 september 2002.  the fair value of the options at grant date was $0.11 per option.  the total fair value of 
the options granted was $29,700.  the exercise price of the options was $0.81 per option.  on 17 september 2007, a further 250,000 were 
exercised at a price of $0.81 per option.  these options were due to expire on 19 september 2007.

(iii) 100,000 options vested and became exercisable on 21 June 2007.  these options were granted on 21 December 2004 with one third of the 
options were able to be exercised 6 months after issue, a further one third 18 months after issue and the remaining one third 30 months 
after issue.  

(iv) on 9 august 2007, 300,000 options were exercised at a price of $0.81 per option.  these options were due to expire on 19 september 2007.
(v) the options were granted on 20 september 2002.  the fair value of the options at grant date was $0.11 per option.  the total fair value of 

the options granted was $33,000.  the exercise price of the options was $0.81 per option.
(vi) no key management personnel options were granted or lapsed during the year.

(d)  Details of share holdings of key management personnel are as follows:

2007 BaLanCe at tHe  
staRt of tHe YeaR

ReCeIVeD DURInG  
tHe YeaR on tHe 

exeRCIse of optIons

otHeR CHanGes  
DURInG tHe YeaR  

(i) 

BaLanCe at tHe  
enD of tHe YeaR

DIReCtoRs

p.Huston 301,066 - - 301,066

p.sullivan 822,000 2,000,000 (200,000) 2,622,000

t.ford 3,000 - - 3,000

H.price 10,000 - - 10,000

offICeRs

M.turner - - - -

D.Cairns 42,000 - - 42,000

G.fitzgerald - 20,000 (20,000) -

M.Christie 30,000 - - 30,000
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note 46:  keY ManaGeMent peRsonneL continued

2006 BaLanCe at tHe  
staRt of tHe YeaR

ReCeIVeD DURInG  
tHe YeaR on tHe 

exeRCIse of optIons

otHeR CHanGes  
DURInG tHe YeaR

BaLanCe at tHe  
enD of tHe YeaR

DIReCtoRs

p.Huston 1,066 - 300,000 301,066

p.sullivan 822,000 - - 822,000

t.ford 3,000 - - 3,000

H.price 10,000 - - 10,000

offICeRs

M.turner - 300,000 (300,000) -

D.Cairns 42,000 - - 42,000

G.fitzgerald - - - -

M.Christie - - 30,000 30,000

(i)   these shares were acquired or sold at the prevailing market price, no amounts remain unpaid as at 30 June 2007.

note 47: sUBseQUent eVents

(i)  In relation to the summit litigation (refer note 42(d)), on 3 august 2007, summit, after having an independent committee obtain legal 
advice and review the commercial rationale for litigation, determined it to be in its best interests to discontinue the proceedings and as a 
result, a Deed of Release and settlement was executed by summit Resources (australia) pty Ltd and the other parties to the 
proceedings.   

 subsequently, areva nC (australia) pty Ltd (“areva”) (a wholly owned subsidiary of french company, areva nC) applied to the supreme 
Court of Western australia to intervene in the proceedings and act on behalf of summit (under section 237 of the Corporations act).

 areva obtained an order for access to summit’s records in connection with the settlement of the proceedings and the proceedings so 
that it could assess its prospects of success in its application to terminate the Deed of Release and settlement and intervene on behalf 
of summit in the proceedings.  areva is now reviewing the information provided to it and will then consider whether and how to proceed. 

 RML is confident that at all times the disclosure obligations under the Isa Uranium Joint Venture agreement have been complied with.

(ii)   Resolute pty Ltd (“RpL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of RML, has entered into an agreement with avoca Resources Limited (“avoca”) to 
sell to them for $nil consideration a tenement located in the Higginsville region in Western australia and the benefit of the Chalice 
General purpose Lease. this tenement contains the tailings dams used by the Higginsville Gold project in the 1990’s. as part of the sale 
avoca will take responsibility for all RpL’s uncompleted rehabilitation obligations in the area. this includes replacement of all 
environmental performance bonds related to the Higginsville region, lodged with the Western australian Department of Industry and 
Resources. Upon completion and settlement of this transaction, the removal of this liability from RpL’s accounts will have approximately 
a a$2.5m positive impact on the Group’s profit in the 2007/08 financial year.
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In the opinion of the directors:

a)  the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations act 2001, including:

(i)  complying with accounting standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and

(ii)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2007 and of its performance 
as required by accounting standards, and as represented by the results of their performance for the financial year ended on that 
date;

b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and,

c)  the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages 36 to 41 of the directors’ report comply with accounting standard aasB 124 
Related party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

the directors have been given the declaration by the Chief executive officer and General Manager – finance and administration required by 
section 295a of the Corporations act 2001.

this declaration has been made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

P.R. Sullivan 
Director

perth, Western australia 
28 september 2007

Directors’ DecLArAtioN
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iNDepeNDeNt AUDit report
to members of Resolute Mining Limited

 
 
 
 
 

GAB:KT:RESOLUTE:106 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under  
Professional Standards Legislation. 

 
 
 
 
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Resolute Mining Limited 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Resolute Mining Limited (the company), 
which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2007, and the income statement, statement of 
changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of 
significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the 
consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from 
time to time during the financial year. 
 
The company has disclosed information as required by paragraphs Aus 25.4 to Aus 25.7.2 of 
Accounting Standard 124 Related Party Disclosures (“remuneration disclosures”), under the 
heading “Remuneration Report” on pages 9 to 15 of the directors’ report, as permitted by 
Corporations Regulation 2M.6.04. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001.  This responsibility includes 
establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 1(a), the directors also state that the financial report, 
comprising the consolidated financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. The directors are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures 
contained in the directors’ report. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  These Auditing Standards 
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement and that the remuneration disclosures comply with Accounting Standard 
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
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InDepenDent aUDIt RepoRt
to members of Resolute Mining Limited

 
 

GAB:KT:RESOLUTE:106 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under  
Professional Standards Legislation. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Independence 
In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.  We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence 
Declaration, a copy of which is included in the directors’ report.  In addition to our audit of the 
financial report and the remuneration disclosures, we were engaged to undertake the services 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  The provision of these services has not 
impaired our independence. 
 
Auditor’s Opinion 
In our opinion:  

1. the financial report of Resolute Mining Limited is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Resolute Mining Limited 
and the consolidated entity at 30 June 2007 and of their performance for the year 
ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

2. the consolidated financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1(a). 

3. the remuneration disclosures that are contained on pages 9 to 15 of the directors’ report 
comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. 

 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
Gavin A Buckingham 
Partner 
Perth 
28 September 2007 
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sUBstantIaL sHaReHoLDeRs at 21 septeMBeR 2007

naMe
nUMBeR of 

oRDInaRY sHaRes
% of IssUeD 

CapItaL

alliance Life Common fund Ltd 68,552,566 38.7%

Bond street Custodians Limited aCf officium special situations fund 15,222,541 6.7%

acorn Capital Limited 11,541,979 6.5%

Barclays Bank plc and Carello Investments Limited 16,721,230 7.2%

Commonwealth Bank of australia and subs. 12,837,788 5.6%

124,876,104 64.7%

DIstRIBUtIon of sHaReHoLDInGs as at 21 septeMBeR 2007

sIZe of HoLDInG
oRDInaRY 

sHaReHoLDeRs
% of IssUeD 

CapItaL

1 – 1,000 1,053 0.21%

1,001 – 5,000 1,826 2.11%

5,001 – 10,000 591 1.99%

10,001 – 100,000 596 7.11%

100,001 – and over 77 88.58%

total shareholders 4,143 100%

number of shareholders with less than a marketable parcel 378 

VotInG RIGHts

Under the Company's Constitution, all ordinary shares issued by the Company carry one vote per share without restriction. 

tWentY LaRGest sHaReHoLDeRs as at 21 septeMBeR 2007

naMe
nUMBeR of 

oRDInaRY sHaRes
% of IssUeD  

CapItaL

HsBC Custody nominees 51,105,549 22.03%

saC all ordinaries Index fund 31,267,412 13.48%

national nominees Limited 22,271,388 9.60%

fitel nominees Limited 15,948,574 6.88%

Bond street Custodians Limited 13,500,000 5.82%

avanteos Investments Limited (symetry Retire) 9,979,006 4.30%

equity trustees Limited 8,823,157 3.80%

pan australian nominees pty Limited 7,763,238 3.35%

anZ nominees Limited 7,228,131 3.12%

J p Morgan nominees australia Limited 5,682,308 2.45%

avanteos Investments Limited (symetry Delegates) 3,436,350 1.48%

RBC Dexia Investor services 3,249,564 1.40%

Custodial Capital Management pty Ltd 2,701,000 1.16%

Citicorp nominees pty Ltd 2,424,825 1.05%

Mr peter sullivan 2,000,000 0.86%

nefCo nominees pty Ltd 1,407,200 0.61%

Citicorp nominees pty Ltd (Cwlth Bank off sup) 1,272,917 0.55%

HsBC Custody nominees australia Limited 933,962 0.40%

Mr David Matthew Guy 882,500 0.38%

DMG Capital pty Ltd 850,000 0.37%

192,727,081 83.09%

total held by twenty largest shareholders as a percentage of this class 83.09%

shArehoLDer iNForMAtioN
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